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Letter of submission 

The Hon. Matthew John Kean 
Minister for Energy and Environment 
52 Martin Place 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Dear Minister 

I am pleased to submit to you the Annual Report of the Office of Environment and Heritage 
(OEH) for your presentation to the New South Wales Parliament. This report provides a 
summary of the agency's performance for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. In 
addition, the report contains the audited financial statements and appendices as required by 
legislation. 

The report was prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Annual Reports 
(Departments) Act 1985, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, regulations under those 
Acts and NSW Treasury Circular TC15-19. 

Yours sincerely 

Ortfx 
Jim Betts 
Secretary 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
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Message from the Secretary 
This report is the final annual report of the former New South Wales OEH. On 1 July 2019, 
machinery of government (MoG) changes came into effect which transferred most of the 
OEH functions to the new Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE). This 
report meets the statutory obligation to report the narrative and financial performance of the 
former agency and its operations from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. 

In writing this message, I would like to acknowledge and thank Anthony Lean, the former 
Chief Executive of OEH, and the broader OEH executive team for their leadership 
throughout 2018-19, and the staff team. Together, they enabled OEH to achieve significant 
outcomes for New South Wales' environment, heritage, society and economy, including: 

• Koala Strategy — working with communities and partners to successfully implement the 
first year of the NSW Koala Strategy, including 20 of the 24 strategy actions now 
complete or underway and protecting more than 6454 hectares of koala habitat 

• national parks estate — expanding the national parks estate by over 10,000 hectares to 
better protect the habitat of key NSW species, communities and ecosystems. 

• Saving our Species (SoS) — protecting our threatened plants and animals through the 
$100 million SoS program by delivering practical on-ground projects with over 150 
partners to conserve 398 threatened species, 33 ecological communities and as part of 
the SOS rewilding project introducing the previously extinct species Greater Bilby into 
the Pilliga State Conservation Area. 

• protecting culture and heritage — 27 new listings on the State Heritage Register and 
four Aboriginal places declared. 

• joint management — National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) continued to work 
with the Aboriginal community to jointly manage national parks through the negotiation 
of new joint management agreements, and the ongoing implementation of 32 existing 
agreements. 

• bushfire hazard reduction — treated 139,338 hectares for hazard reduction through 
mechanical works and prescribed burning 

• saving energy — helping households and business take control of their energy bills 
through incentives for upgrades to energy efficient appliances. 

• adapting to climate change — partnering with government agencies and local 
government to incorporate climate data and knowledge into decision making and build 
resilient cities through the planning system. 

• improving access to national parks — extending, upgrading and improving walking 
trails and other visitor facilities to improve access, enhance the visitor experience and 
boost tourism. 

• improving environmental data access — over 2500 open and accessible datasets to 
support conservation and environmental management has been made publicly available 
via an online data portal Sharing and Enabling Environmental Data (SEED). 

While this is the final annual report for OEH, the creation of the new department provides 
opportunity to bring together various portfolios across government into a single organisation, 
working together in pursuit of common objectives to better New South Wales' environment, 
society and economy. 

OviN. floc\ 
Jim Betts 
Secretary 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
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About OEH 

About this report 

This annual report contains both financial and non-financial information for the financial year 
2018-19 and is the final annual report of the former OEH. References to DPIE will be used 
throughout the report in relation to OEH activities, services and functions, looking forward.  

The Governor of NSW signed Administrative Arrangement Orders to create eight clusters 
from 1 July 2019, including a cluster containing a DPIE.   

Through these Administrative Arrangement Orders, the majority of OEH functions 
transitioned to DPIE, except for Heritage functions which transitioned to the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet. 

Purpose 

OEH was a separate agency within the former Planning and Environment cluster. OEH 
worked with the NSW community to care for and protect our environment and heritage. 

Charter 

OEH implemented a range of statutory responsibilities regarding the environment and 
heritage portfolio across New South Wales (Appendix 4). These responsibilities were 
grouped into four management portfolios: 

• Conservation 

• Culture 

• Communities 

• Connection. 

Organisation structure 

As at 30 June 2019, OEH consisted of seven functional areas, supported by corporate 
services. Corporate services were delivered through the Department of Planning and 
Environment (DPE) Cluster Corporate Services. 

 

Chief Executive

Park 
Operations 

Divsion

Park 
Programs 
Division

Communities 
and Greater 

Sydney 

Conservation 
and Regional 

Delivery

Heritage 
Division

Policy Divsion 
Science 
Division 

Strategy and 
Performance  

Division 

Executive 
Services 
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Park Operations Division 

NPWS Park Operations led the operational management of the NSW parks and reserves 
system, delivering a range of conservation and land management activities on park, 
including fire and incident management; pest and weed management; Aboriginal and historic 
heritage; threatened species; soils and water; infrastructure and asset maintenance; and 
visitor experience services. Park Operations developed and maintained partnerships and 
working relationships with park neighbours, local communities, local stakeholders including 
MPs, state and local authorities, and emergency response agencies, and jointly managed 
parks and reserves with Aboriginal owners and communities. 

Park Programs Division 

NPWS Park Programs led statewide strategy, priorities and standards for the management 
of natural and cultural heritage on park. The Division developed and maintained overarching 
frameworks for all park activities, including policy and strategy, monitoring and evaluation, 
stakeholder liaison, park data analysis and program integration including procurement, 
activation and appropriate utilisation of park assets. Specifically, these frameworks cover the 
negotiation and regulation of commercial activities on park; management of major 
campgrounds and accommodation; and marketing, events, education, experience 
development and volunteering. Park Programs also managed reserve acquisition, Aboriginal 
joint management and lead policy and planning for fire, incidents, pests, weeds and 
landscape management. 

Communities and Greater Sydney  

Communities and Greater Sydney brought together statewide functions which supported our 
communities to be thriving, sustainable and climate resilient. This Division sought to 
strengthen communities and partnerships across New South Wales enabling greater 
opportunities to embed sustainability into highly urbanised environments through programs 
and grants for energy efficiency, sustainability and climate change adaptation across 
government, business and residential/community sectors. 

This Division had a strong focus on liveability issues, embedding sustainability through 
engagement in the large-scale development underway in the Greater Sydney region; 
including protecting cultural heritage and urban biodiversity, and strategic biodiversity 
planning. It also worked across the state with local councils, state agencies and businesses 
to help embed sustainable and environmental outcomes. Support was provided beyond 
greater Sydney for the regional delivery of coast and flood protection, planning, sustainability 
and climate change adaptation. 

Conservation and Regional Delivery  

Conservation and Regional Delivery provided integrated and customer focused operational 
services at the regional and local level to strengthen conservation across New South Wales, 
delivering strategic environmentally sustainable outcomes and achieving the protection of 
native flora and fauna and Aboriginal cultural heritage. This Division had responsibility for 
delivering statewide conservation programs and included services, programs and grants for 
threatened species, environmental water management, planning, coast, estuary and 
floodplain management, community engagement, compliance and enforcement. This 
Division also provided technical expertise and support for private land conservation in 
collaboration with the NSW Biodiversity Conservation Trust (BCT) and Local Land Services 
(LLS).  
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Heritage Division 

Heritage provided an integrated approach to conserving Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal 
heritage and reviewed applications to list items on the State Heritage Register, declare 
Aboriginal Places and register state shipwrecks. It worked with the community to repatriate 
Aboriginal ancestral remains, administered grants for heritage conservation and provided 
secretariat services to the Heritage Council of New South Wales and the Aboriginal Cultural 
Heritage Advisory Committee.   

Policy Division 

Policy supported the Minister and the OEH Executive by providing policy advice and leading 
the development of strategic policy. This Division led OEH’s engagement in whole-of-
government policy and projects, Cabinet processes, legislative reforms and inter-
governmental affairs. 

Science Division 

Science undertook scientific research, investigation, monitoring, analysis, evaluation and 
reporting on a range of natural resource and environmental issues to support OEH, the 
Environment Protection Authority (EPA) and broader government, industry and the 
community.  Science delivered conservation and restoration research into environmental 
threats and risks to biodiversity, place-based science, environmental forensic investigations, 
emergency response to pollution incidents and marine ecosystem monitoring.  

Strategy and Performance Division 

Strategy and Performance provided strategic leadership in improving performance. These 
activities included: corporate planning, portfolio management, program delivery, monitoring 
and reporting; strategic corporate communications; customer experience, digital and 
innovation strategies; economic analysis and advice; and Ministerial services. The Division, 
through its Grants Branch, delivered funding for diverse environmental projects that support 
community groups, state and local government and industry and provided the grant 
administration function for the NSW Environmental Trust.  

Portfolio partners 

As well as its internal functional areas, OEH provided services and other support to its 
statutory body partners in the Environment and Heritage portfolio: 

• Biodiversity Conservation Trust  

• Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust  

• Environment Protection Authority  

• Heritage Council of NSW  

• Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust  

• NSW Environmental Trust  

• Parramatta Park Trust  

• Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust  

• Taronga Conservation Society Australia  

• Western Sydney Parklands Trust. 



OEH Annual Report 2018–19 

6 

Achievements in 2018–19 

Conservation  

Success looks like: Natural capital in New South Wales is rich and healthy, supporting our 
quality of life and standard of living. 

Saving our Species 

SoS is a statewide program that aims to secure threatened plants and animals in the wild in 
New South Wales. The $100 million SoS program is tackling species decline on a scale that 
has not been done before.  

In 2018–19, SoS launched its Conservation Co-Investment Scheme, a new $2.5 million co-
funding scheme partnering with conservation groups around New South Wales who will also 
contribute their own funding, expertise and volunteer base to deliver outcomes for 
threatened species and threatened ecological communities. 

SoS and the Environmental Trust awarded over $8 million to 28 projects to benefit 23 
landscape managed species and 30 threatened ecological communities (TEC). Another 70-
threatened species and 10 threatened ecological communities co-occurring with these 
species will also benefit from the grants. 

A SoS Prospectus was launched to explain how the program is designed and to promote 
strategic partnerships, offering tangible projects that can benefit from external investment 
and participation and include Digital Owl, an award-winning project with Fujitsu using 
technology to locate plants in inaccessible locations. 

On-ground achievements include:  

• successful reintroduction of 60 Greater Bilbies, presumed extinct in New South Wales, 
to the Pilliga State Conservation Area 

• doubling the size of the Punchbowl population of Wee Jasper Grevillea from 
translocation, weed control and increased seedling recruitment across four sites 

• a 10-fold increase in the Tarengo Leek Orchid population near Delegate to1172 plants 
inside fenced areas 

• increasing the extent of Milton-Ulladulla Subtropical Rainforest TEC by 10 hectares 
through restoration planting on three private properties in the Milton area 

• the release of 10 Bellingen River Snapping Turtle juveniles from the captive breeding 
population into the Bellinger River as part of a trial to replenish the wild population 

• stopping feral goats grazing on regenerating curly-bark wattle (Acacia curranii) by 
fencing the area at Monia Gap near Lake Cargelligo, increasing plant abundance by 
96% in three years including increases of 10% in plant numbers outside the fenced area 

• rehabilitation of 12.2 kilometres of streams and 50 hectares of riparian vegetation 
containing habitat for the endangered booroolong frog in the Sewells Creek Area 
through a collaborative project with Central Tablelands, South East Riverina and Murray 
Local Land Services, Taronga Zoo and Fisheries NSW. 

Protecting koalas 

Koalas in New South Wales are facing a range of threats and their numbers are in decline. 
The NSW Koala Strategy was developed to help protect important koala habitat and build up 
the resilience of koala populations to ensure the future of koalas in New South Wales. The 
strategy sets out 24 actions for the first three years of the NSW Government’s longer term 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/saving-our-species-prospectus
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/animals-and-plants/threatened-species/programs-legislation-and-framework/nsw-koala-strategy
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/animals-and-plants/threatened-species/programs-legislation-and-framework/nsw-koala-strategy
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vision to stabilise and increase koala populations across the state. The NSW Koala Strategy 
Annual Report 2018-19 outlines the progress in implmenting the strategy.  After a year of 
implementation, 20 out of 24 actions are now complete or in progress.  

Some major achievements during the first year of implementation include: 

• koala habitat conservation through – 

o the purchase of more than 2200 hectares of land containing priority koala habitat 

o 254 hectares of private land being covered by in-perpetuity conservation 
agreements with the Biodiversity Conservation Trust 

o the transfer of more than 4000 hectares of state forest to NPWS management 

• conservation through community action, including – 

o the delivery of 13 on-ground actions in partnership with the community to address 
local threats 

o establishment of three major partnerships under the Saving our Species Iconic 
Koala Project to deliver koala conservation in the Southern Highlands, Port 
Macquarie and Northern Rivers regions 

o the launch of the NSW Koala Country website 

• ensuring the safety and health of koala populations through – 

o installation of koala fencing along Picton Road, near Wollondilly 

o providing $185,000 to 17 koala rehabilitation providers across the state to buy new 
rescue equipment 

• building our knowledge through – 

o a 10-year research plan to coordinate research on koalas  

o an online community wildlife survey to ask people across New South Wales to 
share their knowledge of local wildlife. 

Additions to the NSW reserve system  

Each year the NSW Government acquires land for national parks to reflect and protect the 
wide variety of landscapes and environments in New South Wales. This land may be used to 
create a new park or add to an already established park. All land suggested for new or 
additional park land is assessed and approved before it is acquired and reserved under the 
National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.  

In 2018–19, approximately 10,747 hectares of land were reserved in the national parks 
system. Of this figure, 4051 hectares were former NSW State Forests land transferred to the 
national parks system for its koala habitat values as part of the NSW Koala Strategy.  

NSW Marine Estate Management Strategy 

The NSW Marine Estate Management Strategy 2018–2028 was released on 16 August 2018 
and was a joint initiative between Department of Primary Industries (DPI), former DPE, 
Transport for NSW and OEH. The Strategy provides direction for the marine estate to be 
managed as a single system. OEH contributed $7 million to implement actions to improve 
water quality and reduce impacts on threatened and protected marine species including: 

• piloting and creating tools to help local government implement the Risk-based 
Framework for Considering Waterway Health Outcomes in Strategic Land-use Planning 
Decision.  

• monitoring water quality at multiple sites across 63 estuaries within the NSW marine 
estate  

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/nsw-koala-strategy-2018-19-annual-report
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/nsw-koala-strategy-2018-19-annual-report
https://koala.nsw.gov.au/
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• training 45 veterinarians, 200 NSW agency staff and community volunteers in skills to 
respond to marine wildlife incidents and help sick, stranded or entangled marine wildlife.  

Water for the environment 

Rivers, creeks and wetlands play a vital role in sustaining healthy communities and 
economies. Water that is allocated and managed specifically to improve the health of rivers, 
wetlands and floodplains is known as water for the environment. Over 620,000 megalitres of 
water for the environment was delivered in collaboration with the Commonwealth 
Environmental Water Holder. OEH worked with communities to identify priority watering 
sites. Flows released maintained and increased river and wetland resilience through 
continuing drought by supporting healthy populations of waterbirds, native fish, and other 
fauna such as the endangered southern bell frog. OEH managed water strategically to 
support refuge habitat and give our unique Australian wildlife the chance to bounce back 
when rain returns. 

Achievements include: 

• releasing approximately 115,000 megalitres into the Gwydir wetlands and water courses 
resulting in flow to the Barwon River and reconnecting over 1,000 kilometres of river 
system  

• releasing approximately 155,000 megalitres to Murray and Lower Darling rivers and 
creeks, including Tuppal and Thule creeks to support the recovery of the endangered 
southern bell frog 

• investment in infrastructure to enhance environmental outcomes and deliver social and 
economic benefits. 

Kangaroo management 

Kangaroo management aims to ensure kangaroo populations are harvested in a humane 
way and populations remain ecologically sustainable. The size and density of kangaroo 
populations are monitored across New South Wales. New population survey methods were 
developed in collaboration with DPI and have increased the precision and accuracy of 
kangaroo population estimates across New South Wales. 

Following consultation across the commercial kangaroo industry, the restriction on animal 
dealer licences was lifted in 2018. This resulted in the number of issued licenses increasing 
from 10 to 21. Increased business opportunities and competition may benefit the commercial 
kangaroo harvesting industry in New South Wales, which could also benefit landholders and 
management of total grazing pressure during drought.  

A new online platform for services and transactions related to wildlife licencing, the Wildlife 
Management System, is now available for online lodgement of applications for commercial 
kangaroo licences and harvesting tags. Customers can now apply for, renew and manage 
wildlife licences online. 

Land management and biodiversity conservation  

Biodiversity Conservation Advisory Panel established 

In August 2018, Cabinet appointed six members to the Biodiversity Conservation Advisory 
Panel established under the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016. The function of the Panel is 
to provide the Minister with independent, expert advice on any requested matter relating to 
the management of biodiversity conservation and on any proposed declaration of an area of 
outstanding biodiversity value. 
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Areas of Outstanding Biodiversity Value  

OEH worked closely with the Biodiversity Conservation Advisory Panel and Threatened 
Species Scientific Committee to develop their roles in the assessment and recommendation 
of proposed Areas of Outstanding Biodiversity Value. A pilot has commenced to further 
inform the development of guidelines and processes for interpreting the scientific criteria, 
and the process design for nominating and declaring such sites.  

Implementation of biodiversity offsets scheme 

The Biodiversity Offset Scheme (BOS) commenced for all local development in New South 
Wales except for Western Sydney where the scheme is expected to commence in 2019–20. 
The scheme uses market mechanisms to avoid, mitigate and offset biodiversity impacts. To 
help inform the offsets market, public registers have been launched to make finding, buying 
and selling biodiversity credits easier. There are now 190 agreements between the BCT and 
landholders to secure credits under the scheme. 

Over 90 people were accredited to conduct assessments using the methodology which 
underpins the offsets scheme, bringing the total number of accredited assessors to 320. 

OEH worked closely with the Commonwealth on accreditation of the scheme in New South 
Wales. Accreditation will be secured through amendments to an agreement between the 
New South Wales and Commonwealth governments, known as the Assessment Bilateral 
Agreement. Proposed amendments to this agreement were exhibited by the Commonwealth 
in early 2019. Discussions between the New South Wales and Commonwealth governments 
are ongoing. 

Completion of the Biobanking Program 

The Biobanking Program was a voluntary biodiversity offset scheme resulting in 190 
Biobanking agreements covering 22,224 hectares, with the largest agreement area being 
over 1800 hectares. In 2018–19, a record of 92 agreements were approved. Almost 11,000 
hectares of land secured under biobanking agreements provide ongoing protection and 
management of habitat for endangered and critically endangered species and communities, 
including 1430 hectares of critically endangered Cumberland Plain Woodland.  

The Biobanking Program has now been replaced by the Biodiversity Offsets Scheme under 
the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016. Existing biobanking agreements remain in place and 
are managed under the Act as Biodiversity Stewardship Agreements. The BCT have taken 

on the ongoing management of Biobanking agreements. The biodiversity credits from these 
agreements contribute to providing offsets for a range of developments including mining, 
solar, wind farms, major highway upgrades and residential development. 

Aboriginal Land Biodiversity Stewardship Pilot 

Most Local Aboriginal Land Councils (LALCs) across New South Wales own areas of high 
conservation value land but do not possess the financial capacity to manage these lands to 
maintain their biodiversity. In the south east of New South Wales, OEH trialled an approach 
with Mogo LALC to establish Biodiversity Stewardship Agreements on their lands. OEH and 
LALC staff conducted biodiversity assessments identifying vegetation likely to be in high 
demand on the offset market on two properties.  

Mogo LALC are now able to establish stewardship agreements on the land and the sell the 
credits at a value that will provide the LALC with resources to actively manage these lands 
for conservation.  

https://www.bct.nsw.gov.au/i-have-an-existing-agreement
https://www.bct.nsw.gov.au/i-have-an-existing-agreement
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Knowledge to support conservation and land management  

Measuring the state of biodiversity in New South Wales  

An accurate assessment of the status of biodiversity across New South Wales requires an 
understanding of how well current biodiversity management and conservation measures are 
working. In May 2019,  OEH released the Measuring biodiversity and ecological integrity in 
NSW: Method for the Biodiversity Indicator Program, which establishes a suite of indicators 
to measure biodiversity and ecological integrity, pressures on biodiversity and the 
effectiveness of our interventions. 

The first assessment of the status of NSW biodiversity and ecological integrity will be 
available in the NSW Biodiversity Outlook Report. 

Woody vegetation data reporting for 2015–2018 

Woody vegetation data reporting was completed for 2015–16, 2016–17 and 2017–18 and 
published online. The data covers removal of woody vegetation due to clearing for 
agriculture, forestry and infrastructure activities. The reporting identifies changes in the rates 
of woody vegetation clearing across New South Wales since 1988 and can be used to 
identify ecological communities under pressure from land clearing and changing agricultural 
practices as well as priority areas for conservation. 

NSW landuse 2017 dataset published 

The 2017 landuse dataset captures how the landscape in New South Wales is being used 
for food production, forestry, nature conservation, infrastructure and urban development. It 
can be used to monitor changes in the landscape and identify impacts on biodiversity values 
and individual ecosystems. The mapping can be used in combination with other datasets 
such as the 2013 landuse dataset or the woody vegetation data to identify where change in 
land management may be impacting on native vegetation communities. Understanding NSW 
landuse can assist in identifying patterns of land management pressure on biodiversity and 
support future land planning to deliver conservation outcomes. 

The 2017 landuse layer is publicly available via SEED. It does not include the Sydney 
metropolitan area which is planned for completion by the end of 2019. 

Landholder reviews of the Native Vegetation Regulatory and Biodiversity Values maps 

The transitional Native Vegetation Regulatory (NVR) Map was published in August 2017 and 
guides the application of the land management codes and allowable activities. Transitional 
arrangements are in place until the comprehensive NVR Map with all the land categories is 
published.  

Landholders who consider that the transitional NVR map incorrectly categorises their land 
can apply for a review of the transitional NVR map categories for their land. OEH completed 
93% of landholder-initiated map reviews within the statutory timeframe, resulting in a net 
change of 9871 hectares of land categorisation.  

The Biodiversity Values (BV) Map identifies land with high biodiversity value that is 
particularly sensitive to impacts from development and clearing. The map forms part of 
the Biodiversity Offset Scheme Threshold which is one of the triggers for determining 
whether the scheme applies to a clearing or development proposal. There have been 43 
landholder-initiated map reviews of the BV Map, resulting in a net change of 83.5 hectares of 
biodiversity value. These reviews were, on average, determined within 28 days. 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/measuring-biodiversity-and-ecological-integrity-in-nsw-method-summary
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/measuring-biodiversity-and-ecological-integrity-in-nsw-method-summary
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/animals-and-plants/native-vegetation/reports-and-resources/reports
https://www.seed.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.seed.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/biodiversity/entryrequirements.htm
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Culture 

Aboriginal Joint Management  

NPWS continued the development of joint management of parks with the Aboriginal 
community through the negotiation of new joint management agreements and the ongoing 
implementation of 32 existing agreements. Achievements include: 

• determination by the Federal Court of the Byron Bay Bundjalung people’s native title 
rights in April 2019 and the creation of NPWS’s fourth Indigenous Land Use Agreement 
(ILUA) with the Byron Bay Bundjalung people for joint management of parks 

• registration and implementation of the Western Bundjalung ILUA 

• finalisation of the Serpentine Nature Reserve Memorandum of Understanding 

• renewal of five joint management agreements with the communities of Narrabri, Moree, 
Gunnedah, Pilliga, Walgett, Lightning Ridge and Bourke 

• renewal of the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Border Rangers Contractors 
Pty Ltd Indigenous Ranger Program.  

• development of relationships and implementation of MOUs with the Indigenous 
communities associated with the Northern and Southern Kosciuszko Aboriginal Working 
Groups 

• continued negotiations to transfer the Ta-Ru and Werai lands to Aboriginal ownership 
under the National Parks Estate (Riverina Red Gums) Act 2010 

• targeted survey of significant areas and cultural sites and implementation of pre-hazard 
reduction burning protection works at sensitive sites as part of the Gundungurra ILUA 

• engagement of Bandjalang people and Githabul people to undertake contract work 
within parks covered by their respective native title determinations  

• culture camping at Saltwater National Park 

• governance training for the Worimi Board of Management 

• holding of the annual Joint Management Custodians meeting with representation from 
22 boards and committees hosted by Gaagal Wanggaan (South Beach) National Park 
Board of Management. 

Repatriation of Aboriginal ancestors and objects 

OEH managed the repatriation of Aboriginal ancestral remains and collections of cultural 
material to Aboriginal communities. In 2018–19, a total of 30 repatriations were completed. 
The repatriation of Aboriginal ancestors is counted by the number of individual ancestors 
that are in the collection, while collections of Aboriginal objects are counted as a single 
repatriation. 

Repatriations of Lake Mungo Aboriginal Ancestral remains 

Australia is a signatory to the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples (2007), which together with the UNESCO Policy on Engaging with Indigenous 
Peoples (2018), helps guide the work of NPWS working with Aboriginal communities. During 
the year, NPWS continued to work with and support the work of the Willandra Lakes Region 
World Heritage Aboriginal Advisory Group (AAG), supporting the AAG to reach a significant 
decision to rebury, according to customary tradition, all of the repatriated Ancestral remains, 
returned from the Australian National University in 2017. The collection includes Mungo 
Woman, Mungo Man and over 100 other equally significant Ancestral remains. 
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New heritage listings  

Twenty-seven new items were listed on the State Heritage Register under the Heritage Act 
1977, including: East Warrah Woolshed, Liverpool Plains Shire,; Eskbank House and 
Movable Collections, Lithgow; White Hart Inn Archaeological site; Lindlegreen Barn, 
O’Connell; The Church of the Holy Innocents, Churchyards and Cemetery; Wentworth & 
Reform Gold Mines, Lucknow; St John’s Anglican Church Camden Precinct Camden; Cook 
Park, Orange; The University of Sydney, University Colleges and Victoria Park, 
Camperdown; Redfern Park and Oval; Chinese Garden of Friendship; Corduroy Road Ruin; 
Central Park, Armidale; Cape Byron Lightstation (and Moveable Heritage Collection); 
Sugarloaf Point Lightstation (and Moveable Heritage Collection); St Stephen's Presbyterian 
Church and Manse; Prince Alfred Bridge - Iron Road Bridge, Gundagai; Yanco Agricultural 
High School, Yanco; Archaeological Site and Associated Artefacts, Macquarie St, 
Parramatta; The Maltings; and Newcastle Recreation Reserve. 

Aboriginal Places  

Four new Aboriginal Places were declared under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974:  

• Gollion Axe Quarry, Yass Valley 

• Warre Warren McPherson State Forest, Central Coast  

• Koorawatha Falls (Guuruwulha), Koorawatha 

• Browns Hill Fringe Camp, Greater Taree. 

Heritage Near Me  

Heritage Near Me is an innovative program that empowers NSW communities to protect, 
share and celebrate their local heritage. In October 2018, a Heritage Near Me Roadshow 
was held across Western Sydney to celebrate the diversity of intangible cultural heritage in 
the region. The festival called ‘West Fest’ ran for two weeks and partnered with multiple local 
councils, community organisations, local businesses and Western Sydney University. Events 
included food tours of cultural hubs, traditional dance exhibitions, a poetry slam, fire side 
storytelling sessions and a forum discussing the future of heritage. 

The Heritage Near Me incentives program provides funding opportunities and support 
directly to owners and managers of local heritage items. During 2018–19: 

• $2.57 million was awarded to 32 successful applicants for the second round of the 
Heritage Activation grants  

• $1.48 million was awarded to 24 projects through Heritage Green Energy grants, 
representing a collective annual energy saving of 1850 MWh 

• $4.34 million was awarded to applicants and their communities across New South 
Wales through the Local Heritage Strategic Projects program.  

NSW Heritage Grants program  

The NSW Heritage Grants Program is an ongoing program governed by the Heritage Act 
1977. The program is one of the government's key strategies to ensure that heritage in New 
South Wales is valued, protected and enjoyed. During 2018–19, $5,835,000 was awarded to 
243 successful applicants.  
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Aboriginal cultural heritage conservation  

To protect and conserve Aboriginal cultural heritage across New South Wales, 26 Aboriginal 
cultural heritage conservation projects were completed.  

Consultation on the draft Aboriginal cultural heritage reforms 

OEH consulted on the Aboriginal cultural heritage reforms including targeted consultation on 
a revised draft Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Bill with key Aboriginal, mining, farming and 
developer stakeholders in January and February 2019. 

Communities 

Improved development assessment times  

OEH provided expert advice on planning matters during the 2018-19 financial year. This 
included over 913 items of advice for state significant development/state significant 
infrastructure, over 572 for Part 4 development, over 116 for Part 5 development and 217 for 
planning proposals and strategic planning. 

OEH provided 88% of advice on state significant development/state significant infrastructure 
within the benchmark timeframes that have been set in response to the Premier’s 
commitment to reduce assessment timeframes for these projects. 

Bushfire management program  

Hazard Reduction  

The Enhanced Bushfire Management Program has had dramatic success in increasing the 
area treated for bushfire hazard reduction since the inception of the program. In 2018–19, 
NPWS treated 139,338 hectares, being 1836 hectares of mechanical works and 137,502 
hectares of prescribed burning. This represents 103% of the NPWS annual target of 135,000 
hectares, which is calculated on a rolling five-year average to take account of variability from 
season to season.  

Wildfires 

In 2018–19, there were 357 wildfires on park estate, affecting an area of 80,143 hectares. 
NPWS has also assisted with 75 off-park fires.  

Over the last five years, NPWS contained around 85% of wildfires that started on park within 
the park boundaries. The dry conditions presented some significant fire challenges, including 
the suppression of a wildfire at Yankees Gap, near Bemboka on the NSW south coast. The 
Yankees Gap fire affected approximately 20,000 hectares on-park requiring a six-week 
campaign and drawing on statewide NPWS resources. 

Climate change adaptation 

Building resilient communities through the planning system 

OEH’s Place Based Delivery Program in Greater Sydney participated in the NSW 
Government’s Place Infrastructure Compact pilot to inform long-term infrastructure planning 
for the Greater Parramatta and Olympic Peninsula (GPOP). We brokered the use of the XDI 
cross-dependency tool enabling infrastructure agencies to model and plan for climate risk.  

https://xdi.systems/
https://xdi.systems/
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As a result, infrastructure planning in GPOP and other areas will now include climate risk 
assessments and strategies for green infrastructure to ensure that multi-benefits for 
communities and the environment, such as climate resilience, are realised.  

In May 2019, XDI Sydney was internationally recognised for its unique partnership approach 
in taking action on climate change. XDI was awarded the 2019 international ‘Better Together 
Award’ for Collaborative Solutions to Local Climate Action, sponsored by the German 
Federal Government.  

XDI Sydney is a collaboration project between OEH, Climate Risk Pty Ltd, Sydney Water, 
City of Sydney, Transport for NSW, Northern Beaches Council and NBN Co.  Office of 
Emergency Management and Infrastructure NSW are also involved as observer agencies on 
the Steering Committee. Winning this Award demonstrates NSW’s role in world leading 
innovation in developing tools to assess and manage climate risks to critical infrastructure. 

Enabling Regional Adaptation in the Shoalhaven, Illawarra and North Coast 

Enabling Regional Adaptation (ERA) projects were carried out in the Shoalhaven, Illawarra 
and North Coast state planning regions. The ERA method delivers a series of workshops 
with local decision makers to build on local knowledge to understand climate vulnerabilities 
and identify opportunities to respond. Over 240 workshop participants were engaged to 
develop transition models for key regional systems considered most in need of 
transformation to adapt to climate change. Reports can be found on the AdaptNSW website. 
The ERAs have identified key adaptation projects that could be implemented in various 
sectors to reduce the impacts of climate change in each of the regions. These projects span 
the energy, transport, biodiversity, emergency management and infrastructure sectors. 

Increasing Resilience to Climate Change local government grants 

Round One of the $3.5m NSW Government’s Increasing Resilience to Climate Change 
grants scheme awarded $1,011,300 in grants to ten projects across Bega Valley, Blacktown, 
Central Coast, Lake Macquarie, Tweed, Western Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils 
(WSROC), Namoi Joint Organisation, Northern Beaches, Ku-ring-gai, and Wingecarribee 
Councils.  Projects are addressing risks from coastal inundation, reducing impacts of urban 
heat, using recycled water to maintain gravel roads during drought, and engaging 
communities in better design and planning to build their resilience to climate change. 

Improving sustainability across NSW  

Home and community energy savings initiatives  

Home Energy Action aims to help low-income and disadvantaged households across the 
state save energy and money as well as reduce emissions. It does this by improving access 
to the benefits of energy efficiency by upgrading social housing and supporting the purchase 
of targeted appliances. Achievements in 2018–19 include: 

• energy efficiency upgrades for more than 850 social housing properties under 
agreements with social housing partners. The upgraded households are saving more 
than 2100 megawatt hours of electricity and $540,000 collectively off energy bills per 
year 

• delivery of more than 18,600 energy efficient fridges and televisions to more than 
16,800 households, with over 50% living in regional NSW  

• completion of the first solar PV installation upgrade project with a Local Aboriginal Land 
Council (LALC), namely Tweed Byron LALC. The 15 properties will save 74 MWh/yr and 
over $12,000 off energy bills a year.  

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/news/international-award-for-nsw-climate-preparations
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/news/international-award-for-nsw-climate-preparations
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/news/international-award-for-nsw-climate-preparations
https://climatechange.environment.nsw.gov.au/
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Business resource efficiency 

Sustainability Advantage is the New South Wales Government’s flagship sustainability 
program for medium to large organisations. The program has continued to support 
sustainability leadership within 150 active project partners (paid members), not-for-profit 
organisations and local government to help them embed sustainability best practices. By 
sharing achievements, the program inspired action through the value chain to deliver 
resource savings to members of $130 million each year. 

In 2018–19, Sustainability Advantage gained 27 new partner members, many through 
referrals, taking the program to 150 active project partners of which nearly 40% are in 
regional New South Wales. In June 2019, the Minister for Energy and Environment attended 
the Gala Recognition Event at the Sydney Opera House, celebrating the sustainability 
progress and achievements of 24 members who were recognised as Bronze, Silver and 
Gold partners of the program. 

Business energy saving initiatives 

The Manufacturing Efficiency Funding program will provide $16 million in grants to help 250 
manufacturing businesses in New South Wales save energy and money by implementing 
energy efficiency and monitoring projects. The first funding round opened in February 2019 
and manufacturers could apply for up to $120,000 matched funding to install or upgrade 
energy metering and monitoring systems, improve manufacturing processes and replace or 
retrofit old, inefficient equipment with new energy efficient equipment. 

Funding opportunities were directly communicated to over 200 people across 11 regional 
briefings including sessions held in Bathurst, Byron Bay, Dubbo, Newcastle, Queanbeyan 
and Wagga Wagga. Nearly 160 people have viewed the recorded briefing session. At 30 
June 2019, eight funding contracts worth $263,729 had been signed with manufacturing 
businesses to implement energy monitoring and efficiency projects. Two of these businesses 
are in regional locations.  

The Energy Management Services program provided training, skills and tools to assist 
businesses across NSW better manage their energy use, save money, and reduce 
emissions. The program partnered with experts, industry groups and other government 
agencies to develop and deliver content which meets the needs of companies including 
small businesses and energy-intensive industries. Achievements include: 

• free online energy management training to over 3,400 participants 

• face-to-face and online energy management workshops to over 400 participants 

• tailored coaching and support to 23 organisations, over 80% located in regional New 
South Wales 

• development and pilot of an energy management benchmarking tool for energy 
intensive sectors. Ten out of the 11 manufacturing businesses participating in the pilot 
signed up to co-invest for energy management improvement projects. 

NSW Energy Savings Scheme 

The statutory Energy Savings Scheme (ESS) has supported projects that will deliver about 
28,000 gigawatt hours of energy savings and has locked in $6 billion in savings for NSW 
households and businesses between 2009 and 2028. 

Following the release of the tender for the discount lighting offer under the Household and 
Small Business Upgrade Program, the number of companies accredited to provide upgrades 
to homes under the ESS doubled (and more are still awaiting final accreditation). This should 
result in a lasting increase in the number of homes receiving upgrades, beyond the life of the 
current lighting offer, and is an example of one of our programs catalysing lasting 
development of the energy efficiency services market. 
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Supporting local government to improve sustainability 

The Sustainable Councils and Communities program is a four-year initiative to provide 
focused and fast-tracked support tailored for eligible resource constrained local government 
areas. OEH worked with identified councils to audit council facilities, access and analyse 
energy data, develop business cases for energy efficiency upgrades or retrofits and assist 
councils to identify supplementary sources of funding. The program supported capacity 
building of council staff to identify and implement future energy and resource efficiency 
projects and access funding sources such as the Clean Energy Finance Corporation. 

The program was launched in October 2018 and council engagement was rapid and uptake 
significantly quicker than anticipated due to the tailored and solution-focused partnership 
approach. The program supported 18 resource constrained local government areas, 16 from 
regional New South Wales and two from Western Sydney. The program has delivered over 
20 tailored solutions across 11 participating councils, ranging from general advisory services 
and community capacity building to developing energy efficiency action plans for councils to 
transition to renewable sources of energy. 

The More Efficient Street Lighting program, announced in August 2018, supports electricity 
distributors and councils to accelerate the replacement of inefficient public lighting with 
energy efficient LEDs. The program’s target is to replace 60,000 inefficient street lights with 
LEDs by 2022 resulting in $22 million in energy savings by 2035 for local governments 
across New South Wales.  

OEH undertook significant consultation with customers, including electricity distributors and 
councils, to ensure optimal program delivery and to maximise funding and energy efficiency 
impacts for councils. The first expression of interest was formally communicated in March 
2019 to councils in the Endeavour Energy network. A commitment of 30,000 lights was 
received across 10 councils including Blacktown, Wollongong and Hawksbury, with 
upgrades scheduled to begin from August 2019. These commitments represent 50% of the 
program’s target, far surpassing the expected uptake of the program during its launch phase. 

Government Resource Efficiency Policy 

The Government Resource Efficiency Policy (GREP) aims to reduce the NSW Government’s 
operating costs and lead by example in increasing the efficiency of its resource use. OEH 
worked closely with NSW government agencies to improve sustainability practices, 
implement energy reduction projects and move towards net-zero emissions in their 
operations. These activities help build an agencies’ internal capacity to make informed 
decisions to meet and exceed their GREP targets.  

The GREP has 13 measures that set targets, standards and reporting requirements across 
energy, water, waste and clean air. These measures were reviewed, updated and published 
in February 2019. Improvements to the GREP included simplified and strengthened building 
energy efficiency requirements and a new requirement for agencies to install rooftop solar to 
contribute to the government’s solar target of 25,000 MWh per year by 2021 and 55,000 
MWh per year by 2024. To support this, the team established a solar analytics service for 
agencies, providing detailed assessments of solar opportunities at priority NSW Government 
sites. The update also includes stronger energy and water efficiency requirements for 
appliances. 

Resource efficiency in NSW Government operations continues to improve annually. This 
year, the team developed interactive dashboards to enable agencies to prioritise 
sustainability initiatives by better utilising GREP resource efficiency data to support their 
planning and decision-making. 
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National Australian Built Environment Rating System  

The National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS) is a national rating 
system that measures the performance of Australian buildings, tenancies and homes. OEH 
was the National Administrator of the NABERS program. This means all the staff and 
operations were housed by OEH and funding for this program was provided from state and 
federal governments. 

NABERS had a record year, conducting more than 3250 energy, water, waste and indoor 
environment quality certifications in buildings. The program reached close to 100 apartment 
building ratings in the first year of this sector’s NABERS eligibility. The new NABERS Waste 
platform achieved first year success with Australia’s first 6-star NABERS Waste rating being 
achieved in Victoria. 

The NABERS Strategic Plan 2019–2023 was released in April 2019. The plan’s overarching 
vision and mission for the program reflects NABERS’ ambition to scale up its role driving 
sustainable change across the Australian economy. The Plan includes two ambitious 
measurable goals for the program:  

• expand NABERS to all sectors of the built environment 

• double the number of participating program stakeholders by 2023. 

NABERS moved its Assessor Accreditation processes online making it easier for assessors 
across Australia to access training. NABERS also introduced a new, entry-level training 
course called NABERS Essentials for building owners, facility managers and the public to 
learn more about NABERS without having to be assessors. 

NABERS introduced in the National Construction Code (NCC) 2019 including NABERS 
Commitment Agreements to prove energy efficiency for new buildings in the NCC. This 
represents Australia becoming one of the first countries in the world to introduce a method 
that breaches the gap between ‘green’ design on paper and real energy efficiency in 
operation. 

NABERS was adopted in the United Kingdom through a ground-breaking partnership with 
the UK’s Better Building Partnership to adapt NABERS and its Commitment Agreement 
framework for the region. The project is expected to create major opportunities for sharing 
between the building sustainability industries of both countries, as well as international 
business opportunities for Australian companies.  

NABERS released its first Sustainable Portfolios Report, publicly disclosing the NABERS 
performance of Australia’s leaders in building sustainability. The report included portfolio 
ratings for 13 individual companies representing 27 investment funds, covering a total of 319 
offices and shopping centres. The purpose of the report was to make it free and easy for the 
public to see the sustainability performance of Australia’s biggest property portfolios. 

Understanding climate change  

Human health and social impacts research 

Established in 2017, the Human Health and Social Impacts Node of the NSW Adaptation 
Research Hub extended the work of the Hub through dedicated research into the human 
health and social impacts of climate change in New South Wales. This node is hosted by the 
University of Sydney’s Planetary Health Initiative and was delivered through OEH’s 
partnership with NSW Health. Research focuses on the relationship between climate change 
and health, with research themes addressing urban design, the built environment and 
physical and mental health. Research has: 

  

https://www.nabers.gov.au/portfolio
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• addressed health impacts from exposure to heat in vulnerable housing stock 

• determined impacts on mental health from natural hazards (i.e. floods) 

• addressed surveillance methods for detecting disease vector mosquitoes 

• addressed climate change impacts on aeroallergens 

• delivered a conceptual framework to guide policy relevant research on the health 
impacts of climate change.  

Further work will improve understanding of the impacts of climate change on food supply 
chains in New South Wales. In April 2019, a stakeholder workshop was held to review health 
research priorities and to continue to strengthen the delivery of health services in the face of 
a climate change.  

Enhancement of NSW regional climate projections 

Up to date climate data and information helps local government, businesses and the 
community manage risks of future extreme events and hazards by building their 
understanding of climate change impacts. The NSW Government is a leader in the science 
of understanding how our climate is changing and has invested in new science and research 
to understand and respond to the impacts of climate change in New South Wales.  

The NSW and ACT Regional Climate Modelling (NARCliM) Project is a research partnership 
between the NSW and ACT governments and the Climate Change Research Centre at the 
University of NSW.  NARCliM has produced robust regional climate projections for south-
eastern Australia that can be used by the community to plan for the range of likely future 
changes in climate. NARCliM projections have been used to inform major strategic planning 
initiatives such as the NSW State Infrastructure Strategy, Future Transport 2056, Sydney 
Region Plan, NSW State Level Emergency Risk Assessment, and regional water strategies 
by the Department of Industry. 

While NARCliM captured changes in climate on a local scale for a present, near and far 
future, it did not capture long-term changes in climate extremes and hazards. Key 
stakeholders have provided feedback on and requested changes in the scale, duration, 
scenario type, and the generation of global models used in NARCliM. OEH worked with the 
research partners to update the NSW regional climate projections. 

The first iteration is NARCliM1.5, a 150-year continuous set of projections on the same grid 
as the original NARCliM using two different future scenarios. NARCliM1.5 will be better able 
to be combined with additional datasets (e.g. air pollution and population trends), will be 
available to capture extremes over the 21st century and will provide a timeseries of the 
evolution of the climate over New South Wales. 

The second iteration, NARCliM2.0, aims to address the limitations of the projections 
delivered to date and to meet the changing needs of end-users. NARCliM2.0 will provide 
datasets at finer resolutions (1 –2 kilometres), incorporate ocean and wave influences on the 
coastline and incorporate the influence of urbanisation on climate. 

Urban green cover and heat vulnerability  

Partnering with Clean Air and Urban Landscapes (CAUL) Hub, OEH delivered a baseline 
dataset to assess urban heat and green cover in the Sydney Greater Metropolitan Area for 
future program monitoring and evaluation of green cover programs. With information on 
urban heat and green cover in their area, planners and policy makers can assess 
opportunities to adapt urban areas to create more liveable cities. 

The urban heat and green cover datasets were made available on the SEED environmental 
data portal in April 2019 and have since become one of the most viewed datasets on the 
portal.  

https://www.seed.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.seed.nsw.gov.au/
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Understanding climate change impacts in the NSW alpine region  

Collaborating with research partners, OEH completed significant research into the likely 
impacts of climate change in the alpine region of New South Wales. The most up-to-date 
climate information available from NARCliM was used to investigate the impacts of climate 
change on the NSW/ACT alpine region and downstream areas, including impacts on fire 
weather and danger, water availability, snowmaking conditions, biodiversity, agriculture and 
soil erosion. The research will inform evidence-based decision making and be used to 
develop and implement effective climate change adaptation plans in the region, including the 
NSW Government’s ‘Go Jindabyne’ Masterplan and the Southeast and Tablelands Regional 
Plan 2036. 

Green Globe Awards 

From the boardroom to the bush, the Green Globe Awards recognise organisations, people 
and projects making real progress towards a more sustainable future in New South Wales. 
The growing reach of the awards is demonstrated through 40% of nominations originating 
from regional New South Wales and emerging areas such as ethical fashion and Indigenous 
businesses featuring for the first time. The 16 winners in 2018–19 were announced on 4 
October 2018 at the Art Gallery of NSW.  

Coastal management  

The government has established a new coastal management framework to manage the 
coast in an ecologically sustainable way, for the social, cultural and economic well-being of 
the people of New South Wales. 

The framework comprises a new Coastal Management Act 2016, State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Coastal Management) 2018, NSW Coastal Management Manual, Coastal 
Management Programs, NSW Coastal Council and the Coastal and Estuary Grants 
Program. 

Ongoing technical support and guidance was provided to assist local councils to prepare 
Coastal Management Plans and implement the new framework. A total of 21 open coast and 
22 estuarine Coastal Zone Management Plans were completed under the former coast 
management framework and over 30 Coastal Management Plans have been initiated since 
the new framework commenced. 

Funding and support to manage coastal hazards and floods  

The Coastal and Estuary Grants Program provided technical and financial support to local 
government to help manage the coastal zone. Funding of $10,035,175 was awarded to 44 
projects along the NSW coast, including funding for Northern Beaches Council to undertake 
coastal protection works at Collaroy-Narrabeen Beach to resolve a longstanding, legacy 
coastal erosion issue at this hot-spot location. 

Local government was provided with technical support and $10,316,523 in grant funding 
through the NSW Floodplain Management Program. OEH participated in the interagency 
Program Delivery Group that is overseeing the implementation of the Hawkesbury-Nepean 
Valley Flood Risk Management Strategy. 

NSW Flood Data Portal 

OEH worked in partnership with the NSW State Emergency Service on the NSW Flood Data 
Access Program to improve accessibility to the best available and most up to date flood 
information. The NSW Flood Data Portal was a new initiative that bought together, for the 
first time, information from projects funded under the NSW Floodplain Management Program 
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and made it readily accessible. The portal enables data owners, such as a local council, to 
share their flood information across government and with industry stakeholders such as 
insurers, infrastructure providers and the community.  Access to this information will help 
improve understanding of flooding and enable councils and the community to make informed 
decisions about managing flood risk. 

Air quality  

To understand current air quality, its impacts and ensure the community had access to high-
quality information on air quality in New South Wales, OEH:    

• maintained 85 air quality monitoring stations, delivering air quality information to the 
community in real time with 97% data capture. New monitoring stations were 
established at: Rouse Hill, Orange, Milsons Point 

• issued daily air quality forecasts for Sydney, assisting people to plan for periods where 
air pollution was poor 

• implemented Hazard Reduction Burn Communications Protocol across NSW agencies 
to better coordinate, manage and mitigate air pollution impacts 

• completed research on Air Quality and Public Health Benefits of Implementing Energy 
Efficiency and Clean Energy Measures in NSW which measures benefits to air quality of 
clean energy programs 

• transitioned the DustWatch network into a rural air quality monitoring network that 
provides air quality data in real time to communities across inland rural New South 
Wales. 

Water quality research and monitoring  

Two coastal water quality projects were undertaken during the year, one addressing litter 
and the second estuary health.  

The Return and Earn Container Deposit Scheme began rolling out in December 2017. To 
enable detection of any changes in the marine environment because of the scheme, OEH 
partnered with EPA and Southern Cross University to undertake baseline monitoring of 14 
estuaries and nine remote beaches to gain an understanding of marine debris in New South 
Wales. The results of the initial monitoring showed large volumes and a wide range of types 
of litter present across the monitoring sites. Further data collection across these sites will 
enable assessment of the benefits of the scheme. 

A monitoring network was established to assess the health of 63 estuaries and eight estuary 
catchments under the NSW Marine Estate Strategy. Monitoring occurred at multiple sites 
and at multiple times during the year.  

Connection  

Park visitor facilities  

Improved infrastructure  

NPWS continued to develop and showcase exceptional nature-based visitor experiences 
and deliver major-capital works to improve visitor access, increase participation and grow 
the visitor economy through new and enhanced infrastructure, particularly in regional New 
South Wales. Infrastructure programs that commenced include: 

• Middle Head and Georges Head walking track in Sydney Harbour National Park 

• Royal Coast Track in Royal National Park 
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• Snowies Iconic Walk and the Thredbo Valley Trail Extension in Kosciuszko National 
Park 

• Murramarang ‘five villages’ south coast walk, with some works in Murramarang National 
Park 

• Light to Light Walk in Ben Boyd National Park 

• Tomaree Coastal Walk in Tomaree National Park 

• Tweed Byron Hinterland Trails, including works in Wollumbin, Mount Jerusalem and 
Nightcap National Parks and Whian Whian State Conservation Area. 

The second year of the Short Stay Visitor Accommodation program provided new and 
refurbished accommodation within national parks across New South Wales, including 
completed adaptive reuse accommodation properties at Numbananga Lodge, Steele Point 
Cottage, Gardeners Cottage, The Pines and The Stables. Refurbishment of Creel Lodge 
was completed, including new bathrooms, and new furniture, and The Post Office at Hill End 
was fitted with new furnishings.   

Park planning 

Draft precinct plans were prepared for four of the islands within Sydney Harbour National 
Park: Fort Denison, Shark Island, Clark Island and Rodd Island. The draft plans propose 
ways to make the islands more accessible for public enjoyment and identify future works and 
priorities for visitor facilities to accommodate a range of current and proposed uses.  

The Fort Denison Conservation Management Plan was endorsed by the Heritage Council in 
early 2019. In partnership with the NSW Public Works Advisory Minister’s Stonework 
Program (MSP), NPWS is undertaking stonework and refurbishment works on the island.  

We approved a new master plan for the Kurnell section of Kamay Botany Bay National Park 
in 2019. Commonwealth funding of $22 million matched by state funding of $25 million was 
announced for Stage 1 of the master plan to deliver the Meeting Place component of the 
plan. An additional $3 million was provided by the Commonwealth Government for 
commemorative works.  

Cape Byron State Conservation Area Master Plan was adopted to provide high quality 
facilities to meet visitor demand, address access and transport and protect the natural and 
cultural values into the future at this high-profile visitor location in Byron Bay with 1.5 million 
visitors annually. 

The Worimi Conservation Lands successfully opened its new beach camping area, with an 
online visitor orientation and booking system. The camping area is the result of an adaptive 
management approach in which 4WDing and other stakeholder representatives participated 
in all stages of the design and trialling of the area and system prior to opening. 

Managing traffic at Kosciuszko National Park 

A Kosciuszko National Park (KNP) Integrated Access Strategy is being developed with 
Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) to enable efficient transport and access systems to the 
alpine resorts. The strategy will also look at possible snow play areas within KNP and 
enhancement of the Sawpit Creek precinct with more parking and transport access. To 
inform development of the strategy, traffic monitoring cameras were activated at four 
locations. The cameras will provide NPWS and RMS with real time information of traffic 
flows, enabling better monitoring of visitation and understanding of congestion during peak 
periods.  
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Volunteering in parks 

NPWS continued to support the community’s connection to our environment and heritage by 
engaging with and supporting the volunteering sector. An extensive review of the wildlife 
rehabilitation sector with the aim of building capacity within the sector and leveraging new 
funding opportunities was undertaken. The review recognised the high value service this 
sector provided and found that sector provides 5600 volunteer responses to over 100,000 
animal incidents and emergencies each year and takes up to 200,000 phone calls from the 
community.  

NPWS provided ongoing support for park management volunteer programs, many of which 
partnered with a range of NGOs to deliver volunteer activities including Conservation 
Volunteers Australia, Landcare, Intrepid Landcare, Clean Up Australia Day, the Foundation 
for National Parks and Wildlife, WIRES, ORCCA, Kosciuszko Huts Association, 4WD 
Association of NSW and others. During National Volunteer Week 2019, NPWS thanked its 
3000 volunteers and hosted hundreds of NSW volunteers on tours on park. 

NPWS has developed a cloud-based interactive volunteer management tool, the Volunteer 
Information Portal, to improve communications and serve as a volunteer recruitment site. 
Over 3000 volunteers have been migrated from various databases and systems to the new 
portal.  

Connecting with parks online 

Public engagement with national parks continues to increase across a range of online 
channels including: 

• the NSW National Parks mobile app, which gives visitors access to park information and 
GPS-enabled maps when they are exploring a park and have no mobile reception. By 
the end of June 2019, the app had been downloaded more than 130,000 times 

• NSW National Parks Facebook, with growth of 20% to 183,216 followers, with average 
monthly page reach of over 3 million and more than 1.4 million video views over the 
year 

• Instagram with growth of 95% to 74,395 followers, with average monthly reach of 
496,000 

• the Wild About Whales app, which was downloaded over 20,000 times during the 2018 
whale season, with 7750 whale sightings logged 

• the NPWS website and blog, which had a combined total of more than 28 million 
pageviews from more than five million users. 

Aboriginal cultural experiences 

NPWS increased the opportunities for park visitors to experience Aboriginal culture through 
development of Aboriginal cultural experiences targeted at international visitors through the 
‘Export Ready Program’, where selected Aboriginal tour operators received advice, expertise 
and support to become ‘export ready’ and to enhance the appeal of their product to the 
international market.  

A series of short films showcasing four Parks Eco Pass licensed Aboriginal tour operators. 
were produced to increase public awareness of the Aboriginal cultural values of parks and to 
showcase New South Wales as a destination for people to experience authentic, immersive 
Aboriginal cultural experiences. The films provide a valuable marketing resource for both the 
operators and for NPWS. 
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Citizen science  

Citizen science is scientific work undertaken by members of the public, often in collaboration 
with or under the direction of professional scientists and scientific institutions. Citizen science 
projects are part of a growing global movement to engage the community in scientific 
research. Collaborative and engaging projects gathered robust data to support more 
informed decisions about how we manage our environment. 

In partnership with SoS, the citizen science team launched an event during Science Week 
which attracted a total of 87 attendees and showcased 16 citizen science projects. 

Example citizen projects included: 

• back to 'bungles bird count in October 2018 in Warrumbungle National Park to assist in 
species recovery following a bushfire 

• monitoring wombats in the Bents Basin State Conservation Area. 

• counting migrating whales 

• hunting for hawkweed in Kosciuszko National Park. 

Western Sydney Citizen Science Forum 

Over 40 people attended the Western Sydney Citizen Science Forum to learn more about 
best practice citizen science. Representatives from Greater Sydney Local Land Services, 
Australian Museum, University of Western Sydney, Macquarie University, Total Environment 
Centre, Sustainable Schools and Streamwatch participated. The forum identified current and 
potential citizen science projects and participants accessed resources, shared information 
and experiences and networked. The forum was delivered as a partnership between OEH, 
Western Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils and Blacktown City Council Western 
Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils and Blacktown City Council. 

Beachwatch 

The Beachwatch program monitored and reported recreational water quality at swimming 
sites in the Sydney region and regional swimming sites along the NSW coast. Water 
samples were collected and tested for bacteria and signs of faecal pollution and to see 
whether it was safe for swimming. Beachwatch provided daily beach pollution forecasts for 
160 swimming sites in the Hunter, Central Coast, Sydney and Illawarra regions, helping the 
community make informed decisions about where and when to swim.  

OEH published the State of the Beaches 2017–18 report which provided the community with 
a long-term assessment of swimming suitability across 241 sites in New South Wales.   

People 

Zero in Parks  

NPWS continues to implement a range of safety projects as part of the Zero in Parks safety 
initiative with an increased focus on managing risk. NPWS recorded over 5000 safety 
interactions where managers and supervisors engaged with staff about safety. Visitor safety 
risk registers were established in the corporate WHS system providing increased visibility of 
visitor risks. Work continues developing new safety procedures in the areas of heavy-plant 
management and asbestos management along with the delivery of the Zero in Parks safe-
driver program. NPWS has established the first phase of the peer support program, an 
internal program designed to improve mental health. 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/beaches/monitoring-beach-water-quality
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/beaches/is-it-safe-to-swim
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/state-of-the-beaches-2017-2018
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Light fire fleet renewal project 

NPWS commenced a four-year project to enhance NPWS’ fire-fighting capability through the 
upgrade of its Category 9 light fire fleet. These vehicles are an essential tool for fire crews, 
enabling them to access fires in some of the most rugged and remote areas of the state. In 
2018–19, 81 of 280 Category 9 light fire vehicles where upgraded, with 59 more planned to 
be upgraded in 2019–20. The upgrades build on the success of NPWS’ current Category 9 
light fire fleet vehicle design, with additional safety and performance improvements that 
ensure compliance with contemporary engineering and safety standards. 

Supporting Aboriginal communities to engage in threatened species 

management  

Local Indigenous communities of the NSW coast between Arrawarra and Evans Head share 
an ancient cultural relationship with an endangered population of coastal emu that was once 
abundant in the area. Working to support Aboriginal involvement in threatened species 
management, we held a cultural exchange event focusing on the SoS Coastal Emu project. 
The event brought together Gumbaynggirr, Yaegl and Bundjalung language groups to share 
stories, song and dance about the movement and contraction of the coastal emu population 
and its cultural significance. To build on the momentum of the event and support ongoing 
Aboriginal involvement in threatened species management, an identified Aboriginal position 
has been created.  

Aboriginal Employment Plan 

Aboriginal employment is an important part of workplace diversity and improving the services 
we deliver. An Aboriginal Employment Plan (AEP) 2018–2023 was developed in conjunction 
with the Aboriginal Network, members of the Aboriginal community and non-Aboriginal staff 
and includes targeted strategies and actions. Key achievements across prioritised areas of the 
plan included:  

• mandatory Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Awareness Training for new 
employees 

• completion of Stage 1 of the Aboriginal Cultural Safety Framework to provide 
appropriate tools and resources to support Aboriginal cultural safety in the workplace 

• development of pathways for Aboriginal staff into senior leadership positions  

• support for staff to participate in the Women in Senior Leadership Mentoring program, 
the Aboriginal Career and Leadership Development program and the PSC Graduate 
program.          

A diverse and inclusive workplace 

Supporting and developing a diverse and inclusive workforce enriched our workplace and 
brought a greater breadth of thinking and skills to our work and the services we provide for 
the people of New South Wales. The services we provided touched the lives of people and 
communities from a wide range of backgrounds across New South Wales. Potential barriers 
to services were identified and removed to ensure mainstream services are accessible to all. 

Following the creation of the Department, work has focused on being active contributors to 
the Cluster Multicultural and Disability Inclusion Action Plan steering committees and 
delivering the Aboriginal Employment Plan. OEH supported the Rainbow Connection and 
Spokeswomen’s Committee by encouraging staff to join and contribute and by providing 
additional funding, which increased the opportunities for regionally based staff to participate. 
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People Matters Employment Survey 

OEH maintained a strong focus on people and on responding to their feedback. The People 
Matters Employee Survey (PMES) results were used to inform our actions. There was an 
85% staff response rate to the PMES and results showed that 71% were proud to tell others 
they worked for OEH. The full results, including areas for improvement, were communicated 
to staff and the senior management team and were addressed in the development of a 
People Portfolio Plan. 

The focus of this plan was to enable our people to do great work. OEH achieved this in 
2018–19 by: 

• attracting, developing and retaining the best people 

• being a healthy, safe and supportive workplace that continuously learns and grows 

• fostering ways of working together which build support for our goals. 

Internal communication strategy 

An internal communication strategy was developed as an approach to the continuous 
improvement of channels, leadership communication and change management. The 
approach considered information from staff group sessions, PMES results, anecdotal 
feedback and data gathered from our intranet and newsletter reporting systems. The 
introduction of our Corporate Strategy was a key business requirement to be captured within 
the internal communication approach. 

OEH internal communication objectives were to: 

• develop staff engagement and understanding of our Corporate Strategy 

• improve staff satisfaction with leadership communications 

• continuously improve employee communication channels to better suit employees. 

The internal communication team sourced stories, news items and articles and developed 
leadership communications that represented our breadth of work to encourage pride in the 
work we do and to assist people to be effective in their roles. 

Prepare for the move to 4 Paramatta Square 

Preparation for the relocation of staff based in the Goulburn Street, Hurstville and 
Parramatta offices to the new office space being built in Parramatta continued throughout 
2018–19. It is anticipated this move will occur in late 2019 to early 2020. 

Support the roll out of talent development strategies to ensure 

succession planning and mobility 

Our People Portfolio was developed with the aim of attracting and retaining a highly 
motivated workforce, fully engaged with the agency and its goals. This included effective 
succession planning as well as training and support to enable employees to perform their 
role to the best of their abilities and afford opportunities for professional development. 
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Performance 

Corporate Strategy and Portfolio Plans 

OEH’s Corporate Strategy was launched in July 2018. It identified a range of outcome areas 
to address emerging challenges and opportunities. A key aim of the Strategy was to be the 
catalyst for achieving the best possible environmental, heritage, social and economic 
outcomes for New South Wales by taking a whole-of-system approach; supporting others 
across government, business and the community to deliver on outcomes in the environment 
and heritage. 

During 2018–19, we worked to develop Plans for each of the outcome areas to 
operationalise the intent of the Corporate Strategy. These plans identified the key priorities 
for delivery and implementation and provided a strategic approach to integrate service 
delivery across the sector. 

Standardising program and project management  

OEH implemented an Outcomes Delivery Methodology (ODM) to improve program and 
project management capability. To support implementation, new resources and tools were 
developed and staff participated in workshops and information sessions to facilitate their use 
and uptake of the ODM.  

Grants 

We launched a new online grant management system to facilitate grant management across 
multiple programs.  

Data Insights Strategy: from Insight 2 Action  

The Insight 2 Action program was initiated to encourage and support the use of data driven 
insights to engage with stakeholders and improve business operations to achieve better 
environment and heritage outcomes. The strategy underpinning the program called for a 
series of actions across three linked strategic pillars: 

• inspire broad update of data analytics by OEH staff  

• eliminate barriers to make is easy for staff to use data 

• maintain our social license by ensuring the ways in which data is used does not erode 
public trust.   

The program ran for four months and during that time program activities reached over 1150 
staff. A data advocate network was created to support staff in accessing and using data, and 
business intelligence projects were initiated to improve customer insights for NPWS. To 
maintain our social license a governance model was developed and implemented, and work 
commenced on the development of an AI Ethics framework in collaboration with the 
Department of Finance, Services and Innovation to ensure alignment with their proposed 
whole of government approach.  

System of Environmental and Economic Accounts (SEEA)  

Environmental-economic accounting is a means of capturing and organising environmental 
information in a way that improves our understanding of our natural systems’ contribution to 
economic and human wellbeing and the impact that our economy has on our natural assets. 
SEEA is a framework for capturing and organising information on the environment, including 
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its contribution to economic activity and the impact of economic activity on the environment. 
It is based on internationally agreed accounting concepts to gather and organise information 
in a consistent manner that enables integration with social and economic information such 
as National Accounts and employment data. This approach makes it easier to articulate how 
to financially account for the environment in decision making undertaken by the NSW 
Government and the community.  

OEH completed Phase 1 of 3 of the Western Sydney SEEA Project, in which a suite of 
economic, land and biodiversity accounts have been developed with a view to providing key 
insights for the development of the Western Sydney region by the NSW Government.  The 
second and third phases will involve creating a range of ecosystem accounts and then 
undertaking scenario modelling of future development vis-à-vis conservation 
pathways.  Learnings from this work are being shared with the Australian Government and 
other jurisdictions and will provide a template for other jurisdictions to create similar regional 
accounts. 

OEH worked with the Australian Government on a priority national SEEA project seeking to 
create environmental-economic accounts related to national parks. As part of this project, 
OEH prepared a paper on valuation methods that can be applied to recreation services in 
national parks.  

OEH worked internationally to review the SEEA Experimental Ecosystem Accounts (SEEA 
EEA) accounting standards and to contribute to work related to the development of a 
national parks accounting framework that will be applicable to the Australian situation. 

Partners 

Strategic partnerships with stakeholders and the broader community 

Supporting local coastal councils to improve water quality outcomes 

OEH worked with local government to implement actions to improve water quality, including 
piloting and creating tools to help local government implement the Risk-based Framework 
for Considering Waterway Health Outcomes in Strategic Land-use Planning Decisions. This 
framework brings together existing principles and guidelines recommended in the National 
Water Quality Management Strategy, which underpins the water quality management 
initiative in the NSW Marine Estate Strategy 2018–2028. Stakeholder and industry 
workshops identified the support and materials needed for them to independently implement 
the framework. As a result:  

• partner councils are applying the framework to change local planning provisions to 
reflect an outcomes approach (based on community values and uses) to managing 
stormwater 

• major water utilities such as Sydney Water are applying the framework to inform their 
water servicing and stormwater management 

• local land services are undertaking on-ground works in locations identified through 
application of the framework. 

Partnerships with NPWS  

NPWS develops strategic partnerships with stakeholders and the broader community to 
engage communities in planning and decision making around key projects and programs 
This includes development of comprehensive community and stakeholder engagement plans 
for all significant projects across the State, including the iconic walking and cycling track 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/risk-based-framework-for-considering-waterway-health-outcomes-in-strategic-land-use-planning
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/risk-based-framework-for-considering-waterway-health-outcomes-in-strategic-land-use-planning
http://www.agriculture.gov.au/water/quality/nwqms
http://www.agriculture.gov.au/water/quality/nwqms
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projects within Visitor Infrastructure Program, the NPWS Fire Trail Network Program, the 
reserve plan of management program and co-management.  

NPWS also works in partnership with its key stakeholder groups, including the eight 
Regional Advisory Committees and the National Parks and Wildlife Advisory Council, to 
discuss and gain advice on issues, projects and programs. 

NPWS has initiated and developed valuable strategic partnerships with key inbound tourism 
stakeholders such as Business Events Sydney, Tourism Australia and Destination NSW, 
which has enabled the successful promotion of the new NPWS meetings, incentives, 
conferences and events (MICE) product to key international target markets. 

#NatureForAll 

NPWS in partnership with Parks Canada and IUCN #NatureForAll program hosted a one 
day Australian #NatureForAll workshop in October 2018 in Sydney. #NatureForAll is an 
IUCN-led global movement that aims to build support and action for nature conservation 
among people from all walks of life. It does this by raising awareness of nature and its values 
and facilitating experiences and connections with the natural world. The aim of the workshop 
was to identify opportunities and seek organisational commitments for a coalition of 
#NatureForAll partners in Australia. Practitioners from government, non-government, private 
and academic institutions from around Australia came together to discuss and agree on 
organisational priorities, collaborative opportunities, key strategies, and actionable 
commitments for scaling up efforts to connect people with nature. This workshop created the 
foundation for the establishment of a regional #NatureForAll network. 

 
 

 

  

https://natureforall.global/
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Statement of comprehensive income 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

 Notes Actual 

2019 

$’000 

Budget 

2019 

$’000 

Actual 

2018 

$’000 

Expenses excluding losses     

Operating expenses     

Employee related 2(a) 489,365 488,214 454,815 

Other operating expenses 2(b) 315,805 333,627 321,689 

Depreciation and amortisation 2(c) 100,698 108,090 96,870 

Grants and subsidies 2(d) 192,667 233,908 118,653 

Finance costs 2(e) 1,003 2,297 2,301 

Total expenses excluding losses  1,099,538 1,166,136 994,328 

Revenue     

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 65,187 214,090 58,746 

Investment revenue 3(b) 21,231 319 22,264 

Retained taxes, fees and fines 3(c) 16,734 – 19,878 

Grants and other contributions 3(d) 827,768 854,037 849,348 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and 
other liabilities 3(e) 24,131 23,974 13,548 

Personnel services 3(f) 127,818 – 115,190 

Other income 3(g) 57,878 42,580 41,847 

Total revenue  1,140,747 1,135,000 1,120,821 

Gain / (loss) on disposal 4(a) (12,690) 860 (3,556) 

Other gains / (losses) 4(b),12 – (100) 529 

Net result  28,519 (30,376) 123,466 

Other comprehensive income     

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in 
subsequent years 

    

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus 11 472,336 44,429 29,845 

Total other comprehensive income   472,336 44,429 29,845 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  500,855 14,053 153,311 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position  

as at 30 June 2019 

 Notes Actual 

2019 

$’000 

Budget 

2019 

$’000 

Actual 

2018 

$’000 

ASSETS     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 7 348,820 252,909 298,158 

Receivables 8 87,809 56,147 84,910 

Inventories 9 709 743 741 

Other financial assets 10 19 18 18 

Total current assets  437,357 309,816 383,827 

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment     

Land and buildings 11 2,444,501 2,538,783 2,410,739 

Plant and equipment 11 67,130 53,567 60,216 

Infrastructure systems 11 1,840,573 1,319,982 1,409,710 

Total property, plant and equipment  4,352,204 3,912,332 3,880,665 

Intangible assets 12 200,457 209,574 206,324 

Total non-current assets  4,552,661 4,121,906 4,086,989 

Total assets  4,990,018 4,431,723 4,470,816 

LIABILITIES     

Current liabilities     

Payables 15 52,823 10,958 44,118 

Borrowings 16 1,554 – 2,300 

Provisions 17 62,266 70,053 60,072 

Other 18 98 110 110 

Total current liabilities  116,741 81,121 106,600 

Non-current liabilities     

Borrowings 16 24,146 40,691 38,391 

Provisions 17 16,145 5,639 11,606 

Total non-current liabilities  40,291 46,330 49,997 

Total liabilities  157,032 127,451 156,597 

Net assets  4,832,986 4,304,271 4,314,219 

EQUITY     

Reserves  867,893 456,291 397,198 

Accumulated funds   3,965,093 3,847,980 3,917,021 

Total equity   4,832,986 4,304,271 4,314,219 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity  

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

 Notes Accumulated 
funds 

$’000 

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 

$’000 

Total 
equity 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2018  3,917,021 397,198 4,314,219 

Net result for the year  28,519 – 28,519 

Other comprehensive income:     

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and 
equipment and intangibles 11,12 – 472,336 472,336 

Total other comprehensive income  – 472,336 472,336 

Total comprehensive income for the year  28,519 472,336 500,855 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners  

   

Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity 
transfers 19 17,912 – 17,912 

Reallocation from the revaluation surplus  1,641 (1,641) – 

Balance at 30 June 2019  3,965,093 867,893 4,832,986 

Balance at 1 July 2017   3,793,060 367,353 4,160,413 

Net result for the year   123,466 – 123,466 

Other comprehensive income:     

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and 
equipment and intangibles 11,12 – 29,845 29,845 

Total other comprehensive income   – 29,845 29,845 

Total comprehensive income for the year   123,466 29,845 153,311 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners  

   

Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity 
transfers 19 495 – 495 

Balance at 30 June 2018  3,917,021 397,198 4,314,219 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows  

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

 Notes Actual 

2019 

$’000 

Budget 

2019 

$’000 

Actual 

2018 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Payments     

Employee related  (469,079) (460,854) (449,938) 

Grants and subsidies  (187,565) (233,908) (119,342) 

Finance costs  – (2,297) (2,243) 

Operating expenses  (350,457) (340,849) (362,922) 

Total payments   (1,007,101) (1,037,908) (934,445) 

Receipts     

Reimbursements from the Crown Entity / (transfers to 
the Crown Entity) 

 
9,389 – 8,654 

Sale of goods and services  65,892 214,364 59,190 

Investment revenue (interest and rent)  21,231 1,885 26,712 

Retained fees and fines  16,723 – 19,878 

Grants and contributions  805,366 853,337 842,372 

Personnel services  125,274 – 112,159 

Other  99,471 49,702 70,276 

Total receipts   1,143,346 1,119,288 1,139,241 

Net cash flows from operating activities 23 136,245 81,380 204,796 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from sale of land and buildings, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure systems 

 
1,250 2,695 2,724 

Purchases of land and buildings, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure systems 

 
(64,341) (71,313) (44,186) 

Purchases of intangible assets  (13,192) (17,962) (17,384) 

Net cash flows from investing activities   (76,283) (86,580) (58,846) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Repayment of borrowings and advances  (9,300) – – 

Net cash flows from financing activities   (9,300) – – 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  50,662 (5,200) 145,950 

Opening cash and cash equivalents 7 298,158 258,109 152,208 

Closing cash and cash equivalents 7 348,820 252,909 298,158 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements  

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Reporting entity 

The Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH) is a New South Wales (NSW) government 
entity and is controlled by the State of NSW, which is the ultimate parent. While OEH has 
certain revenue generating units, it is a not-for-profit entity as profit is not its principal 
objective. 

OEH cares for and protects NSW’s environment and heritage, which includes the natural 
environment, Aboriginal country, culture and heritage, and built heritage. OEH supports the 
community, business and government in protecting, strengthening and making the most of a 
healthy environment and economy in NSW. 

OEH includes employee related expenses and provisions for the Royal Botanic Gardens and 
Domain Trust, Western Sydney Parklands Trust, Historic Houses Trust, Centennial Park and 
Moore Park Trust, Parramatta Park Trust, Biodiversity Conservation Trust, Taronga 
Conservation Society Australia and Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust. These employee related 
expenses and provisions are offset by income and receivables. These entities are 
independent statutory authorities and are reporting entities under the Public Finance and 
Audit Act, 1983. Their operations are not consolidated with OEH’s financial statements.  

OEH receives corporate services from the Department of Planning and Environment (DPE) 
under a Service Partnership Agreement and the fee paid by OEH under this Agreement is 
included in ‘other operating expenses’. Refer note 2(b). 

The 2018–19 financial statements of OEH will be the last for OEH as a reporting entity. Under 
the Administrative Arrangements (Administrative Changes – Public Service Agencies) Order 
2019 dated 2 April 2019, OEH was abolished on 1 July 2019 and its functions, other than 
relating to heritage legislation were transferred to the newly formed Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment. Functions relating to the administration of heritage legislation were 
transferred to the Department of Premier and Cabinet. Refer note 1(b) and note 26. 

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been authorised for issue by 
the Secretary on 12 September 2019. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

OEH’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been 
prepared on an accruals basis and in accordance with: 

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 
Interpretations; 

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (the Act) and Public Finance 
and Audit Regulation 2015; and 

• Treasurer’s directions issued under the Act. 

Given that the functions of OEH did not cease upon abolition but were transferred to the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment and the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet on 1 July 2019, financial statements of OEH have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. Upon abolition, OEH’s employees, assets, rights and liabilities were 
transferred and will be used, recovered or settled in the normal course of business by the 
respective transferee departments (refer note 26). 
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Property, plant and equipment of OEH are measured at fair value. Intangible assets are 
measured at cost. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention, except where specified otherwise. 

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations made by management are disclosed in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements. 

All amounts, except for superannuation defined benefit disclosures in note 17(b), which are 
rounded to whole dollars, are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are 
expressed in Australian currency, which is OEH’s presentation and functional currency. 

(c) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Accounting Standards, which 
include Australian Accounting Interpretations. 

(d) Accounting for the goods and services tax (GST) 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where: 

• the amount of GST incurred by OEH as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or 
as part of an item of expense; and 

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office, are classified as operating 
cash flows. 

(e) Comparative information 

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative 
information is disclosed in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the 
financial statements. 

In the 2017–18 financial year, operations of OEH were disclosed against four program 
groups: ensuring vibrant natural assets; encouraging communities to enjoy their environment 
and heritage; supporting economic development and efficient use of resources; building 
resilience to environmental hazards and risks. 

Commencing from the 2018–19 financial year, program groups have been replaced by State 
outcomes in the Budget Papers. The total operations of OEH contribute to the State 
outcome: valued and protected environment and heritage. The 2017–18 actual numbers 
against the four program groups are not disclosed in these statements. Refer note 6. 

The 2017–18 comparative details in the notes relating to the expense line item ‘other 
operating expenses’ and revenue line items ‘sale of goods and services’, ‘grants and other 
contributions’ and ‘other income’ have been reclassified within the total of each note. There 
is no change or reclassification of expense items and revenue items in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Refer note 2(b), 3 (a), 3(d) and note 3(g). 

(f) Budgeted amounts 

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented 
to Parliament in respect of the reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original 
budget (e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a result of 
Administrative Arrangements Orders or approved budget proposals) are not reflected in the 
budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original budgeted amounts and the actual 
amounts disclosed in the primary financial statements are explained in note 22. 
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In compliance with AASB 1055 budgetary reporting, budgeted amounts shown are drawn 
from the original budget in the 2018–19 Budget Papers as presented to Parliament. In some 
cases, actual amounts are disclosed in different line items as per the applicable Financial 
Reporting Directions.  

These differences are: 

• Sale of goods and services budget includes $132.6 million for personnel services 
revenue, where actual is disclosed separately under the ‘personnel services’ category. 

• Sale of goods and services budget includes $18.1 million for rental revenue, where 
actual is included in ‘investment revenue’. 

• Sale of goods and services budget includes $10.3 million for corporate and specialist 
support revenue, where actual is included in ‘retained fees and fines’. 

• Other income budget includes $3.3 million for retained fees and fines, where actual is 
included in ‘retained fees and fines’. 

(g) Change in accounting estimates 

During the reporting period OEH made the following changes to the accounting estimates in 
relation to the fair value assessment of improvements on ‘roads and other access’ assets as 
part of their comprehensive revaluation: 

• updated condition assessment of this asset class, which resulted in an increase in the 
depreciated replacement cost 

• enhanced data with accurate descriptions of the surface component of roads, trails and 
tracks 

• enhanced segmentation of roads determined by intersections/boundaries and for any 
change of pavement 

• revised componentisation of each segment into three – formation, base (pavement) and 
seal, which separated pavement from wearing surface, resulting in increased 
depreciated replacement cost. Previous data was based on two components – formation 
and surface.  

Changes in the above estimates were made subsequent to a comprehensive inspection and 
condition assessment of this asset class by OEH as it progressively implements its Asset 
Stewardship Strategy. Increase in the fair value of improvements on roads and other access 
assets as a result of change in accounting estimates is $476.1 million. This increase does 
not include land under roads which are valued as part of the national parks estate. The 
increase in fair value and change in the remaining useful life will impact depreciation 
expense in future reporting periods. It is estimated that the total depreciation expense will 
increase from $100.7 million in 2018–19 to $112 million in the following year as a result of 
this revaluation. 

(h) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian 
Accounting Standards 

i. Effective for the first time in 2018–19 

OEH has adopted AASB 9 financial instruments (AASB 9), which resulted in changes in 
accounting policies in respect of recognition, classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities; derecognition of financial instruments; impairment of financial 
assets and hedge accounting. AASB 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing 
with financial instruments such as the revised AASB 7 financial instruments: disclosures 
(AASB 7R). 

OEH applied AASB 9 retrospectively but has not restated the comparative information that is 
reported under AASB 139 financial instruments: recognition and measurement (AASB 139). 
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Any differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 are required to be recognised directly in 
accumulated funds and other components of equity. 

There has been no impact of adopting AASB 9 on the statement of financial position, i.e. 
increase/(decrease) as at 1 July 2018. 

a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments 

On 1 July 2018 (the date of initial application of AASB 9), OEH assessed which business 
models apply to the financial assets held by OEH to classify its financial instruments into the 
appropriate AASB 9 categories. This assessment did not result in any reclassification of 
financial instruments, with no impact on reserves or accumulated funds. 

The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant 
impact on OEH. OEH has continued measuring at fair value all financial assets previously 
held at fair value under AASB 139. 

Changes in the classification of OEH’s financial assets relate to trade receivables and other 
financial assets (i.e. term deposits). They were classified as ‘loans and receivables’ under 
AASB 139 as at 30 June 2018, which are held to collect contractual cash flows representing 
solely payments of principal and interest. At 1 July 2018, these are classified and measured 
as debt instruments at amortised cost. 

OEH has not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. There are 
no changes in the classification and measurement for OEH’s financial liabilities. 

In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, OEH had the following required or elected 
reclassifications as at 1 July 2018: 

 Measurement category Carrying amount 

AASB 139 
measurement category AASB 139 AASB 9 

Original 
$’000 

New 
$’000 

Difference 
$’000 

Trade receivables L&R Amortised cost 33,797 33,797 – 

Term deposits L&R Amortised cost 18 18 – 

Other receivables L&R Amortised cost 51,113 51,113 – 

L&R = loans and receivables 

b) Impairment 

The adoption of AASB 9 has changed OEH’s accounting for impairment losses for financial 
assets by replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires OEH to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all 
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.  

Given the nature and type of OEH receivables, the adoption of the ECL approach did not 
result in any adjustment to the impairment allowance. 

ii. Issued but not yet effective 

NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting 
Standards unless Treasury determines otherwise. 

The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet 
effective (NSW Treasury mandate TC 19/04): 

• AASB 15, AASB 2014-5, AASB 2015-8 and 2016-3 regarding revenue from contracts 
with customers (not-for-profits only) 

• AASB 16 leases 

• AASB 1058 income of not-for-profit entities 
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• AASB 1059 service concession arrangements: grantors 

• AASB 2016-8 amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities 

• AASB 2018-5 amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – deferral of AASB 1059 

• AASB 2018-8 amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – right-of-use assets of 
not-for-profit entities. 

These standards have been assessed for their possible impact on the financial statements, if 
any, in the period of their initial application and over the forward estimates period (2019–20 
to 2022–23). The assessment concluded that AASB 16 leases and AASB 15 revenue from 
contracts with customers, effective from the 2019–20 financial year will have low impact on 
OEH. This impact is summarised below: 

• AASB 16 leases – nil impact on net assets and low impact on net result – lease liabilities 
of $53.5 million and right-of-use assets of $53.5 million will be recognised as at 1 July 
2019 for leases in which OEH is a lessee. Operating lease expenses will be replaced by 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability. The impact on the 
statement of comprehensive income is expected to be $4.9 million.  

• AASB 15 revenue from contracts with customers – low impact on net assets and net 
result – reduction of $1.2 million in net assets and $0.01 million in net result in the 2019–
20 year. 

• AASB 1058 income of not-for-profit entities, also effective from the 2019–20 financial 
year is estimated not to have any impact on OEH. The other new standards are not likely 
to have any material impact. 

2. Expenses excluding losses 

Recognition and measurement of key expense items are disclosed separately below. 

(a) Employee related expenses 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Salaries and wages (including annual leave)** 395,223 365,541 

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 35,443 29,396 

Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 24,533 22,516 

Long service leave 20,320 9,256 

Workers’ compensation insurance  6,105 5,927 

Superannuation – defined benefit plans 5,136 5,119 

Redundancy payments 2,529 17,038 

Other 76 22 

 489,365 454,815 

**The employee related expenses include $129.5 million (2018: $116.2 million) for the Centennial Park and 
Moore Park Trust, Historic Houses Trust, Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust, Parramatta Park Trust, Royal 
Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust, Western Sydney Parklands Trust, Taronga Conservation Society 
Australia and Biodiversity Conservation Trust. Refer also to notes 1(a) and 3(f). 

In the Taronga Conservation Society Australia, salaries and wages amounting to $1.8 million (2018: $1.5 
million) were capitalised. 

For recognition and measurement of salaries and wages including related provisions, refer to note 17. 
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(b) Other operating expenses 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Corporate services** 65,688 63,214 

Contractors – projects  60,033 60,163 

Fleet costs 34,290 30,737 

Insurance 33,620 32,760 

Maintenance* 33,088 26,815 

Fees and services 29,090 29,819 

Stores and minor assets 13,298 11,308 

Payments to NSW Government agencies 9,647 25,002 

Other occupancy costs 7,959 10,163 

Travel costs 7,686 7,899 

Water use and licence fees 5,197 8,496 

Operating lease rental expenses (minimum lease payments) 3,868 4,702 

Training 3,709 3,357 

Advertising, publications and printing 2,672 2,536 

Legal costs 1,692 847 

Cost of sales 1,668 1,768 

Communication costs 1,300 698 

Other 645 733 

Auditor's remuneration – audit of the financial statements 400 462 

Energy costs 395 341 

Impairment of assets and bad debts 66 18 

Consultants 51 160 

Expenses capitalised (257) (309) 

  315,805 321,689 

* Reconciliation – Total maintenance   

Maintenance expense – contracted labour and other (non-employee related), as 
above 33,088 26,815 

Employee related maintenance expense included in note 2(a) 43,614 44,796 

Total maintenance expenses included in notes 2(a) and 2(b) 76,702 71,611 

** OEH receives corporate services from the Department of Planning and Environment and pays a fee in 
accordance with the Service Partnership Agreement. Refer note 1(a). 

For the 2017–18 comparative, an amount of $11.5 million was reallocated from ‘fees and services’ to 
‘payments to NSW Government agencies’, to align with the nature of the expense. Refer note 1(e). 

Recognition and measurement – key ‘other operating expenses’ 

i. Maintenance expense 

Day to day servicing or maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, except where they 
relate to the replacement of a material part or component of an asset, in which case the 
costs are capitalised and depreciated. Refer note 11. 

ii. Insurance 

OEH’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund 
Scheme of self-insurance for Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by 
the Fund Manager based on past claim experience. 
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iii. Operating leases 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an operating expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. In accordance with AASB 117 leases OEH holds no 
finance leases. 

(c) Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Depreciation:   

Buildings and improvements 11,904 16,758 

Roads and other access 40,723 38,812 

Utilities and other infrastructure 21,862 15,133 

Plant and equipment 9,790 10,044 

Furniture and fittings 2,557 1,228 

  86,836 81,975 

Amortisation 13,862 14,895 

  13,862 14,895 

  100,698 96,870 

For recognition and measurement policies on depreciation and amortisation refer to notes 11 
and 12. 

(d) Grants and subsidies 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Commonwealth government 12,815 10,316 

NSW government 126,168 76,355 

Local government 27,037 19,184 

Non-government organisations 21,420 12,679 

Assets transferred free of cost* 5,102 – 

Other – grants & subsidies 125 120 

  192,667 118,653 

In 2018–19, grants of $134.4 million (2018: $93.3 million) were paid from the Climate Change Fund (CCF) to 
the Commonwealth, NSW government and local government agencies, and to community groups. Increased 
CCF grants related mainly to private land conservation, Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Risk Mitigation and 
strategic programs of the Department of Primary Industries.  

Grants to NSW Government agencies include $18 million to the Department of Transport for construction of 
wharves at Kamay Botany Bay National Park. 

*Assets transferred free of cost represent the fair value of the Heritage Management System and the Heritage 
Near Me application transferred free of cost to the Corporation Sole ‘Minister Administering the Heritage Act 
1977’ (Corporation Sole). Refer note 12. 

Recognition and measurement – grants and subsidies 

Grants are generally recognised as an expense when OEH transfers control of the 
contribution. OEH is deemed to have transferred control when the grant is paid or payable. 
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(e) Finance costs 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Interest expense from financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss 1,003 2,301 

Recognition and measurement – finance costs 

Finance costs consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, in 
accordance with Treasury’s Mandate for not-for-profit NSW General Government Sector 
entities. For recognition and measurement policy on finance costs relating to Treasury 
advances repayable – non-interest bearing and make good provision, refer note 16 and note 
17(ii). 

3. Revenue 

Recognition and measurement 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or 
receivable. Accounting policies for key income items are disclosed separately below. 

(a) Sale of goods and services 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Sale of goods:   

Annual and day entry 23,461 22,644 

Camping fees 15,504 15,865 

Sale of water allocation 5,675 513 

Sale of assets under $5,000 10 38 

Sale of publications and stock 2,844 2,774 

  47,494 41,834 

Rendering of services:   

Community service 4,679 4,494 

Hire of facilities  1,597 1,694 

Miscellaneous park service 4,412 3,885 

Minor user charges 7,005 6,839 

  17,693 16,912 

 65,187 58,746 

For the 2017–18 comparative, an amount of $0.5 million was reallocated from ‘sale of publications and stock’ 
to ‘sale of water allocation’ to align with the nature of the revenue. Sale of water allocation refers to the sale of 
physical water and not water licences, which are held as intangible assets. Refer note 1(e) and note 12. 

Recognition and measurement – sale of goods and services 

i. Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when OEH transfers the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, usually on delivery of the goods. 
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ii. Rendering of services 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the service is provided or by 
reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours incurred to date or percentage 
of work completed). 

(b) Investment revenue  

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Interest income from financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss 3,723 2,534 

Rental income* 17,508 19,730 

  21,231 22,264 

* Lease and rental revenue is derived from commercial leases and licences with private operators within the 
national parks. 

In 2017–18, there was an additional one-off rental payment from Charlotte Pass Village at the 
commencement of the lease on 1 May 2018. 

Recognition and measurement – investment revenue 

i. Interest income 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that become credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is 
applied to the amortised cost of the financial asset (i.e. after deducting the loss allowance for 
expected credit losses). 

ii. Rental income 

Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
lease terms. 

(c) Retained fees and fines 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Fees:   

Licences and permits 716 1,051 

Wildlife management royalties 1,403 1,320 

Water licences fee 3,659 6,585 

Corporate and specialist support* 10,014 9,634 

  15,792 18,590 

Fines:   

Parking, court and other 942 1,288 

  942 1,288 

 16,734 19,878 

*OEH receives fees from the Environment Protection Authority and Environmental Trust within the Planning 
and Environment Cluster for the provision of specialist and technical support under separate Service 
Agreements. 
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Recognition and measurement – retained fees and fines 

Revenue from licences, permits, fines and royalties is recognised when cash is received by 
OEH. Revenue for corporate and specialist support and water use management is 
recognised in the period in which services are delivered. 

(d) Grants and other contributions 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Commonwealth government 14,235 2,719 

NSW Government* 570,982 609,404 

Other state governments 431 228 

Local government 1,935 1,324 

Non-government organisations** 224,389 228,697 

Assets recognised first time and transferred free of cost – notes 11 and 12 15,796 6,976 

 827,768 849,348 

* Includes government funding of $462 million (2018: $499 million) received through the Department of 
Planning and Environment, $62 million (2018: $63 million) received under the CCF program and $6.6 million 
relating to the accounting treatment of non-interest bearing Treasury advances (2018: nil). Refer note 2(e) 
and note 16. 

** Includes $222 million (2018: $227 million) received under the CCF program. 

For the 2017–18 comparative, an amount of $226 million was reallocated from the ‘NSW Government’ to 
‘non-government organisations’ category as a result of changes within energy providers. Refer note 1(e). 

Recognition and measurement – grants and other contributions 

Grants received from the Department of Planning and Environment, the principal department 
in the Planning and Environment Cluster, and contributions from other bodies (including 
grants and donations) are generally recognised as income when OEH obtains control over 
the contribution. OEH is deemed to have assumed control when the grant is received or 
receivable. 

(e) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other 
liabilities 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:   

Superannuation – defined benefit 5,136 5,119 

Long service leave 18,728 8,162 

Payroll tax on superannuation 267 267 

  24,131 13,548 

For recognition and measurement of liabilities assumed by the Crown Entity, refer to note 17. 

(f) Personnel services 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Personnel services income 127,818 115,190 
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Personnel services income includes $6.4 million (2018: $6.8 million) from Centennial Park 
and Moore Park Trust; $18.8 million (2018: $17.8 million) from Historic Houses Trust; 
$7.4 million (2018: $6.7 million) from Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust; $1.3 million (2018: $1.2 
million) from Parramatta Park Trust; $26.3 million (2018: $24.9 million) from Royal Botanic 
Gardens and Domain Trust; $54.6 million (2018: $49.2 million) from Taronga Conservation 
Society Australia; $3.0 million (2018: $2.6 million) from Western Sydney Parklands Trust; 
and $10.0 million (2018: $5.9 million) from Biodiversity Conservation Trust. Refer also to 
notes 1(a) and 2(a). 

Recognition and measurement – personnel services 

Personnel services income is recognised as employee related expenses are incurred. Refer 
notes 1(a) and 2(a). 

(g) Other income 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Insurance recoveries 50,308 36,732 

Treasury Managed Fund hindsight adjustment 2,038 406 

Miscellaneous revenue 5,532 4,709 

  57,878 41,847 

For the 2017–18 comparative, an amount of $0.4 million was reallocated from ‘miscellaneous revenue’ to 
‘Treasury Managed Fund hindsight adjustment’. Refer note 1(e). 

Recognition and measurement – insurance recoveries 

Insurance recoveries are recognised as revenue upon incurring of recoverable expenses, as 
defined in the agreement with OEH’s insurer. The amount of recovery in a year is subject to 
the bushfire activity in that year. 

4. Gain/(loss) on disposal and other gains/(losses) 

(a) Gain/(loss) on disposal 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Proceeds from disposal of current/non-current assets:   

Land and buildings – 1,658 

Plant and equipment 1,250 1,068 

Written down value of current/non-current assets disposed or decommissioned:   

Land and buildings (327) (1,461) 

Plant and equipment (3,019) (2,257) 

Infrastructure (10,458) (1,990) 

Intangibles – software (136) (574) 

Net (loss) on disposal (12,690) (3,556) 

(b) Other gains/(losses) 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Impairment – water licences – 529 
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In 2018–19, there was no impairment of water licences. In the 2017–18 financial year, there 
was a part reversal of 2016–17 impairment loss. 

Recognition and measurement – other gains/(losses) 

Impairment losses 

Impairment losses may arise on non-financial assets held by OEH from time to time. 
Accounting for impairment losses is dependent upon the individual asset (or group of assets) 
subject to impairment. Accounting policies and events giving rise to impairment losses are 
disclosed in note 8, note 11 and note 12. 

5. Conditions on grants 

OEH received grants for specific purposes, e.g. restoration works or scientific research 
projects. The amount received during the period was $348 million (2018: $345 million). 
Contributions received during the period include climate change funds of $288 million (2018: 
$292 million). 

These contributions generally impose conditions upon OEH whereby funds must be spent on 
specific projects for which they were provided for, and that unused funds be returned to the 
donor body. 

The contributions which were unexpended as at 30 June 2019 were $277 million (2018: 
$225 million). Refer note 14. 

6. State outcome description 

Valued and protected environment and heritage 

Description: Protecting and preserving our environment and heritage, enabling the public to 
access and enjoy the natural environment, and support a healthy New South Wales.  

Since the total operations of OEH contribute to the above, separate State outcome 
statements are not required. Refer note 1(e). 

7. Current assets – cash and cash equivalents 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Cash at bank 348,771 298,105 

Cash on hand 49 53 

 348,820 298,158 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at 
bank and cash on hand. 

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are 
reconciled at the end of the financial year to the statement of cash flows as follows: 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position) 348,820 298,158 

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows) 348,820 298,158 

Refer note 14 for details on restricted cash balances. 

Refer note 24 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments. 
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8. Current assets – receivables 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Sale of goods and services 40,272 34,188 

Allowance for expected credit losses* (446) – 

Allowance for impairment** – (391) 

Accrued income 41,477 43,834 

Prepayments 448 155 

GST receivable 6,058 7,124 

 87,809 84,910 

 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

*Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses   

Balance at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139 391 – 

Balance at 1 July 2018 under AASB 9 391 – 

Amounts written off during the year (3) – 

Amounts recovered during the year (6) – 

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in net result 64 – 

Balance at 30 June 2019 (AASB 9) 446 – 

**Movements in the allowance for impairment   

Balance at 1 July 2017 – 592 

Amounts written off during the year – (5) 

Amounts recovered during the year – (218) 

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in net result – 22 

Balance at 30 June 2018 (AASB 139) – 391 

Details regarding credit risk of trade debtors that are neither past due nor impaired, are 
disclosed in note 24. 

Recognition and measurement – receivables 

All purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Purchases or sales of financial assets require their delivery within the timeframe 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured 
at the transaction price. 

OEH holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

Receivables are subject to an annual review for impairment. These are considered to be 
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows 
have been affected. 
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OEH first assesses whether impairment exists individually for receivables that are 
individually significant, or collectively for those that are not individually significant. Further, 
receivables are assessed for impairment on a collective basis if they were assessed not to 
be impaired individually. 

The amount allowed for impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. 

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net result for the year, if 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised. Reversals of 
impairment losses cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount 
would have been had there not been an impairment loss. 

Impairment under AASB 9 (from 1 July 2018) 

OEH recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows 
that OEH expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

For trade receivables, OEH applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. OEH 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. OEH has 
established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience for trade 
receivables, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the receivable. No adjustments 
were required to the impairment as at 1 July 2018. 

9. Current assets – inventories 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Held for resale   

Finished goods – shop stocks at cost 709 741 

Recognition and measurement – inventories 

Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of 
service potential. A loss of service potential is identified and measured based on the 
existence of a current replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. Inventories 
(other than those held for distribution) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost or ‘first in first out’ method. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost 
of inventories acquired for nil cost or for nominal consideration is the current replacement 
cost at the date of acquisition. Current replacement cost is the cost OEH would incur to 
acquire the asset.  

Shop stocks held for 12 months or more and considered unsaleable are treated as obsolete 
and expensed in the net result for the year. 

Generally, the amount of inventory held is small. OEH relies on annual stock taking to 
identify shop stocks and inventory held for distribution. 
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10. Current assets – other financial assets 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Other loans and deposits 19 18 

The above is held in a term deposit and relates to bequest money received by National 
Parks and Wildlife Services within OEH for awarding education related prize moneys. 

Refer note 24 for further information regarding fair value measurement, credit risk, and 
market risk arising from financial instruments. 

11. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment 

 Land and  
buildings* 

$’000 

Plant and  
equipment 

$’000 

Infrastructure  
systems 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 1 July 2018 – fair value     

Gross carrying amount 2,679,554 173,268 2,421,702 5,274,524 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (268,815) (113,052) (1,011,992) (1,393,859) 

Net carrying amount 2,410,739 60,216 1,409,710 3,880,665 

At 30 June 2019 – fair value     

Gross carrying amount 2,744,624 185,055 2,868,838 5,798,517 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (300,123) (117,925) (1,028,265) (1,446,313) 

Net carrying amount 2,444,501 67,130 1,840,573 4,352,204 

*Includes land managed under Part 4a of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 

Reconciliation 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current reporting period is set out below: 

 Land and  
buildings 

$’000* 

Plant and  
equipment 

$’000 

Infrastructure  
systems  

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2019     

Net carrying amount at start of year 2,410,739 60,216 1,409,710 3,880,665 

Additions 24,297 22,086 19,794 66,177 

Disposals (327) (3,019) (10,458) (13,804) 

Acquisition/transfers through administrative 
restructures 17,912 – – 17,912 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation 
decrements 795 – 471,541 472,336 

Assets recognised first time 207 69 10,938 11,214 

Depreciation expense (11,904) (12,347) (62,585) (86,836) 

Transfers between asset categories (1,758) 125 1,633 – 

Assets received free of cost 4,540 – – 4,540 

Net carrying amount at end of year 2,444,501 67,130 1,840,573 4,352,204 

OEH recognises an impairment loss on land that it acquires/purchases and writes down to reflect fair value. 
Fair value reflects the restricted use of land as a national park.  

Further details regarding the fair value measurements of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 13. 
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 Land and  
buildings* 

$’000 

Plant and  
equipment 

$’000 

Infrastructure  
systems 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 1 July 2017 – fair value     

Gross carrying amount 2,849,858 180,845 2,189,325 5,220,028 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (359,817) (123,479) (849,800) (1,333,096) 

Net carrying amount 2,490,041 57,366 1,339,525 3,886,932 

At 30 June 2018 – fair value     

Gross carrying amount 2,679,554 173,268 2,421,702 5,274,524 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (268,815) (113,052) (1,011,992) (1,393,859) 

Net carrying amount 2,410,739 60,216 1,409,710 3,880,665 

*Includes land managed under Part 4a of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 

Reconciliation 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the previous reporting period is set out below: 

 Land and  
buildings* 

$’000 

Plant and  
equipment 

$’000 

Infrastructure  
systems 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2018     

Net carrying amount at start of year 2,490,041 57,366 1,339,525 3,886,932 

Additions 15,795 16,086 12,646 44,527 

Disposals (1,461) (2,257) (1,990) (5,708) 

Acquisition/transfers through 
administrative restructures 495 – – 495 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation 
decrements (20,517) – 50,362 29,845 

Assets recognised first time 341 4 5,393 5,738 

Depreciation expense (16,758) (11,272) (53,945) (81,975) 

Transfers between asset categories (58,030) 289 57,719 (22) 

Assets received free of cost 833 – – 833 

Net carrying amount at end of year 2,410,739 60,216 1,409,710 3,880,665 

*Includes land managed under Part 4a of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 

Recognition and measurement – property, plant and equipment 

i. Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash 
equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the 
time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that 
asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at measurement date. 
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Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash 
price equivalent i.e. deferred payment amount is effectively discounted over the period of 
credit. 

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Also refer to note 19 for details on assets received as a 
result of equity transfer. 

ii. Capitalisation thresholds 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually 
(or forming part of a network costing more than $5,000) are capitalised. 

iii. Major inspection costs 

When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

iv. Restoration costs 

The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset 
after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a 
provision are met. 

v. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

Except for certain non-depreciable heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-
line basis so as to write-off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its 
useful life. 

All material, separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated individually over 
their useful lives. 

Land is not a depreciable asset.  

Certain heritage assets including original artworks and collections are subject to appropriate 
curatorial and preservation policies and therefore may not have a limited useful life. These 
assets are revalued every five years and are not depreciated. The decision not to recognise 
depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually. 

Buildings and improvements: 

The construction type of OEH buildings is used to determine the asset’s useful life, from 
which a depreciation rate is derived. The following depreciation rates apply: 

Historic buildings – 1.67 – 3.33% (2018: 1.67 – 5%) 

Visitors centres and staff residences – 0.67 – 5% (2018: 0.67 – 5%)  

Visitor amenities – 4% (2018: 4%) 

Roads and other access; utilities and other infrastructure: 

The following depreciation rates apply: 

Roads, car parks, fire trails, management trails and walking tracks:  

Earthworks – 0% (2018:0%) 

Pavements – 5% (2018:5%) 

Bridges – 2% (2018:2%) 

Boat ramps and wharves – 5% (2018:5%) 

Utilities – 1–10% (2018: 0–10%) 
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An annual assessment of the useful life of each asset was carried out and the depreciation 
rate was derived accordingly. Depreciation rates for pavements are expected to be updated 
in the 2019–20 year, following revised componentisation of roads, trails and tracks. Refer 
note 1(g). 

Plant and equipment; furniture and fittings:  

Depreciation rates for plant and equipment, including furniture and fittings, range from 6.67% 
to 25% (2018: 6.67 – 25%). 

Amortisation of intangible assets: 

The following amortisation rates apply: 

Software – 25% (2018: 25%) 

Water licences – 0% (2018: 0%) 

Easements – 0% (2018: 0%) 

vi. Leased assets 

Where land is leased, property may be built on the land by the lessee and at the expiry of 
the lease, ownership of the property transfers to OEH. 

Property assets, infrastructure and other improvements are brought to account upon expiry 
of the lease, when actual ownership and control reverts to OEH. Upon assumption of 
ownership, the asset will be included in the OEH asset register at its fair value. Examples of 
such prospective assets include commercial buildings and infrastructure, such as marinas 
and ski lifts built by lessees on OEH property. 

A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively transfer from the lessor to the 
lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets, 
and operating leases under which the lessor does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards. 

Currently OEH does not have any finance leases in accordance with AASB 117 leases. 

vii. Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with Treasury Policy and Guidelines 
Paper TPP 14-01 valuation of physical non-current assets at fair value. This policy adopts 
fair value in accordance with AASB 13 fair value measurement and AASB 116 property, 
plant and equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market 
participants that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. The 
highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and take into account 
the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions 
imposed by government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the 
highest and best use is the existing use. In limited circumstances, the highest and best use 
may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or where there is a 
feasible higher restricted alternative use.  

Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on the perspective of market 
participants’, using valuation methods (market approach and cost approach) that maximise 
relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable inputs. Also refer note 13 for further 
information regarding fair value.  

Revaluations are conducted with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of 
each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date. OEH 
conducts a comprehensive revaluation for each class of property, plant and equipment at 
least every five years. Land and buildings are revalued every three years. 
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Asset category Last comprehensive 
valuation 

Valuation performed by 

Land– dedicated 30 June 2018 Opteon Solutions Pty Ltd 

Land– non-dedicated 30 June 2018 Opteon Solutions Pty Ltd 

Buildings 
30 June 2018 Colliers International Valuation & 

Advisory Services Pty Ltd  

Infrastructure systems:   

Roads and other access assets 30 June 2019 Sheldon Consulting Pty Ltd 

Marine and bridge assets 30 June 2019 Australis Asset Advisory Group 

Utilities  30 June 2017 Sheldon Consulting Pty Ltd 

Visitor amenities and facilities  30 June 2015 Sheldon Consulting Pty Ltd 

Plant and equipment:   

Aircraft 30 June 2017 Rodney Hyman Asset Services Pty Ltd 

Historical furniture and fittings 30 June 2017 Jonathan Alford Pty Ltd 

Interim independent revaluations are conducted between comprehensive revaluations to 
assess whether cumulative changes to indicators suggest fair value may differ materially 
from carrying value. Interim formal revaluations were conducted at 30 June 2019 for land, 
buildings and infrastructure systems (visitor amenities and facilities, and utilities). These 
revaluations were performed by Opteon Solutions Pty Ltd for land, Colliers International 
Valuation & Advisory Services Pty Ltd for buildings and Sheldon Consulting Pty Ltd for 
infrastructure systems. 

Valuation methods: 

Land 

Land is valued using the market approach to determine market value for open space, 
unimproved or green timbered land. This approach uses comparable property sales or sales 
that can be analysed and adjusted to reflect specific property attributes including location, 
zoning, land area, access, topography, proportion of cleared to uncleared land and 
market/saleability. 

Buildings 

Buildings are generally valued on the basis of written down replacement value or 
depreciated replacement cost. Replacement cost is determined using actual building costs in 
conjunction with industry guides. In valuing heritage buildings, the fair value is based on the 
written down replacement cost of a modern equivalent building. 

Infrastructure systems 

Infrastructure systems are valued on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. 
Replacement cost is determined using actual building costs in conjunction with industry 
guides. 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is valued at depreciated replacement cost. Non-specialised assets with 
short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost as a proxy for fair value. OEH 
has assessed that any difference between fair value and depreciated historical cost is 
unlikely to be material.  

When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the 
related accumulated depreciation are separately restated. 
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Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and credited to the 
‘revaluation surplus’ in equity. However, where an increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net 
result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result. 

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, with an 
exception where a credit balance exists in the revaluation surplus in respect of the same 
class of asset. In this event they are debited directly to the revaluation surplus under ‘other 
comprehensive income’ and do not form part of the net result. 

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments, and decrements are offset against one 
another within a class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. 

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed, any balance remaining in the 
revaluation surplus for that asset is transferred to accumulated funds. 

The useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
at each financial year end. 

viii. Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 
impairment of assets is unlikely to arise. Since property, plant and equipment is carried at 
fair value or an amount that approximates fair value, impairment can only arise in rare 
circumstances such as where the costs of disposal are material. 

OEH assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
OEH estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

Specialised assets held for continuing use of their service capacity are rarely sold and their 
cost of disposal is typically negligible. Their recoverable amount is expected to be materially 
the same as fair value, where they are regularly revalued under AASB 13. 

As a not-for-profit entity, an impairment loss is recognised in the net result to the extent the 
impairment loss exceeds the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset. 

After an impairment loss has been recognised, it is reversed only if there has been a change 
in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. The reversal is 
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in 
net result and is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the extent that an impairment 
loss on the same class of asset was previously recognised in net result, a reversal of that 
impairment loss is also recognised in net result. 

12. Intangible assets 

 Easements 
$’000 

Software 
$’000 

Water 
licences 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 1 July 2018     

Cost (gross carrying amount) 405 118,821 162,443 281,669 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (75,345) – (75,345) 

Net carrying amount 405 43,476 162,443 206,324 

At 30 June 2019     

Cost (gross carrying amount) 453 122,294 162,443 285,190 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (84,733) – (84,733) 

Net carrying amount 453 37,561 162,443 200,457 
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Reconciliation 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current reporting period is set out below: 

 Easements 
$’000 

Software 
$’000 

Water 
licences 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2019     

Net carrying amount at start of year 405 43,476 162,443 206,324 

Additions 7 13,185 – 13,192 

Disposals – (136) – (136) 

Assets acquired free of cost 41 – – 41 

Assets transferred out free of cost* – (5,102) – (5,102) 

Amortisation expense – (13,862) – (13,862) 

Net carrying amount at end of year 453 37,561 162,443 200,457 

*In 2018–19, the Heritage Management System and the Heritage Near Me application were transferred to the 
Corporation Sole ‘Minister Administering the Heritage Act, 1977’. 

 Easements 
$’000 

Software 
$’000 

Water 
licences 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 1 July 2017     

Cost (gross carrying amount) – 124,934 161,914 286,848 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (82,968) – (82,968) 

Net carrying amount – 41,966 161,914 203,880 

At 30 June 2018     

Cost (gross carrying amount) 405 118,821 162,443 281,669 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (75,345) – (75,345) 

Net carrying amount 405 43,476 162,443 206,324 

Reconciliation 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current reporting period is set out below: 

 Easements 
$’000 

Software 
$’000 

Water 
licences 

$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2018     

Net carrying amount at start of year – 41,966 161,914 203,880 

Additions – 16,957 – 16,957 

Disposals – (574) – (574) 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation 
decrements/reversal of impairment loss  – – 529 529 

Assets recognised first time 405 – – 405 

Amortisation expense – (14,895) – (14,895) 

Transfers between asset categories – 22 – 22 

Net carrying amount at end of year 405 43,476 162,443 206,324 
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Recognition and measurement – intangible assets 

OEH recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefit will flow 
to OEH and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured 
initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at 
the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value only if there is an active market. If there is no active market, the 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain 
criteria, such as probable future economic benefits, are met.  

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment 
annually. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the 
indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to 
finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to 
recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss. 

Software 

Software is measured at cost less amortisation, as a substitute for fair value in accordance 
with AASB 138 intangible assets. Intangible assets are consequently measured at fair value 
only if there is an active market. As there is no active market for OEH’s intangible software 
assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. 

OEH’s software assets are amortised using the straight-line method over a period of four 
years. 

Water licences 

OEH recognises water licences issued in the name of the Minister for Environment under the 
Water Management Act 2000. Water licences are measured at cost and tested for 
impairment. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
is reduced to recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss. 

Easements 

Easements are measured at cost and tested for impairment. If the recoverable amount is 
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and the 
reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.  

OEH acquires easements at ‘nil’ or ‘nominal’ cost. In accordance with AASB 138, the cost of 
these easements is their fair value, which is assessed by an independent valuer. The fair 
value is based on the price that OEH is expected to pay in the market to acquire these 
easements. 

OEH’s water licence and easement assets have indefinite useful lives and are not amortised, 
but are tested for impairment annually. 
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13. Fair value measurement of non-financial assets 

Fair value measurement and hierarchy 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence 
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13 fair value 
measurement, OEH categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation methods based on 
the inputs used in the valuation methods as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities that 
OEH can access at the measurement date 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, 
either directly or indirectly 

• Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

OEH recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

Refer note 24 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of non-financial and 
financial assets. 

(a) Fair value hierarchy 

2019 Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total fair 
value 
$’000 

Property, plant and equipment (note 11)     

Land and buildings – – 2,444,501 2,444,501 

Infrastructure systems – – 1,840,573 1,840,573 

 – – 4,285,074 4,285,074 

 

2018 Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total fair 
value 
$’000 

Property, plant and equipment (note 11)     

Land and buildings – – 2,410,739 2,410,739 

Infrastructure systems – – 1,409,710 1,409,710 

 – – 3,820,449 3,820,449 

There were no transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the current year and the previous year. 

(b) Valuation methods, inputs and processes 

Asset class Valuation 
methods 

Comments 

Land  Market Based on market evidence for open space or unimproved land 

Buildings Cost Based on depreciated replacement cost 

Plant and equipment Cost Based on depreciated historical cost 

Infrastructure systems  Cost Based on depreciated replacement cost 
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Non-financial assets are valued on a highest and best use basis. 

Full external valuations are conducted at least every five years. Land and buildings are 
valued every three years. The last comprehensive valuation of land and buildings was 
performed at 30 June 2018. The last comprehensive valuation for infrastructure systems 
(roads and other access assets) was performed at 30 June 2019. Between comprehensive 
revaluation cycles, the fair value of Level 3 assets is adjusted annually for movement in 
relevant publicly available indices as part of interim valuation process. OEH engages 
independent, qualified valuers with appropriate experience in the relevant Level 3 category 
to conduct valuations. 

Annual movements in industry costing guides or relevant indices will result in corresponding 
changes to the fair value of Level 3 assets. 

(c) Valuation methods, inputs and relationship of unobservable inputs to 
fair value 

Type  Valuation methods Inputs Valuation process 

Level 3 –  
Land  

In 2017–18, OEH 
engaged services of 
Opteon Solutions Pty 
Ltd to provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of land using 
the market approach to 
determine fair value. 

An interim revaluation 
was performed at 
30 June 2019. 

• Comparable property sales 

• Analysed property sales 
data adjusted to reflect OEH 
property attributes such as 
location, zoning, land area, 
topography, access, amount 
of cleared versus uncleared 
land and market/saleability 

• Discount factors for the 
restrictions on the use of 
OEH land by virtue of the 
National Parks and Wildlife 
Act 1974. 

The interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 
involved the use of property 
sales data, Residex market 
research and publications, and 
local market knowledge. 

All OEH land, including national 
parks and reserves, is valued 
using market evidence with 
consideration made for physical 
and regulatory property 
attributes. Land values are 
derived from the analysis of 
sales of comparable lands and 
analysed sales adjusted to 
reflect location, zoning, land 
area, topography, access, 
amount of cleared versus 
uncleared land and 
market/saleability. Discount 
factors are applied to market 
evidence to reflect the restricted 
use. These factors have been 
derived by the valuer based on 
the analysis of market evidence, 
experience and court precedent. 
All land values are on a rate per 
hectare, except relating to non-
dedicated land, such as 
workshops and depots, which 
have a total site value on a 
market basis and incorporate 
highest and best use 
considerations. 

For the interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019, the 
valuer aggregated information 
from sales analysis and research 
to determine an indexation factor 
by region. These factors were 
then applied to asset values 
based on the regional location of 
each asset. 

Management assessed that 
these factors appropriately 
reflected the movement in the 
fair value of land. 
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Type  Valuation methods Inputs Valuation process 

Level 3 – 
Buildings 

In 2017–18, OEH 
engaged the services 
of Colliers International 
Valuation & Advisory 
Services Pty Ltd 
(CIVAS) to provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of buildings 
using the depreciated 
replacement cost 
(DRC) approach to 
determine fair value. 

An interim revaluation 
was performed at 
30 June 2019. 

• Current construction cost 
estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Australian 
Construction Handbook 
2018 

• Actual construction costs of 
similar building types as 
those included in OEH’s 
portfolio 

• Capital improvements made 
by OEH over the last three 
years 

• Total useful life and 
remaining useful life  

• Gross floor area. 

The interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 
involved the use of published 
CPI data, building price NSW 
indices and the Australian 
Institute of Quantity Surveyors 
(AIQS) building cost index. 

The valuer has determined the 
fair value of buildings by 
assessing the replacement cost 
and making appropriate 
adjustments for age, condition 
and functional and technical 
obsolescence. The replacement 
cost has been determined by 
reference to actual construction 
costs of similar building types as 
those included in OEH’s 
portfolio, capital improvements 
made by OEH over the last three 
years and construction cost 
estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Handbook 2018. 
The valuer has assessed the 
total economic life and remaining 
useful life of each building to 
apply the straight-line method of 
depreciation. 

The valuer physically inspected 
a total of 231 assets out of 2,399 
(this represents 37% of fair 
value). To minimise risk of error, 
high value and specialised 
assets were included in the 
sample inspected. Assets were 
divided into groups based on 
similar nature such as 
residences, commercial, 
amenities, depots, historic, and 
lighthouses. 

For heritage buildings, the 
replacement cost is determined 
by considering modern day 
equivalent materials and assets 
with the same size, design and 
function as the existing buildings, 
after taking into consideration 
any obsolescence. 

The fair value of the asset will 
increase if the cost of 
construction increases or if the 
total useful life increases. The 
fair value will decrease upon 
obsolescence or deterioration in 
condition of the asset. 

For the interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019, ABS, 
Rawlinson’s and AIQS indices 
were analysed to calculate a 
factor increase from 1 July 2018 
to 30 June 2019. This factor was 
then applied to the gross 
replacement cost of each asset. 
The remaining useful life 
assessed at 30 June 2018 was 
then adjusted to reflect the time 
elapsed to 30 June 2019. 

Management assessed that this 
factor appropriately reflected the 
movement in the fair value of 
building assets. 
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Type  Valuation methods Inputs Valuation process 

Level 3 – 

Infrastructure 
systems – 
visitor 
amenities 
and facilities 

In 2014–15, OEH 
engaged Sheldon 
Consulting Pty Ltd to 
provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of visitor 
amenities and facilities. 
Fair value was 
determined using the 
DRC approach. 

An interim revaluation 
was performed at 
30 June 2019. 

• Current construction cost 
estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Handbook 

• Condition of asset 

• Obsolescence of asset 

• ‘3020 Non-residential 
building construction NSW’ 
index, published by the 
Australian Bureau of 
Statistics (ABS). 

The interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 
involved the use of ABS index 
‘3020 non-residential building 
construction NSW’. 

Rawlinson rates were used to 
develop amenity asset unit rates, 
indexed to 30 June 2015 using 
the producer price index for non-
residential building construction, 
published by the ABS. These 
rates were adjusted for regional 
indices (documented by 
Rawlinson) and for site factor. 
Rawlinson’s rates are for normal 
building sites with good road 
access. These therefore required 
further adjustment to reflect site 
difficulties within national parks, 
where they may be at a 
significant distance from towns. 
The fair value of the asset will 
increase if the construction cost 
increases. Fair value will 
decrease upon obsolescence or 
deterioration in condition of the 
asset. 

For the interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 the 
ABS index was applied to the 
gross replacement cost and fair 
value of each asset. 

Management assessed that this 
index appropriately reflected the 
movement in the fair value of 
these assets. 

Level 3 – 
Infrastructure 
systems – 
utilities 

In 2016–17, OEH 
engaged Sheldon 
Consulting Pty Ltd to 
provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of utilities. 
Fair value was 
determined using the 
DRC approach. 

An interim revaluation 
was performed at 
30 June 2019. 

• Current construction cost 
estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Handbook 

• Condition of asset 

• Obsolescence of asset 

• ‘30 Building construction 
NSW’ index, published by 
ABS. 

The interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 
involved the use of ABS 
indices ‘3101 road and bridge 
construction NSW’ and ‘3020 
non-residential building 
construction NSW’.  

Rawlinson rates and the NSW 
reference rates manual were 
used to develop utilities asset 
unit rates, indexed to 30 June 
2017. These rates were then 
adjusted for regional indices 
(documented by Rawlinson) and 
for site factor. The fair value of 
the asset will increase if the 
construction cost increases. Fair 
value will decrease upon 
obsolescence or deterioration in 
condition of the asset. 

For the interim revaluation 
performed at 30 June 2019 ABS 
indices were applied to the gross 
replacement cost and fair value 
of each asset. 

Management assessed that 
these indices appropriately 
reflected the movement in the 
fair value of these assets. 
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Type  Valuation methods Inputs Valuation process 

Level 3 – 
Infrastructure 
systems – 
roads and 
other access 
assets 

In 2018–19, OEH 
engaged Sheldon 
Consulting Pty Ltd to 
provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of roads and 
other access assets. 

Australis Advisory 
Group was engaged to 
provide a 
comprehensive 
valuation of marine and 
bridge assets. 

Fair value of all assets 
was determined using 
the DRC approach. 

• Current construction cost 
estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Australian 
Construction Handbook 
2019 

• Project cost and output data 
provided by OEH for assets 
constructed within the 
previous 5 years 

• Condition of assets 

• Obsolescence of assets. 

Cost estimates as published in 
Rawlinson’s Australian 
Construction Handbook 2019 
were indexed to 30 June 2019 
and primarily used to develop 
asset unit rates. These rates 
were adjusted to reflect region, 
location and terrain of the asset. 
In 2018–19, OEH completed a 
comprehensive condition 
assessment of walking tracks, 
roads, fire trails, marine assets 
and bridges. This updated 
condition assessment was used 
to determine the residual useful 
life of the assets. In addition, 
other asset related information 
was enhanced, including revised 
segmentation and 
componentisation of roads and 
other access assets. 

(d) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements 

2019 Land and 
buildings 

$’000 

Infrastructure 
systems 

$’000 

Total 
recurring 

Level 3 
fair value 

$’000 

Fair value as at 1 July 2018 2,410,739 1,409,710 3,820,449 

Additions 24,297 19,794 44,091 

Revaluation increments/decrements recognised in other 
comprehensive income – included in line item ‘net increase/ 
(decrease) in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus’ 795 471,541 472,336 

Disposals (327) (10,458) (10,785) 

Transfers and reclassifications 16,154 1,633 17,787 

Depreciation (11,904) (62,585) (74,489) 

Asset recognised for the first time and free of cost 4,747 10,938 15,685 

Fair value as at 30 June 2019 2,444,501 1,840,573 4,285,074 

 

2018 Land and 
buildings 

$’000 

Infrastructure 
systems 

$’000 

Total 
recurring 

Level 3 
fair value 

$’000 

Fair value as at 1 July 2017 2,490,041 1,339,525 3,829,566 

Additions 15,795 12,646 28,441 

Revaluation increments/ decrements recognised in other 
comprehensive income – included in line item / net increase / 
(decrease) in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus’ (20,517) 50,362 29,845 

Disposals (1,461) (1,990) (3,451) 

Transfers and reclassifications (57,535) 57,719 184 

Depreciation (16,758) (53,945) (70,703) 

Asset recognised first time and free of cost 1,174 5,393 6,567 

Fair value as at 30 June 2018 2,410,739 1,409,710 3,820,449 
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14. Restricted assets 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Current   

Climate Change Fund 233,836 195,828 

Other contributions 42,858 29,626 

Restricted cash 276,694 225,454 

The above amounts are recognised as restricted assets as there are specific legislative/ 
contractual conditions associated with the use of these funds or they are for a specific 
purpose only. 

Other assets: 

Besides cash, OEH has under its control a wide range of assets, such as historic buildings, 
dedicated land and specified sites, which are subject to restrictions on their use by virtue of 
the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974. These restrictions include disposal of the asset or, 
under certain circumstances, exploitation for financial or economic gain. Additional 
restrictions may be imposed by stakeholders as well as other legislation governing the use of 
historic sites, sites of cultural significance and buildings. 

15. Current liabilities – payables 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 4,665 4,148 

Creditors 38,405 29,432 

Unearned revenue 9,268 8,236 

Redundancies 485 2,302 

 52,823 44,118 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the 
above payables, are disclosed in note 24. 

Recognition and measurement – payables 

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to OEH and other amounts. 
Payables are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Short-term payables with no stated interest are measured at the original invoice amount 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. Gains and losses are recognised in net result 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
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16. Current/non-current liabilities – borrowings 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Current   

Treasury advances repayable – non-interest bearing 1,554 – 

Treasury advances repayable – interest bearing – 2,300 

 1,554 2,300 

Non-current   

Treasury advances repayable – non-interest bearing 24,146 – 

Treasury advances repayable – interest bearing – 38,391 

 24,146 38,391 

 25,700 40,691 

Treasury advances were drawn down by OEH from 2004 to 2011 to maintain and operate 
essential infrastructure at Perisher Range Resorts in the early years of the project. While 
OEH did not have the powers to borrow funds under the Public Authorities (Financial 
Arrangements) Act 1987, specific approval was given by the NSW Treasurer in December 
2002.  

In June 2018, OEH obtained the Treasurer’s approval to consolidate all advances to a single 
interest free debt with an agreed repayment schedule, effective from 1 July 2018. 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the 
above borrowings, are disclosed in note 24. 

Recognition and measurement – borrowings 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Treasury advances repayable (non-interest bearing) is recognised at fair value, which is the 
present value of future repayments, discounted by using the 10-year government bond rate. 
Differences between the amount borrowed and the present value are recognised as grant 
revenue. Refer note 3(d). Unwinding of discount is recognised as finance cost. Refer 
note 2(e). 
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17. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions 

(a) Employee benefits, related on-costs and other provisions 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Current 1   

Employee benefits and related on-costs 1   

Annual leave 2 30,802 29,739 

Annual leave on-costs 2 3,830 3,578 

Superannuation-defined benefits 3 1,120 962 

Long service leave on-costs 4 22,542 21,087 

Other current provisions   

Restoration costs 5 2,386 – 

Provision for restructuring 6 1,586 4,706 

Total current 62,266 60,072 

Non-current   

Employee benefits and related on-costs 1   

Long service leave on-costs 4 1,895 1,709 

Superannuation-defined benefits 3 8,442 6,016 

 10,337 7,725 

Other non-current provisions   

Restoration costs 5 5,808 3,881 

 5,808 3,881 

Total non-current 16,145 11,606 

Total provisions 78,411 71,678 

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs   

Provisions – current 62,266 60,072 

Provisions – non-current 10,337 7,725 

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (note 15) 4,665 4,148 

 77,268 71,945 

1 Includes employee benefits and related on-costs for Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust, Western 
Sydney Parklands Trust, Historic Houses Trust, Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust, Parramatta Park, 
Taronga Conservation Society Australia, Biodiversity Conservation Trust and Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 
(refer note 1(a)). 
2 The value of annual leave and related on-costs expected to be paid after 12 months is $1.3 million (2018: 
$2 million). 
3 Based on the actuarial assessment of the maturity profile of superannuation obligations, the superannuation-
defined benefit provision has been classified into current and non-current. 
4 Liabilities for long service leave are assumed by the Crown Entity. However, OEH has an obligation to meet 
certain long service leave related on-costs in accordance with the NSW Treasury Circular TC 18-13 
accounting for long service leave and annual leave. 
5 Restoration costs are associated with leased properties to place the property back to its original state at 
some time in the future, depending upon the terms of the lease. 
6 Additional provision of $0.7 million was raised in 2018–19 as an estimate of direct cost associated with 
implementing the required whole of government savings on senior executive expenses. In 2017–18, a 
restructuring provision was raised for the estimated cost of implementing the Future Parks program. 
Management structure under this program has been completed and the restructuring provision is expected to 
be extinguished in the 2019–20 financial year. 
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Movement in restoration, restructuring and general provisions (other than 
employee leave benefits) 

Movements in the provision during the financial year are set out below: 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2018 8,587 3,911 

Restructuring – additional provisions recognised  681 4,706 

Restructuring – amounts used (2,916) – 

Restructuring – write back of provision (885) – 

Restoration costs – additional provisions recognised  4,483 51 

Restoration costs – write back of provision (258) (139) 

Restoration costs – unwinding/change in the discount rate 88 58 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 9,780 8,587 

Current 3,972 4,706 

Non-current 5,808 3,881 

Total 9,780 8,587 

Recognition and measurement – provisions 

i. Employee benefits and related on-costs 

Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave 

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave, expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the employees render their service, are recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.  

Annual leave not expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the employees render the related service, is to be measured at 
present value in accordance with AASB 119 employee benefits. 

Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave 
balance plus the annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave, calculated 
using 7.9% (2018: 7.9%) of the nominal value of annual leave, can be used to approximate 
the present value of the annual leave liability. OEH has assessed the actuarial advice based 
on the circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to 
annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where OEH does not 
expect to settle the liability within 12 months as OEH does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement.  

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable 
that sick leave taken in the future will be materially greater than the benefits accrued in the 
future. 

Long service leave and superannuation 

Apart from the staff assigned to the Taronga Conservation Society Australia and Jenolan 
Caves Reserve Trust, liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation for 
all other employees are assumed by the Crown Entity. OEH accounts for the liability as 
having been extinguished resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-
monetary revenue item described as ‘acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits 
and other liabilities’. 
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For employees where superannuation liability is not accepted by the Crown, expenses 
relating to defined benefits are reflected by the movement in estimated liability. These 
employees support the Taronga Conservation Society Australia and Jenolan Caves Reserve 
Trust and OEH recognises a receivable from these entities equivalent to the amount of 
estimated liability. 

Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to 
certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using the Commonwealth Government bond rate at the reporting date. 

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined using the formulae 
specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes, 
(i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ 
salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme) the expense is calculated as a multiple of the 
employees’ superannuation contributions. 

Though liabilities for long service leave are assumed by the Crown Entity, OEH has an 
obligation to meet certain long service leave related on-costs. In accordance with the NSW 
Treasury Circular TC 18-13 accounting for long service leave and annual leave, these are 
recognised as provisions. 

Consequential on-costs 

Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the 
employee benefits to which they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding 
amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax. 

ii. Other provisions 

Other provisions exist when OEH has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when OEH has a detailed formal plan 
and OEH has raised a valid expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry 
out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to 
those affected. 

Where the impact is material, provisions are discounted at the current cash rate, which is a 
pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time (i.e. unwinding of discount rate) is recognised as a finance cost. 
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17. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions (cont’d) 

(b) Accounting for superannuation 

Paragraphs referred to in note 17(b) are the relevant paragraphs in AASB 119 employee benefits. 

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) – Taronga Conservation Society Australia and Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust – paragraph 

140(a) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Net defined benefit liability/ (asset) at start of 
year 

(89,086) 38,846 233,482 247,405 6,833,414 7,277,174 6,977,810 7,563,424 

Current service cost 119,168 125,287 21,555 22,463 – – 140,723 147,750 

Net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) 

(3,468) (167) 5,966 6,246 181,085 190,662 183,584 196,742 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

(Gains)/losses arising from settlements – – – – – – – – 

Actual return on fund assets less interest income (227,492) (224,664) (20,848) (19,964) (517,120) (549,399) (765,460) (794,026) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 

1,636 (1,873) (161) (3,802) – 101,277 1,475 95,602 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 

300,677 (6,423) 71,056 (1,405) 2,868,729 (63,088) 3,240,463 (70,915) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from liability 
experience 

46,101 70,242 (6,281) 554 (156,080) (123,214) (116,259) (52,417) 

Adjustment for effect of asset ceiling – – – – – – – – 

Employer contributions (83,475) (90,334) (16,701) (18,015) – – (100,176) (108,349) 

Effects of transfers in/out due to business 
combinations and disposals 

– – – – – – – – 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at end of 
year (refer note 17a) 

64,061 (89,086) 288,069 233,482 9,210,030 6,833,414 9,562,160 6,977,810 
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Details of underlying assumptions are included below. 

Nature of the benefits provided by the Fund – paragraph 139(a)(i) 

The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector 
superannuation schemes: 

• State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS) 

• State Superannuation Scheme (SSS) 

• Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS) 

• State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS). 

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is 
derived from a multiple of member salary and years of membership. Members receive lump 
sum or pension benefits on retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal. All the schemes 
are closed to new members. 

Description of the regulatory framework – paragraph 139(a)(ii) 

The schemes in the Pooled Fund are established and governed by the following NSW 
legislation: Superannuation Act 1916, State Authorities Superannuation Act 1987, Police 
Regulation (Superannuation) Act 1906, State Authorities Non-Contributory Superannuation 
Scheme Act 1987, and their associated regulations. 

The schemes in the Pooled Fund are exempt public sector superannuation schemes under 
the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). The SIS 
legislation treats exempt public sector superannuation funds as complying funds for 
concessional taxation and superannuation guarantee purposes.  

Under a Heads of Government agreement, the NSW Government undertakes to ensure that 
the Pooled Fund will conform with the principles of the Commonwealth’s retirement incomes 
policy relating to preservation, vesting and reporting to members and that members’ benefits 
are adequately protected.  

The NSW Government prudentially monitors and audits the Pooled Fund and the Trustee 
Board activities in a manner consistent with the prudential controls of the SIS legislation. 
These provisions are in addition to other legislative obligations on the Trustee Board and 
internal processes that monitor the Trustee Board’s adherence to the principles of the 
Commonwealth’s retirement incomes policy.  

An actuarial investigation of the Pooled Fund is performed every three years. The last 
actuarial investigation was performed as at 30 June 2018. The next actuarial investigation 
will be performed at 30 June 2021. 

Description of other entities’ responsibilities for the governance of the Fund – 

paragraph 139(a)(iii) 

The Fund’s Trustee is responsible for the governance of the Fund. The Trustee has a legal 
obligation to act solely in the best interests of Fund beneficiaries. The Trustee has the 
following roles: 

• administration of the Fund and payment to the beneficiaries from Fund assets when 
required in accordance with the Fund rules; 

• management and investment of the Fund assets; and 

• compliance with other applicable regulations. 
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Description of risks – paragraph 139(b) 

There are a number of risks to which the Fund exposes the Employer. The more significant 
risks relating to the defined benefits are: 

• Investment risk – The risk that investment returns will be lower than assumed and the 
Employer will need to increase contributions to offset this shortfall.  

• Longevity risk – The risk that pensioners live longer than assumed, increasing future 
pensions. 

• Pension indexation risk – The risk that pensions will increase at a rate greater than 
assumed, increasing future pensions. 

• Salary growth risk – The risk that wages or salaries (on which future benefit amounts 
for active members will be based) will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing 
defined benefit amounts and thereby requiring additional employer contributions.  

• Legislative risk – The risk is that legislative changes could be made which increase the 
cost of providing the defined benefits. 

The defined benefit fund assets are invested with independent fund managers and have a 
diversified asset mix. The Fund has no significant concentration of investment risk or liquidity 
risk. 

Description of significant events – paragraph 139(c) 

There were no fund amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year. 
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ii. Taronga Conservation Society Australia 

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) – paragraph 140(a) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at start 
of year 171,942 279,234 317,869 325,005 5,644,212 5,986,654 6,134,023 6,590,893 

Current service cost 119,168 125,287 21,555 22,463 – – 140,723 147,750 

Net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) 3,450 6,133 8,202 8,279 149,572 156,850 161,224 171,262 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

(Gains)/losses arising from settlements – – – – – – – – 

Actual return on fund assets less interest 
income (215,101) (212,640) (16,864) (16,073) (400,782) (424,620) (632,747) (653,333) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes 
in demographic assumptions 1,636 (1,873) (161) (3,802) – 82,022 1,475 76,347 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes 
in financial assumptions 300,677 (6,423) 71,057 (1,405) 2,359,636 (51,808) 2,731,371 (59,636) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from liability 
experience 48,098 72,560 (5,504) 1,416 (131,963) (104,886) (89,369) (30,911) 

Adjustment for effect of asset ceiling – – – – – – – – 

Employer contributions (83,475) (90,334) (16,701) (18,015) – – (100,176) (108,349) 

Effects of transfers in/out due to business 
combinations and disposals – – – – – – – – 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at end 
of year 346,395 171,942 379,454 317,869 7,620,675 5,644,212 8,346,524 6,134,023 
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Reconciliation of the fair value of fund assets – paragraph 140(a)(i) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Fair value of fund assets at beginning of the year 3,870,345 3,742,414 287,738 307,231 7,475,696 7,309,799 11,633,779 11,359,444 

Interest income 101,669 97,048 7,489 7,844 190,510 184,180 299,666 289,072 

Actual return on fund assets less interest income 215,101 212,640 16,864 16,073 400,782 424,620 632,747 653,333 

Employer contributions 83,475 90,334 16,701 18,015 – – 100,176 108,349 

Contributions by participants 46,609 49,998 – – – – 46,609 49,998 

Benefits paid 2,763 (304,379) – (58,240) (536,865) (525,705) (534,102) (888,324) 

Taxes, premiums & expenses paid (17,264) (17,710) (1,526) (3,185) 71,481 82,802 52,692 61,907 

Transfers in – – – – – – – – 

Contributions to accumulation section – – – – – – – – 

Settlements – – – – – – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – – – 

Fair value of fund assets at end of the year 4,302,699 3,870,345 327,265 287,738 7,601,603 7,475,696 12,231,567 11,633,779 
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Reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation – paragraph 140(a)(ii) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at 
beginning of the year 4,042,287 4,021,648 605,606 632,237 13,119,907 13,296,453 17,767,800 17,950,337 

Current service cost 119,168 125,287 21,555 22,463 – – 140,723 147,750 

Interest cost 105,119 103,180 15,691 16,123 340,081 341,030 460,892 460,333 

Contributions by participants 46,609 49,998 – – – – 46,609 49,998 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 1,636 (1,873) (161) (3,802) – 82,022 1,475 76,347 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 300,677 (6,423) 71,057 (1,405) 2,359,636 (51,808) 2,731,370 (59,636) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from liability experience 48,098 72,560 (5,504) 1,416 (131,963) (104,886) (89,369) (30,911) 

Benefits paid 2,763 (304,379) – (58,240) (536,865) (525,706) (534,102) (888,326) 

Taxes, premiums & expenses paid (17,264) (17,710) (1,526) (3,185) 71,482 82,802 52,692 61,908 

Transfers in – – – – – – – – 

Contributions to accumulation section – – – – – – – – 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

Settlements – – – – – – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – – – 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end 
of the year 4,649,093 4,042,287 706,719 605,606 15,222,278 13,119,907 20,578,090 17,767,800 

Reconciliation of the effect of the asset ceiling – paragraph 140(a)(iii) – no adjustment was required for the effect of asset ceiling based on 
the maximum economic benefit available to OEH in the form of reductions in future employer contributions. 
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Fair value of fund assets – paragraph 142 

All Pooled Fund assets are invested by SAS Trustee Corporation (STC) at arm’s length through independent fund managers, assets are not 
separately invested for each entity and it is not possible or appropriate to disaggregate and attribute Fund assets to individual entities. As such, 
the disclosures below relate to total assets of the Pooled Fund. 

Asset category As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Total  
A$’000 

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical 

assets 
Level 1  
A$’000 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
Level 2 
A$’000 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Total  
A$’000 

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical 

assets 
Level 1  
A$’000 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
Level 2 
A$’000 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Cash 4,042,116 2,135,561 1,906,555 – 4,401,164 2,185,469 2,215,695 – 

Australian fixed interest 2,294,672 4,993 2,289,679 – 2,234,921 41,854 2,193,067 – 

International fixed interest 1,968,093 6,827 1,952,395 8,871 1,396,107 8,116 1,387,991 – 

Australian equities 8,368,928 7,818,302 547,571 3,055 9,271,405 8,719,442 548,908 3,055 

International equities 11,387,439 8,795,299 2,592,132 8 10,891,350 8,499,476 2,391,501 373 

Property 3,588,230 698,607 717,079 2,172,544 3,711,287 788,018 608,934 2,314,335 

Alternatives 10,558,181 327,329 5,758,095 4,472,757 9,894,829 420,898 5,332,818 4,141,113 

Total 42,207,659 19,786,918 15,763,506 6,657,235 41,801,063 20,663,272 14,678,915 6,458,876 
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The percentage invested in each asset class at the reporting date is: 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Cash 9.6% 10.5% 

Australian fixed interest 5.4% 5.3% 

International fixed interest 4.7% 3.3% 

Australian equities 19.8% 22.2% 

International equities 27.0% 26.1% 

Property 8.5% 8.9% 

Alternatives 25.0% 23.7% 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The assets in this 
level are listed shares; listed unit trusts. 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices observable for the asset or liability either directly or 
indirectly. The assets in this level are cash; notes; government, semi-government and 
corporate bonds; unlisted trusts containing where quoted prices are available in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. The 
assets in this level are unlisted property; unlisted shares; unlisted infrastructure; distressed 
debt; hedge funds. 

Derivatives, including futures and options, can be used by investment managers. However, 
each manager's investment mandate clearly states that derivatives may only be used to 
facilitate efficient cash flow management or to hedge the portfolio against market 
movements and cannot be used for speculative purposes or gearing of the investment 
portfolio. As such managers make limited use of derivatives. 

Fair value of entity's own financial instruments – paragraph 143 

The disclosures below relate to the total assets of the Pooled Fund. 

The fair value of the Pooled Fund assets as at 30 June 2019 includes $95.5 million in NSW 
Government bonds. 

Of the direct properties owned by the Pooled Fund: 

• SAS Trustee Corporation occupies part of a property 100% owned by the Pooled Fund 
with a fair value of $316 million (30 June 2018: $280 million). 

• Health Administration Corporation occupies part of a property 50% owned by the Pooled 
Fund with a fair value (100% interest) of $331 million (30 June 2018: $287 million). 

Significant actuarial assumptions at the reporting date – paragraph 144 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Discount rate 1.32% 2.65% 

Salary increase rate 
(excluding 
promotional 
increases) 

3.2% 2.70% pa for 2018/2019; 3.20% pa 
thereafter 

Rate of CPI increase 1.75% for 2018/19 and 2019/20, 2.00% 
for 2020/21; 2.25% for 2021/22 and 
2022/23; 2.50% pa thereafter. 

2.25% pa for 2018/2019 an 2019/2020; 
2.50% pa thereafter 

Pensioner mortality The pensioner mortality assumptions are 
as per the 2018 Actuarial Investigation of 
the Pooled Fund. These assumptions are 
disclosed in the actuarial investigation 

The pensioner mortality assumptions are 
those to be used for the 2018 actuarial 
investigation of the Pooled Fund. These 
assumptions will be disclosed in the 
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report available from the Trustee's 
website. The report shows the pension 
mortality rates for each age. 

actuarial investigation report which will be 
available on the Trustee's website when 
the investigation is complete. The report 
will show the pension mortality rates for 
each age. Alternatively, the assumptions 
are available on request from the 
Trustee. 

Sensitivity analysis – paragraph 145 

OEH’s total defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2019 under several scenarios is 
presented below. The total defined benefit obligation disclosed is inclusive of the contribution 
tax provision which is calculated based on the asset level at 30 June 2019. 

Scenarios A to F relate to sensitivity of the total defined benefit obligation to economic 
assumptions, and scenarios G and H relate to sensitivity to demographic assumptions. 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario A Scenario B 

Base 
case 

Scenario A Scenario B 
–1.0% 

discount  
rate 

+1.0% 
discount  

rate 

–1.0% 
discount  

rate 

+1.0% 
discount  

rate 

Discount rate as above as above –
1.0% pa 

as above 
+1.0% pa 

as 
above 

as above –
1.0% pa 

as above 
+1.0% pa 

Rate of CPI 
increase 

as above as above as above as 
above 

as above as above 

Salary inflation 
rate 

as above as above as above as 
above 

as above as above 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 

20,578,090 23,372,508 18,276,115 17,767,
800 

20,075,855 15,852,619 

 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario 
C 

Scenario 
D 

Base case 

Scenario 
C Scenario D 

+0.5% rate 
of  

CPI 
increase 

–0.5% rate 
of  

CPI 
increase 

+0.5% rate 
of  

CPI 
increase 

–0.5% rate 
of  

CPI 
increase 

Discount rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Rate of CPI 
increase 

as above 

above 
rates plus 
0.5% pa 

above 
rates less 
0.5% pa as above 

above 
rates plus 
0.5% pa 

above rates 
less 0.5% 

pa 

Salary inflation 
rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 20,578,090 21,753,577 19,505,828 17,767,800 18,743,617 16,875,346 
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 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario E 
+0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

Scenario F 
–0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate Base case 

Scenario E 
+0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

Scenario F 
–0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

Discount rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Rate of CPI 
increase as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Salary inflation 
rate 

as above 

above rates 
plus 0.5% 

pa 
above rates 
less 0.5% pa as above 

above rates 
plus 0.5% 

pa 
above rates 
less 0.5% pa 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 20,578,090 20,726,937 20,436,101 17,767,800 17,902,673 17,639,380 

 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario G Scenario H 

Base case 

Scenario G Scenario H 
Higher  

mortality* 
Lower  

mortality** 
Higher  

mortality* 
Lower  

mortality** 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 20,578,090 20,873,883 20,348,991 17,767,800 17,981,544 17,593,384 

*Assumes the short-term pensioner mortality improvement factors for years 2019–2023 also apply for years 
after 2023. 

**Assumes the long-term pensioner mortality improvement factors for years post 2023 also apply for the 
years 2019 to 2023. 

The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as 
outlined above, whilst retaining all other assumptions.  

Asset–liability matching strategies – paragraph 146 

The Trustee monitors its asset–liability risk continuously in setting its investment strategy. It 
also monitors cash flows to manage liquidity requirements. No explicit asset – liability 
matching strategy is used by the Trustee. 

Funding arrangements – paragraph 147(a) 

Funding arrangements are reviewed at least every three years following the release of the 
triennial actuarial review. Contribution rates are set after discussions between the employer, 
STC and NSW Treasury. 

Funding positions are reviewed annually and funding arrangements may be adjusted as 
required after each annual review. 
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Surplus/deficit 

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2019 financial position of the Fund calculated in 
accordance with AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities: 

Financial year 
to 30 June  

SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 A$ 2018 A$ 2019 A$ 2018 A$ 2019 A$ 2018 A$ 2019 A$ 2018 A$ 

Accrued 
benefits* 3,789,664 3,452,229 462,042 495,580 7,141,879 7,160,520 11,393,585 11,108,330 

Net market 
value of fund 
assets (4,302,698) (3,870,345) (327,265) (287,737) (7,601,604) (7,475,695) (12,231,567) (11,633,776) 

Net (surplus)/ 
deficit (513,034) (418,116) 134,777 207,843 (459,725) (315,175) (837,982) (525,446) 

*There is no allowance for a contribution tax provision within the accrued benefits figure for AASB 1056. 
Allowance for contributions tax is made when setting the contribution rates. 

Contribution recommendations 

Recommended contribution rates for OEH are: 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Multiple of member contributions 1.9 1.9 N/A N/A 0.0 0.0 

% member salary  N/A N/A 2.5 2.5 N/A N/A 

Economic assumptions 

The economic assumptions adopted for 30 June 2019 AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities 
are (these assumptions are consistent with the assumptions to be used for the 2019 
actuarial investigation of the Pooled Fund): 

Weighted-average assumptions 2019 
% 

2018 
% 

Expected rate of return on fund assets 
backing current pension liabilities 7.4% pa 7.4% pa 

Expected rate of return on fund assets 
backing other liabilities 6.4% pa 6.4% pa 

Expected salary increase rate  
(excluding promotional salary increases) 0 

2.7% for 2018/19 then 3.2% pa 
thereafter 

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.2% pa 2.2% pa 

Expected contributions – paragraph 147(b) 

 SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Expected employer contributions 89,173 88,557 17,293 17,138 – – 106,465 105,695 

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation – paragraph 147(c) 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11 years.  
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Additional information 

Profit or loss impact 

Financial year to 30 
June  

SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Current service cost 119,168 125,287 21,555 22,463 – – 140,723 147,750 

Net interest 3,450 6,133 8,202 8,279 149,572 156,850 161,224 171,262 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

(Gains)/loss on 
settlement – – – – – – – – 

Profit or loss 
component of the 
defined benefit cost 122,618 131,420 29,757 30,742 149,572 156,850 301,947 319,012 

Other comprehensive income 

Financial year to 
30 June  

SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Actuarial (gains) 
losses on liabilities 350,410 64,263 65,393 (3,791) 2,227,673 (74,672) 2,643,476 (14,200) 

Actual return on 
fund assets less 
interest income (215,101) (212,640) (16,864) (16,073) (400,783) (424,620) (632,747) (653,333) 

Change in the effect 
of asset ceiling – – – – – – – – 

Total remeasure-
ment in other 
comprehensive 
income 135,310 (148,377) 48,529 (19,864) 1,826,890 (499,292) 2,010,729 (667,533) 
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iii. Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) – paragraph 140(a) 

Financial year to 
30 June 

SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Net defined 
benefit 
liability/(asset) at 
start of year (261,027) (240,389) (84,386) (77,600) 1,189,202 1,290,520 843,789 972,531 

Current service 
cost – – – – – – – – 

Net Interest on the 
net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) (6,917) (6,298) (2,236) (2,033) 31,514 33,812 22,360 25,481 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

(Gains)/losses 
arising from 
settlements – – – – – – – – 

Actual return on 
fund assets less 
interest income (12,391) (12,023) (3,984) (3,890) (116,338) (124,779) (132,712) (140,692) 

Actuarial 
(gains)/losses 
arising from 
changes in 
demographic 
assumptions – – – – (0) 19,255 (0) 19,255 

Actuarial 
(gains)/losses 
arising from 
changes in 
financial 
assumptions – – – – 509,094 (11,279) 509,094 (11,279) 

Actuarial 
(gains)/losses 
arising from 
liability experience (1,996) (2,317) (778) (863) (24,116) (18,327) (26,890) (21,507) 

Adjustment for 
effect of asset 
ceiling – – – – – – – – 

Employer 
contributions – – – – – – – – 

Effects of 
transfers in/out 
due to business 
combinations and 
disposals – – – – – – – – 

Net defined 
benefit 
liability/(asset) at 
end of year (282,331) (261,027) (91,384) (84,386) 1,589,356 1,189,202 1,215,641 843,789 
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Reconciliation of the fair value of fund assets – paragraph 140(a)(i) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Fair value of fund assets 
at beginning of the year 221,873 204,331 71,728 65,960 2,186,129 2,156,843 2,479,730 2,427,134 

Interest income 5,883 5,356 1,902 1,729 55,514 54,177 63,299 61,262 

Actual return on fund 
assets less interest income 12,391 12,023 3,984 3,890 116,338 124,779 132,712 140,692 

Employer contributions – – – – – – – – 

Contributions by 
participants – – – – – – – – 

Benefits paid – – – – (175,876) (172,220) (175,876) (172,220) 

Taxes, premiums & 
expenses paid (165) 163 63 149 19,677 22,550 19,575 22,862 

Transfers in – – – – – – – – 

Contributions to 
accumulation section – – – – – – – – 

Settlements – – – – – – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – – – 

Fair value of fund assets 
at end of the year 239,982 221,873 77,676 71,728 2,201,782 2,186,129 2,519,440 2,479,730 
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Reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation – paragraph 140(a)(ii) 

Financial year to 30 June SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Present value of defined 
benefit obligations at 
beginning of the year (39,154) (36,058) (12,658) (11,640) 3,375,331 3,447,363 3,323,519 3,399,665 

Current service cost – – – – – – – – 

Interest cost (1,035) (942) (334) (304) 87,028 87,989 85,659 86,743 

Contributions by 
participants – – – – – – – – 

Actuarial (gains)/losses 
arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions – – – – (0) 19,255 (0) 19,255 

Actuarial (gains)/losses 
arising from changes in 
financial assumptions – – – – 509,094 (11,279) 509,094 (11,279) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses 
arising from liability 
experience (1,996) (2,317) (778) (863) (24,116) (18,327) (26,890) (21,507) 

Benefits paid (0) – 0 – (175,876) (172,220) (175,876) (172,220) 

Taxes, premiums & 
expenses paid (165) 163 63 149 19,677 22,550 19,575 22,862 

Transfers in – – – – – – – – 

Contributions to 
accumulation section – – – – – – – – 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

Settlements – – – – – – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – – – 

Present value of defined 
benefit obligations at end 
of the year (42,350) (39,154) (13,708) (12,658) 3,791,139 3,375,331 3,735,081 3,323,519 

Reconciliation of the effect of the Asset Ceiling – paragraph 140(a)(iii) – no adjustment 
was required for the effect of asset ceiling based on the maximum economic benefit 
available to OEH in the form of reductions in future employer contributions.
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Fair value of fund assets – paragraph 142 

All Pooled Fund assets are invested by SAS Trustee Corporation (STC) at arm’s length through independent fund managers, assets are not 
separately invested for each entity and it is not possible or appropriate to disaggregate and attribute fund assets to individual entities. As such, 
the disclosures below relate to total assets of the Pooled Fund. 

Asset category As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Total  
A$’000 

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical assets 

Level 1 A$’000 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
Level 2 A$’000 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Total  
A$’000 

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical assets 

Level 1 A$’000 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
Level 2 
A$’000 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Cash 4,042,116 2,135,561 1,906,555 – 4,401,164 2,185,469 2,215,695 – 

Australian fixed interest 2,294,672 4,993 2,289,679 – 2,234,922 41,854 2,193,068 – 

International fixed interest 1,968,093 6,827 1,952,395 8,871 1,396,107 8,116 1,387,991 – 

Australian equities 8,368,928 7,818,302 547,571 3,055 9,271,405 8,719,442 548,908 3,055 

International equities 11,387,439 8,795,299 2,592,132 8 10,891,350 8,499,476 2,391,501 373 

Property 3,588,230 698,607 717,079 2,172,544 3,711,287 788,018 608,934 2,314,335 

Alternatives 10,558,181 327,329 5,758,094 4,472,758 9,894,829 420,898 5,332,818 4,141,113 

Total 42,207,659 19,786,917 15,763,506 6,657,236 41,801,064 20,663,273 14,678,915 6,458,876 



OEH Annual Report 2018–19 

85 

The percentage invested in each asset class at the reporting date is: 

 30 June 2019 30 June 2018 

Cash 9.6% 10.5% 

Australian fixed interest 5.4% 5.3% 

International fixed interest 4.7% 3.3% 

Australian equities 19.8% 22.2% 

International equities 27.0% 26.1% 

Property 8.5% 8.9% 

Alternatives 25.0% 23.7% 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The assets in this 
level are listed shares; listed unit trusts. 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices observable for the asset or liability either directly or 
indirectly. The assets in this level are cash; notes; government, semi-government and 
corporate bonds; unlisted trusts containing where quoted prices are available in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. The 
assets in this level are unlisted property; unlisted shares; unlisted infrastructure; distressed 
debt; hedge funds. 

Derivatives, including futures and options, can be used by investment managers. However, 
each manager's investment mandate clearly states that derivatives may only be used to 
facilitate efficient cash flow management or to hedge the portfolio against market 
movements and cannot be used for speculative purposes or gearing of the investment 
portfolio. As such managers make limited use of derivatives. 

Fair value of entity’s own financial instruments – paragraph 143 

The disclosures below relate to the total assets of the Pooled Fund. 

The fair value of the Pooled Fund assets as at 30 June 2019 includes $99.5 million in NSW 
Government bonds. 

Of the direct properties owned by the Pooled Fund: 

• SAS Trustee Corporation occupies part of a property 100% owned by the Pooled Fund 
with a fair value of $316 million (30 June 2018: $280 million). 

• Health Administration Corporation occupies part of a property 50% owned by the Pooled 
Fund with a fair value (100% interest) of $331 million (30 June 2018: $287 million). 
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Significant actuarial assumptions at the reporting date – paragraph 144 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Discount rate 1.32% 2.65% 

Salary increase rate 
(excluding 
promotional 
increases) 

3.20% pa 2.70% pa for 2018/2019; 3.20% pa 
thereafter 

Rate of CPI increase 1.75% for 2018/19 and 2019/20, 2.00% 
for 2020/21; 2.25% for 2021/22 and 
2022/23; 2.50% pa thereafter. 

2.25% pa for 2018/2019 and 2019/2020; 
2.50% pa thereafter 

Pensioner mortality The pensioner mortality assumptions are 
as per the 2018 Actuarial Investigation of 
the Pooled Fund. These assumptions are 
disclosed in the actuarial investigation 
report available from the Trustee's 
website. The report shows the pension 
mortality rates for each age. 

The pensioner mortality assumptions are 
those to be used for the 2018 actuarial 
investigation of the Pooled Fund. These 
assumptions will be disclosed in the 
actuarial investigation report which will be 
available on the Trustee's website when 
the investigation is complete. The report 
will show the pension mortality rates for 
each age. Alternatively, the assumptions 
are available on request from the 
Trustee. 

Sensitivity analysis – paragraph 145 

OEH’s total defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2019 under several scenarios is 
presented below. The total defined benefit obligation disclosed is inclusive of the contribution 
tax provision which is calculated based on the asset level at 30 June 2019. Scenarios A to F 
relate to sensitivity of the total defined benefit obligation to economic assumptions, and 
scenarios G and H relate to sensitivity to demographic assumptions. 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario A Scenario B 

Base case 

Scenario A Scenario B 
–1.0%  

discount 
rate 

+1.0%  
discount 

rate 

–1.0%  
discount 

rate 

+1.0%  
discount 

rate 

Discount rate 

as above 
as above –

1.0% pa 
as above 
+1.0% pa as above 

as above –
1.0% pa 

as above 
+1.0% pa 

Rate of CPI increase as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Salary inflation rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 3,735,081 4,269,853 3,293,523 3,323,518 3,773,633 2,948,274 

 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base case 

Scenario C Scenario D 

Base case 

Scenario C Scenario D 
+0.5% rate 

of CPI 
increase 

–0.5% rate 
of CPI 

increase 

+0.5% rate 
of CPI 

increase 

–0.5% rate 
of CPI 

increase 

Discount rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Rate of CPI increase 

as above 

above rates 
plus 0.5% 

pa 

above rates 
less 0.5% 

pa as above 

above rates 
plus 0.5% 

pa 

above rates 
less 0.5% 

pa 

Salary inflation rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Defined benefit 
obligation (A$) 3,735,081 3,988,874 3,501,883 3,323,518 3,540,458 3,123,460 
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 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base 
case 

Scenario 
E 

Scenario 
F 

Base 
case 

Scenario 
E 

Scenario 
F 

+0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

–0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

+0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

–0.5% 
salary 

increase 
rate 

Discount rate as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Rate of CPI increase as above as above as above as above as above as above 

Salary inflation rate 

as above 

above 
rates plus 
0.5% pa 

above 
rates less 
0.5% pa as above 

above 
rates plus 
0.5% pa 

above 
rates less 
0.5% pa 

Defined benefit obligation 
(A$) 3,735,081 3,735,081 3,735,081 3,323,518 3,323,518 3,323,518 

 

 As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018 

Base 
case 

Scenario 
G 

Scenario 
H 

Base 
case 

Scenario 
G 

Scenario 
H 

Higher  
mortality* 

Lower  
mortality*

* 
Higher  

mortality* 

Lower  
mortality*

* 

Defined benefit obligation 
(A$) 3,735,081 3,784,185 3,680,647 3,323,518 3,358,958 3,280,397 

* Assumes the short-term pensioner mortality improvement factors for years 2019–2023 also apply for years 
after 2023. 

** Assumes the long-term pensioner mortality improvement factors for years post 2023 also apply for the 
years 2019 to 2023. 

The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as 
outlined above, whilst retaining all other assumptions.  

Asset–liability matching strategies – paragraph 146 

The Trustee monitors its asset–liability risk continuously in setting its investment strategy. It 
also monitors cash flows to manage liquidity requirements. No explicit asset–liability 
matching strategy is used by the Trustee. 

Funding arrangements – paragraph 147(a) 

Funding arrangements are reviewed at least every three years following the release of the 
triennial actuarial review. Contribution rates are set after discussions between the employer, 
STC and NSW Treasury. 

Funding positions are reviewed annually and funding arrangements may be adjusted as 
required after each annual review. 
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Surplus/deficit 

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2019 financial position of the Fund calculated in 
accordance with AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities: 

Financial year to 30 
June  

SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Accrued benefits* – – – – 1,991,343 2,007,139 1,991,343 2,007,139 

Net market value of 
fund assets (239,983) (221,874) (77,677) (71,728) (2,201,782) (2,186,128) (2,519,441) (2,479,730) 

Net (surplus)/deficit (239,983) (221,874) (77,677) (71,728) (210,439) (178,989) (528,098) (472,591) 

*There is no allowance for a contribution tax provision within the accrued benefits figure for AASB 1056. 
Allowance for contributions tax is made when setting the contribution rates. 

Contribution recommendations 

Recommended contribution rates for OEH are:  

Financial year to 30 June  SASS SANCS SSS 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Multiple of member contributions N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

% member salary  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Economic assumptions 

The economic assumptions adopted for 30 June 2019 AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities 
are (these assumptions are consistent with the assumptions to be used for the 2019 
actuarial investigation of the Pooled Fund): 

Weighted-average assumptions 2019 
% 

2018 
% 

Expected rate of return on fund assets 
backing current pension liabilities 

7.4% pa 7.4% pa 

Expected rate of return on fund assets 
backing other liabilities 

6.4% pa 6.4% pa 

Expected salary increase rate  
(excluding promotional salary increases) 

3.2% pa 2.7% for 2018/2019; 3.2% pa 
thereafter 

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.2% pa 2.2% pa 

Expected contributions – paragraph 147(b) 

Financial year to 30 June  SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Expected employer contributions – – – – – – – – 

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation – paragraph 147(c) 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 10.3 years.  
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Additional information 30 June 2019 

Profit or loss impact 

Financial year to 30 June  SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Current service cost – – – – – – – – 

Net interest (6,917) (6,298) (2,236) (2,033) 31,513 33,812 22,360 25,481 

Past service cost – – – – – – – – 

(Gains)/loss on settlement – – – – – – – – 

Profit or loss component 
of the defined benefit cost (6,917) (6,298) (2,236) (2,032) 31,513 33,812 22,360 25,481 

Other comprehensive income 

Financial year to 30 June  SASS SANCS SSS Total 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

2019 
A$ 

2018 
A$ 

Actuarial (gains) losses on 
liabilities (1,996) (2,317) (778) (863) 484,978 (10,351) 482,204 (13,531) 

Actual return on fund 
assets less interest 
income (12,391) (12,023) (3,984) (3,890) (116,337) (124,779) (132,713) (140,692) 

Change in the effect of 
asset ceiling – – –  –  – – 

Total remeasurement in 
other comprehensive 
income (14,387) (14,340) (4,762) (4,753) 368,641 (135,130) 349,492 (154,223) 

 

18. Current liabilities – other 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Current   

Security deposits 98 110 

Total other liabilities 98 110 

 

  



OEH Annual Report 2018–19 

90 

19. Equity 

Recognition and measurement – equity 

i. Revaluation surplus 

The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-current assets. This accords with OEH’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment as discussed in note 11. 

ii. Accumulated funds 

The category ‘accumulated funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds. 

iii. Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity transfers 

Transfers of land and associated infrastructure to/from other agencies, which are treated as 
‘administrative restructures’ are detailed below. 

Department/Agency 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

From:    

Department of Transport – 306 

Crown Lands 257 – 

Forestry Corporation 1,623 86 

Waste Assets Management Corporation – 103 

Property NSW* 16,032 – 

 17,912 495 

*In 2018–19, the ownership and management of Strickland House with a fair value of $16 million was 
transferred from Property NSW to OEH for reservation under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974, as 
part of the Sydney Harbour National Park.  

Recognition and measurement – equity transfers 

The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, 
transfers of programs / functions and parts thereof between NSW public sector entities and 
‘equity appropriations’ are designated or required by Australian accounting standards to be 
treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘accumulated funds’. 
This treatment is consistent with AASB 1004 and Australian Interpretation 1038 contributions 
by owners made to wholly-owned public sector entities. 

Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit 
government entities are recognised at the amount at which the assets and liabilities were 
recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure. 
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20. Commitments 

(a) Capital commitments1 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
and intangibles contracted for at balance date and not provided for: 

  

Not later than one year 1,583 189 

Total (including GST) 1,583 189 

(b) Operating lease commitments2 – OEH as a lessee 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating lease as at 30 
June: 

  

Not later than one year 26,473 24,146 

Later than one year and not later than five years 57,690 22,729 

Later than five years 2,402 – 

Total (including GST) 86,564 46,875 

1 Commitments above includes input tax credits of $7.9 million (2018: $4.3 million) that are expected to be 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. 

2 Operating leases are for leased premises, plant and equipment and motor vehicles. 

(c) Operating lease receivables3,4 – OEH as a lessor 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating lease as at 
30 June: 

  

Not later than one year 19,482 9,880 

Later than one year and not later than five years 68,619 36,279 

Later than five years 244,013 128,077 

Total (including GST) 332,114 174,236 

3 Receivables above include output tax credits of $28.9 million (2018: $15.8 million) that are expected to be 
payable to the Australian Taxation Office. 

4 Operating leases are for commercial leases within national parks. 
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21. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
Contingent liability is a potential liability that may occur depending upon the outcome of 
uncertain future events. 

Contingent asset is a possible asset that may arise because of a gain that is contingent on 
future events, not under OEH’s control. 

The following are known contingent liabilities and assets at 30 June 2019. 

Contingent liabilities 

Claims on the Treasury Managed Fund 

OEH is a member of the NSW Treasury Managed Fund (TMF/Fund) self-insurance scheme. 
The Fund covers a number of civil claims against OEH in relation to issues, such as 
negligence and public liability. As at 30 June 2019, these included: 

• civil law suits claiming damages from OEH and another NSW Government agency due to 
the non-approval of rezoning and development of land 

• civil law suits by individuals that have sustained injuries and/or damage to their personal 
property 

• civil law suits involving claims for incidents that occurred within national parks 

• civil law suit in regard to a breach of environment protection in a national park. 

It is not practical to estimate the financial effect of these claims. OEH’s insurable risk should 
adequately cover all these claims. 

Other than the above, OEH is not aware of any significant or material contingent liability, 
including any financial guarantees in existence at 30 June 2019 or which has emerged 
subsequent to this date, which may materially impact on the financial position as shown in 
the financial statements. OEH undertakes periodic review of its contractual obligations to 
determine whether any material liability exists. 

Contingent assets 

OEH has the following contingent assets as at 30 June 2019: 

• prosecutions under the National Parks and Wildlife Act, which may result in payment of 
penalties to OEH 

• reimbursements from TMF that manages civil claims, which are disclosed as contingent 
liabilities above. 

It is not practical to estimate the financial value of these contingent assets. 

22. Budget review 

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented 
to Parliament in respect of the reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original 
budget (e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a result of 
Administrative Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major 
variances between the original budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the 
primary financial statements are explained below. 

Net result 

Actual operating surplus was $28.5 million compared to the budgeted operating loss 
of ($30.4 million) – a variance of $58.9 million. 

The above variance was made up of lower than budgeted expenditure by $66.6 million and 
higher than budgeted revenue by $5.7 million, party offset by increased loss on disposal by 
$13.5 million. Major variances are explained below: 
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 $million 

Expenses ($m):   

• Lower grant payments, operating and employee related expenses under the Climate Change 
Fund (CCF), which have been reallocated to the following years as part of the 2019–20 State 
Budget process. This reallocation aligns with the delivery of the strategic CCF program. 42.5 

• Reduced expenses relating to lower than budgeted receipt of external grants and from restricted 
cash and minor variations across a range of expense items. 7.5 

• Government funded operating, employee related and grant expenses reallocated to forward 
years or between agencies within the Cluster as part of the 2019–20 State Budget process to 
align with the project delivery timeframes. 15.1 

• Reduced purchase of biodiversity credits for immediate retirement with the transfer of the 
Growth Centres Program to the Biodiversity Conservation Trust (BCT).  7.7 

• Lower depreciation expense primarily due to higher estimate of useful life of buildings and parks 
amenities following condition assessment, revaluation of buildings and reclassification of assets 

between categories in 2017–18. 7.4 

• Lower employee related expenses relating to agencies to whom personnel services are provided. 4.8 

• Externally funded operating, employee related and grant expenses (other than CCF) reallocated 
to forward years as part of the 2019–20 State Budget process. 5.3 

• Transfer of the Heritage Management System and the Heritage Near Me application to the 
Corporation Sole, free of cost. 5.1 

• Reduced expenses due to additional savings requirements. 2.6 

• Reduced finance cost due to higher than budgeted repayment of Perisher debt and accounting 
treatment of interest free debt. 1.3 

• Grant to Department of Transport for construction of wharves at Kamay Botany Bay National 
Park. The budget assumed capital expenditure by OEH. (18.0) 

• Higher than budgeted employee related and operating expenses due to increased bushfire 
activities. (14.6) 

Loss on disposal ($m):   

• Increase is due to higher than budgeted write down of fair value of infrastructure assets 
identified as surplus to business requirements as well as those disposed from the assets 
register as part of its reconciliation with the asset management system. (13.5) 

Revenue ($m):   

• Higher recovery from insurance providers due to increased bush fire activity. 14.6 

• Increase in revenue relating to the fair value of land acquired free of cost from private land 
holders and for assets recognised first time. The major addition to the parks system in the 
2018–19 financial year was to the Wianamatta Regional Park. 14.2 

• Grant from Snowy Hydro Ltd to compensate for the predicted impacts of Snowy 2.0 exploratory 
works on Kosciuszko National Park. 10.5 

• Increase in fines and licence fees, retained fees, rents, vehicle, camping and park entry fees 
due to increased visitation and a better than expected ski season. 10.0 

• Accounting treatment for the difference between the face value and fair value of borrowings in 
relation to interest free Perisher debt. 6.6 

• Higher water trading revenue, where water allocation was sold to farmers as part of drought 
relief. Additional revenue was used towards drought relief works, such as wild dogs and feral 
animal control, screening of irrigation pumps to reduce fish mortality and control of high risk 
invasive weeds in Monaro. 5.3 

• Higher than budgeted interest on CCF funds due to lower than budgeted expenses in the year. 3.4 

• Government funding primarily due to reallocation from 2018–19 to future years under the State 
Budget process, consistent with the government funded capital and recurrent expenses; 
reallocation to other agencies within the Cluster including to the Department of Planning and 
Environment and additional savings requirements. (36.5) 

• Lower grant from the Environmental Trust primarily due to the transfer of the Growth Centres 
Program to BCT. (13.0) 

• Lower personnel services revenue, consistent with reduced expenses. (4.8) 

• Lower than budgeted receipt of external grants and other minor variations. (4.6) 

Net variance in operating surplus 58.9 
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Assets and liabilities 

Actual net assets of $4.833 billion against the budget of $4.304 billion – a variance of 
$529 million 

Higher than budgeted net assets is due to ($m): 

 $million 

• Higher than budgeted revaluation increments of infrastructure assets across national parks. 427.9 

• Higher than budgeted cash, mainly restricted (refer below). 95.9 

• Fair value of assets recognised first time; land and infrastructure transferred for no consideration 
to OEH from private land holders and through equity transfer. 32.1 

• Lower borrowings due to accounting treatment of interest free debt and additional principal 
repayment in 2018–19. 15.0 

• Higher than budgeted write down of the fair value of assets, primarily due to infrastructure 
assets identified as surplus to business requirements as OEH progresses implementation of the 
Asset Stewardship Strategy across national parks. (12.0) 

• Higher provisions, payables, net of higher receivables. (12.9) 

• Lower than budgeted opening balances of property, plant and equipment and other variations. 
(9.4) 

• Transfer of the Heritage Management System and the Heritage Near Me application to the 
Corporation Sole. (5.1) 

• Lower than budgeted depreciation net of lower capital additions, due to reallocation of capital 
expenditure to future years and recurrent expenses as part of the 2019–20 State Budget 
process (2.5) 

Total net assets variance 529.0 

Cash flows 

Actual cash of $348.8 million against the budget of $252.9 million – a variance of $95.9 
million 

This variance is due to higher than budgeted opening cash by $40.0 million, primarily 
restricted cash and from reduced expenses from the CCF and from other external grants, 
the majority of which have been reallocated to future years under the 2019–20 State Budget 
process. 

23. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
to net result 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Net cash used on operating activities 136,245 204,796 

Depreciation and amortisation (100,698) (96,870) 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 2,900 14,565 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories (32) (3) 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (4,806) (3,906) 

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (8,709) 1,005 

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities 12 (3) 

Net gain/(loss) on sale of plant and equipment (12,690) (3,556) 

Other gain/(loss) – 529 

Finance cost 8,139 (67) 

Assets recognised for the first time and net assets transferred free of cost 8,158 6,976 

Net result 28,519 123,466 
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24. Financial instruments 

OEH’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise 
directly from OEH’s operations or are required to finance those operations. OEH does not 
enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. 

The main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with OEH’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative 
and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 

The Chief Executive of OEH has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk 
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by OEH, to set 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by OEH 
on a periodic basis. 

(a) Financial instrument categories 

i. As at 30 June 2019 under AASB 9 

Financial assets Note Category Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Class:    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 N/A 348,820 

Receivables1 8 Amortised cost 81,303 

Other financial assets 10 Amortised cost 19 

 

Financial liabilities Note Category Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Class:    

Payables2 15 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 43,555 

Borrowings3 16 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 25,700 

Notes 

1 Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7). 
2 Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7). 
3 Effective 1 July 2018 borrowings are interest free. 

ii. As at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139 (comparative period) 

Financial assets Note Category Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Class:    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 N/A 298,158 

Receivables1 8 Loans and receivables (at amortised cost) 77,631 

Other financial assets 10 Held-to-maturity investment (at amortised cost) 18 
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ii. As at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139 (comparative period), cont. 

Financial liabilities Note Category Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Class:    

Payables2 15 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 35,882 

Borrowings3 16 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 40,691 

Notes 

1 Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7). 
2 Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7). 
3 Effective 1 July 2018 borrowings are interest free. 

OEH determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition 
and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end. 

(b) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire; or if OEH transfers the financial asset: 

• where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or 

• where OEH has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if OEH has not 
retained control. 

Where OEH has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or 
transferred control, the asset continues to be recognised to the extent of OEH’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. In that case, OEH also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that OEH has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that OEH could be required to repay. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the net result 

(c) Financial risks 

i. Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of debtors defaulting on their contractual 
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to OEH. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance 
for impairment). 

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of OEH, including cash, receivables, loans and 
deposits. No collateral is held and OEH has not granted any financial guarantees. 

Credit risk associated with financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the 
selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking 
System. Interest is earned on daily bank balances of specified restricted cash at the monthly 
average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) 11am unofficial cash rate adjusted for a 
management fee to NSW Treasury. 

Receivables – trade debtors 

Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in 
the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, including letters of 
demand. 

OEH applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade debtors. 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates. The historical loss rates 
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. OEH has identified GDP and 
the unemployment rate to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical 
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 

Trade debtors are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others a failure to make 
contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 days past due. 

The loss allowance for trade debtors as at 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2018 (on adoption of 
AASB 9) was determined as follows: 

 30 June 2019 
$’000 

Current <30 days 30–60 days 61–90 days >91 days Total 

Expected credit loss rate – – – – 65.9%  

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at default 38,760 226 455 155 676 40,272 

Expected credit loss - - - - 446 446 

 

 1 July 2018 
$’000 

Current <30 days 30–60 days 61–90 days >91 days Total 

Expected credit loss rate – – – – 33.8%  

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at default 30,794 1,039 370 829 1,156 34,188 

Expected credit loss – – – – 391 391 

Note: The analysis excludes statutory receivables, prepayments, as these are not within the scope of AASB 
7. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total in note 8. 

OEH is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or 
group of debtors as at 30 June 2019. OEH’s debtors have a high credit rating. 

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of 
trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s 
Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, including letters of demand. Debts 
which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised 
when there is objective evidence that OEH will not be able to collect all amounts due. This 
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evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in economic 
conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made 
on 30-day terms. 

All lease revenue falls due immediately after the issue of the customer invoice except where 
the lease rent schedule conditions stipulate otherwise. 

The only financial assets that are past/due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in 
the ‘receivables’ category of the statement of financial position. 

For the comparative period, as at 30 June 2018, the ageing analysis of trade debtors is as 
follows: 

 Total 1,2 
$’000 

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
$’000 

Past due but 
not impaired 

$’000 

Considered 
impaired 

$’000 

2018     

Neither past due nor impaired 30,794 30,794 – – 

<3 months overdue 2,239 – 2,239 – 

3 months – 6 months overdue 600 – 552 48 

>6 months overdue 555 – 212 343 

Total 34,188 30,794 3,003 391 

Notes 

1 Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’. 
2 The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7. Therefore, 
the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position and note 8. 

Other financial assets 

As at 30 June 2019, OEH held one fixed term interest-bearing deposit to the value of 
$18,468 (2018: $18,158) with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 

ii. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that OEH will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they 
fall due. OEH continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities 
planning to ensure adequate holding of high-quality liquid assets. 

OEH does not have any bank overdraft facility. However, it does have a number of 
operational activities/limits with the bank that have a potential to be a liability. These include 
cheque cashing authorities, purchase card limits, a payroll agreement and a tape negotiation 
authority. 

During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any payables. No 
assets have been pledged as collateral. Exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant 
based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk. 

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services 
received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are 
settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small business suppliers, 
where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt 
of a correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment 
is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an invoice or a 
statement is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the 
specified time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract 
specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, OEH may automatically pay the 
supplier simple interest. The applicable rate of interest for the period to 30 June 2019 was 
9.96% (2018: 9.77%). 
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of OEH’s financial liabilities, together with 
the interest rate exposure: 

 $'000 

  Interest rate exposure Maturity dates 

  Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate 

Nominal 
value / 

present 
value 1 

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing <1 year 

1–5 
years >5 years 

2019         

Payables 
(nominal) 

 
43,555 – – 43,555 43,555 – – 

Borrowings:         

Advances 
repayable 
(present 
value) 0.00 25,700 – – 25,700 2,300 11,500 11,900 

   69,255 – – 69,255 45,855 11,500 11,900 

2018         

Payables 
(nominal) 

 
35,882 – – 35,882 35,882 – – 

Borrowings:         

Advances 
repayable 
(nominal) 0.00 40,691 40,691 – – – – 40,691 

   76,573 40,691 – 35,882 35,882 – 40,691 

Notes 
1 Nominal value is the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which OEH can be required to pay, which compares to present value that is calculated by 
discounting cash flows. The present value of advances repayable to Treasury is calculated using the 10-year 
government bond rate. Effective 1 July 2018 borrowings are interest free. Refer note 16. 

iii. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Exposures to market risk are primarily 
through interest rate risk on borrowings. OEH has no exposure to foreign currency risk and 
does not enter into commodity contracts. 

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is 
outlined in the information below, for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably 
possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic 
environment in which OEH operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end 
of the next annual reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in 
existence at the statement of financial position reporting date. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as for 2018. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Exposure to interest rate risk 
arises primarily through interest bearing liabilities. OEH does not account for any fixed-rate 
financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income or as available-for-
sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect 
profit or loss or equity. The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a 
structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. 
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 $'000 

Carrying 
amount 

–1% +1% 
Net result Equity Net result Equity 

2019 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 348,820 (3,488) – 3,488 – 

Other financial assets 19 – – – – 

2018 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 298,158 (2,982) – 2,982 – 

Other financial assets 18 – – – – 

Financial liabilities 

Borrowings* 40,691 407 – (407) – 

* Effective 1 July 2018 borrowings are interest free. 

(d) Fair value measurement 
i. Fair value compared to carrying amount 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence 
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the interest free 
Treasury advance (repayable), which is measured at fair value. The fair value of the interest 
free debt is the present value of estimated future repayments, discounted at the 10-year 
government bond rate. 

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position 
approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

ii. Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position 

OEH assessed that cash, trade receivables, trade payables and other current liabilities 
approximate their fair values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

25. Related party disclosure 

a) Key management personnel (KMP) are those persons who have authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of OEH, directly or indirectly. 

OEH’s KMP compensation is as follows: 

 2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

Short-term employee benefits   

Salaries 2,681 2,154 

Other monetary allowances 17 22 

Termination benefits 325 – 

Total remuneration 3,023 2,176 
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The key management personnel compensation excludes the Minister for the Environment 
and Minister for Heritage. Ministerial compensation is paid by the NSW Legislature, not 
OEH. Based on advice provided by KMPs and NSW Treasury, and transactional reviews 
undertaken, OEH did not enter into any transactions with key management personnel, their 
close family members and any entities controlled or jointly controlled thereof during the year. 

b) During the year, OEH entered into transactions with other agencies that are 
controlled/jointly controlled/significantly influenced by the NSW Government. These 
transactions support OEH in meeting its objectives to achieve the State outcome (refer 
note 6) and in aggregate are a significant component of OEH’s operations. These 
transactions are primarily in the form of fees for services, general operating expenses, 
grants paid and received, provision and receipt of personnel and corporate services, and are 
disclosed in notes 1(a), 2(a), 2(b), 2(d), 3(c), 3(d) and 3(f). 

OEH receives corporate services from the Department of Planning and Environment under a 
Service Partnership Agreement. As at 30 June 2019, a total amount of $65.7 million (2018: 
$63.2 million) was paid to the Department for these services. Refer note 2(b). 

OEH provides specialist support to the Environment Protection Authority and the 
Environmental Trust. Revenue relating to these transactions is disclosed in note 3(c). OEH 
provides personnel services to a number of agencies, details of which including personnel 
services expenses and provisions with offsetting revenue and receivables, are disclosed in 
notes 1(a), 2(a), 2(b) and 3(f). 

As at 30 June 2019, OEH received grants of $12.6 million (2018: $25.6 million) from the 
Environmental Trust (included in note 3d). The Chief Executive of OEH was also the 
Secretary of the Environmental Trust for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. The Trust 
members approve the awarding of grants to recipients based on documented processes and 
procedures. These include evidence-based support such as grant guidelines, application 
forms, business cases, business plans and independent technical reviews. Where a grant 
application from OEH is identified, a conflict of interest is disclosed by the Secretary of the 
Trust at the meeting, which is minuted. The Secretary of the Trust refrains from voting in 
these instances. 

In 2018–19, OEH also paid the Biodiversity Conservation Trust grant of $50.0 million (2018: 
$43.5 million) towards the Private Land Conservation Program.  

Further, OEH receives land from NSW government agencies free of cost for additions to its 
national parks and reserves system. OEH also transfers land and other infrastructure assets 
surplus to its business and operational requirements. These transactions are reflected as 
equity adjustments. Refer note 19.  

26. Events after the reporting period 

Under the Administrative Arrangements (Administrative Changes – Public Service Agencies) 
Order 2019, dated 2 April 2019, in pursuance of part 7 of the Constitution Act 1902 and 
provisions of the Government Sector Employment Act 2013, the following changes have 
impacted OEH’s status as an employing and reporting entity with effect from 1 July 2019: 

• OEH was abolished and its functions other than those relating to heritage legislation 
were transferred to the newly formed Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
(DPIE). Functions relating to the administration of heritage legislation were transferred to 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) 

• the persons employed in OEH were transferred to DPIE and DPC 

• a reference to OEH in any document is construed as a reference to DPIE, and 

• a reference to the Chief Executive of OEH is construed as a reference to the Secretary 
of DPIE. 
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The 2018–19 financial statements are the last for OEH as a reporting entity. The Secretary 
of DPIE has approved the 2018–19 financial statements. Refer note 1(a) and note 1(b). 

There are no other known events that would impact on the state of OEH or have a material 
impact on the financial statements. 

In accordance with TC19-06 financial statements disclosures for machinery of government 
changes, the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position below 
detail income, expenses, assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2019 for functions that will be 
transferred to DPIE and DPC. 

Statement of comprehensive income 

 DPIE 

2019 

$’000 

DPC 

2019 

$’000 

Total 

2019 

$’000 

Expenses excluding losses    

Operating expenses    

Employee related 452,444 36,921 489,365 

Other operating expenses 311,824 3,981 315,805 

Depreciation and amortisation 100,689 9 100,698 

Grants and subsidies 180,135 12,532 192,667 

Finance costs 1,003 – 1,003 

Total expenses excluding losses 1,046,095 53,443 1,099,538 

Revenue    

Sale of goods and services 64,763 424 65,187 

Investment revenue 21,231 – 21,231 

Retained taxes, fees and fines 16,734 – 16,734 

Grants and other contributions 795,742 32,026 827,768 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other 
liabilities 23,069 1,062 24,131 

Personnel services 109,066 18,752 127,818 

Other income 56,708 1,170 57,878 

Total revenue 1,087,313 53,434 1,140,747 

Gain/(loss) on disposal (12,690) – (12,690) 

Other gains/(losses) – – – 

Net result 28,528 (9) 28,519 

Other comprehensive income    

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus 472,336 – 472,336 

Total other comprehensive income  472,336 – 472,336 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 500,864 (9) 500,855 
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Statement of financial position 

 DPIE 

2019 

$’000 

DPC 

2019 

$’000 

Total 

2019 

$’000 

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 345,823 2,997 348,820 

Receivables 87,693 116 87,809 

Inventories 709 – 709 

Other financial assets 19 – 19 

Total current assets 434,244 3,113 437,357 

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment    

Land and buildings 2,444,501 – 2,444,501 

Plant and equipment 67,050 80 67,130 

Infrastructure systems 1,840,573 – 1,840,573 

Total property, plant and equipment 4,352,124 80 4,352,204 

Intangible assets 200,457 0 200,457 

Total non-current assets 4,552,581 80 4,552,661 

Total assets 4,986,825 3,193 4,990,018 

LIABILITIES    

Current liabilities    

Payables 50,926 1,897 52,823 

Borrowings 1,554 – 1,554 

Provisions 60,998 1,268 62,266 

Other 98 – 98 

Total current liabilities 113,576 3,165 116,741 

Non-current liabilities    

Borrowings 24,146 – 24,146 

Provisions 16,117 28 16,145 

Total non-current liabilities 40,263 28 40,291 

Total liabilities 153,839 3,193 157,032 

Net assets 4,832,986 – 4,832,986 

EQUITY 4,832,986 – 4,832,986 

 

End of audited financial statements 
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Appendices 

1. Governance 

2. Legislation and legal changes 

3. Human resources 

4. Funding and expenditure 

1. Governance 

The Chief Executive was accountable to the Minister for the effective strategic and 
operational performance of the Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH). A transparent 
corporate governance framework supported the Chief Executive in discharging his 
responsibilities. 

OEH’s governance arrangements were overseen by an Executive, who were responsible for 
ensuring the effective and efficient performance of the agency, providing the Chief Executive 
with strategic advice and ensuring that decisions were implemented. 

OEH provided support to the Environment and Heritage Portfolio agencies. Agencies in the 
portfolio were: the Biodiversity Conservation Trust: the Environment Protection Authority; 
Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust; Heritage Council of NSW; Parramatta Park Trust; 
Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust; Taronga Conservation Society Australia; Western 
Sydney Parklands Trust; and the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust.  

For more information, please refer to these agencies’ individual annual reports. 

Information on OEH’s key services and governance functions also covered the 
Environmental Trust as the Trust’s support staff were employed by OEH. 

Policies and procedures 

OEH committed to complying with legislative requirements and NSW public sector policies 
and procedures. The organisation regularly reviewed, updated and developed new policies 
to improve its governance and performance. All OEH policies and procedures were available 
to OEH staff through its intranet. 

Boards and committees 

National Parks and Wildlife Advisory Council 

The National Parks and Wildlife Advisory Council provided independent and informed advice 
to the Minister on the operation and management of parks and reserves.  

The Council considered representations received from the public on draft plans of 
management. It also advises on policies for park management issues, proposed changes to 
legislation, proposed long-term leases and licences, and high impact or statewide issues. 

Members contributed expertise in nature conservation, ecotourism, planning and local 
government, rural issues, environmental education and community involvement, rural and 
regional development, bushfire management, Aboriginal cultural heritage and recreation. 
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National Parks and Wildlife Regional Advisory Committees 

Appointed by the Minister for Energy and Environment (from 1 July 2019), regional advisory 
committees play an important role in the relationship between NPWS and the community. 
There are eight regional advisory committees across New South Wales.  

Members contributed their knowledge and experience to inform park management and 
achieve conservation outcomes across New South Wales. Members are highly valued for 
their advice on policies and plans, activities and proposed activities, and for their input into 
draft plans of management, helping to achieve the objectives of the National Parks and 
Wildlife Act 1974.  

Committees include at least two Aboriginal people, members jointly nominated by the Nature 
Conservation Council of NSW and the National Parks Association of NSW, and a member 
nominated by NSW Farmers. Other members are appointed for their experience in local 
government, Aboriginal cultural heritage, conservation biology or wildlife management, rural 
and regional issues, ecotourism, environmental education and non-Aboriginal cultural 
heritage conservation 

NSW Coastal Council 

The NSW Coastal Council was established under the Coastal Management Act 2016 (CM 
Act). The Council advises the Minister on a range of matters including the Minister's 
functions under the CM Act, and at the Minister’s request, audits of local government 
compliance with the requirements of the CM Act and Coastal Management Manual in the 
preparation of their coastal management programs. The Minister may also ask the Council to 
undertake performance audits of coastal management program implementation. 

The Minister called the first meeting of the Council on 26 June 2018. Council met seven 
times during 2018–2019, undertaking an approved work program focused on five themes: 

• reconciling the projected increase in population and dwelling numbers as supplied by 
Department of Planning and Environment with the need to minimise risk to natural 
hazards while at the same time meeting other objects of the CM Act 

• ensuring local councils have the capacity to address requirements under the CM Act, 
State Environment Planning Policy (Coastal Management) 2018 and Coastal 
Management Manual 

• coordination of the activities of state agencies and local councils in the development and 
implementation of coastal management programs 

• coordinated management of the state's waters under the CM Act in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of the Marine Estate Management Act 2014 

• development of policy and technical advice to assist NSW Government through the 
Minister to address emerging as well as some outstanding coastal issues. 

The Council completed the first annual survey of the status of local government coastal 
management programs and coastal zone management plans, documented issues 
encountered in their planning and implementation and advocated for improved coordination 
and communication between state and local government for improved coastal management 
outcomes. 

The Council provides regular updates on its meetings and activities on the Coastal Council 
webpage. 

  

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/coasts/coastal-management/nsw-coastal-council
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/coasts/coastal-management/nsw-coastal-council
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/coasts/coastal-management/nsw-coastal-council
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Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Advisory Committee 

The Aboriginal Cultural Advisory Committee (ACHAC) was established under the National 
Parks and Wildlife Act 1974. ACHAC advises the Minister (now the Special Minister of State, 
Minister for the Public Service and Employee Relations, Aboriginal Affairs, and the 
Arts,  jointly with the Minister for Energy and Environment) and the Chief Executive of OEH 
(now the Deputy Secretaries Community Engagement, Department of Premier and Cabinet 
and Environment, Energy and Science, DPIE) on any matter relating to the identification, 
assessment and management of Aboriginal cultural heritage, including strategic advice on 
plans of management and heritage impact permit processes. The committee was 
established in 2006. 

The Act allows for the committee to be comprised of 13 people all of whom must be 
Aboriginal. Three nominees are to be appointed from the Heritage Council of NSW, the 
Native Title Services Corporation Limited and the NSW Aboriginal Land Council, with the 
remaining 10 members to hold skills and experience in a range of cultural areas. To provide 
diversity and representation of New South Wales, the members are to have, as far as 
practicable, a gender balance and represent the different regions of New South Wales. 
There are currently 12 members on the committee. Appointment of nine members of ACHAC 
will expire in November 2019. Recruitment action is in progress to fill the forthcoming 
vacancies. 

NSW Threatened Species Scientific Committee 

The NSW Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) was established under the 
Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016. The TSSC was an independent committee of scientists 
appointed by the Minister for the Environment. The principal functions of the Committee 
included: 

• determining which species and ecological communities are to be listed as critically 
endangered, endangered or vulnerable species and ecological communities 

• determining which species are to be listed as extinct species or species extinct in the 
wild 

• determining which ecological communities are to be listed as collapsed ecological 
communities 

• determining which processes are to be listed as key threatening processes 

• periodically undertake a review of the lists of threatened species, ecological 
communities and key threatening processes. 

The TSSC did not make decisions about threatened fish and marine plants. This is the 
responsibility of the Fisheries Scientific Committee. 

National Parks and Wildlife Service Aboriginal joint management boards and 

committees  

NPWS works with Aboriginal peoples from across the state on a range of Aboriginal joint 
management and partnership agreements. These partnerships promote and support the 
continuation of the Aboriginal peoples’ connections and access to their traditional lands and 
engage in the management of cultural landscapes known as Country. 

The Chairpersons and members of the NPWS Aboriginal joint management boards and 
committees are known as the Aboriginal Joint Management Custodians of NSW. The 
custodians meet regularly to exchange information, counsel and make recommendations to 
the NPWS Executive Directors and the Minister for Energy and the Environment on matters 
relating to the Aboriginal joint management of NSW national parks and reserves. The 
Aboriginal Joint Management Custodians of NSW are informed by and provide information to 

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/~/view/act/2016/63
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/~/view/act/2016/63
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the broader network of Aboriginal communities involved in Aboriginal Joint Management of 
parks in New South Wales. NPWS Aboriginal Joint Management boards and committees are 
established under various formal and informal Aboriginal Joint Management agreements and 
their processes are outlined below. 

Part 4A Aboriginal ownership and lease-back boards of management 

The National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 (NPW Act) and the Aboriginal Land Rights Act 
1983 set up a process by which some parks can be listed on Schedule 14 of the NPW Act 
for return to a local Aboriginal land council to hold on behalf of the Aboriginal owners. The 
park can then be leased back to the NSW Government under mutually agreed conditions, 
with the lease payments to be spent on the care, control and management of the park. A 
board of management cares for the park. The Aboriginal owners have a majority 
representation on the board, but there are also representatives from NPWS, the Local 
Aboriginal Land Council/s, local government, a conservation group and adjoining 
landholders. The Part 4A Aboriginal ownership and lease-back boards of management are: 

• Biamanga National Park Board of Management 

• Gaagal Wanggaan (South Beach) National Park Board of Management 

• Gulaga National Park Board of Management 

• Mt Grenfell Historic Site Board of Management 

• Mutawintji National Park Board of Management 

• Worimi Conservation Lands Board of Management. 

Indigenous Land Use Agreement advisory committees 

NSW native title claimants and native title holders can negotiate an Aboriginal joint 
management partnership in the management of the national parks and reserves covered by 
a native title claim with the NSW Government through an Indigenous Land Use Agreement 
(ILUA). An ILUA is a voluntary agreement between a native title claim group and other key 
stakeholders on the use and management of land, waters and its resources. NSW native title 
claimants and holders can use an ILUA to negotiate and establish a joint management 
arrangement for a park with the NSW Government. ILUAs can establish an advisory 
committee to oversee Aboriginal joint management. 

The Indigenous Land Use Agreement advisory committees are: 

• Arakwal National Park Joint Management Committee (Arakwal ILUA 1) 

• Byron Coast Area Management Committee (Arakwal ILUA 2) 

• Bundjalung Women’s Committee – Ti Tree Lake (not currently appointed) 

• Githabul Management Committee (not currently appointed) 

• Gumbaynggirr Boney (ILUA consultation protocol with native title holders’ corporation) 

• Gundungurra Consultative Committee (Gundungurra ILUA) 

• Tubba-gah ILUA (committee not currently appointed) 

• Western Bundjalung (ILUA consultation protocol with native title holders’ corporation).  

Memoranda of Understanding for Aboriginal joint management committees 

Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) are formal agreements between NPWS and an 
Aboriginal community, setting out each group's shared involvement in park planning and 
management, overseen through Aboriginal Joint Management advisory committees. 

The MoU advisory committees are: 

• Boonalla Aboriginal Area Co Management Committee 
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• Culgoa National Park and Ledknapper Nature Reserve Joint Management Committee 

• Deriah Aboriginal Area Co Management Committee 

• Gawambaraay Pilliga Co Management Committee 

• Goobang National Park and Snake Rock Aboriginal Area Aboriginal Advisory 

• Gundabooka Joint Management Advisory Committee 

• Mawambul Co Management Group – Hay Area 

• Mt Yarrowyck Nature Reserve (interim MoU) 

• Kinchega National Park – Menindee Aboriginal Elders Council 

• Narran Lakes Nature Reserve Co Management Committee 

• Paroo-Darling National Park Joint Management Advisory Committee 

• Saltwater Management Advisory Committee 

• Serpentine Nature Reserve Advisory Committee 

• Southern Snowy Mountains Aboriginal Community Committee 

• Terry Hie Hie Aboriginal Area Co Management Committee 

• Toorale Joint Management Advisory Committee 

• Tumut Brungle Gundagai Area Aboriginal Committee 

• Yarriabini National Park Aboriginal Consultative Group. 

2. Legislation and legal changes 

Acts administered by OEH 

OEH had responsibilities, powers, duties and functions under legislation administered by the 
Minister for the Environment and the Minister for Heritage:  

• Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 No 63 

• Brigalow and Nandewar Community Conservation Area Act 2005 No 56 

• Callan Park (Special Provisions) Act 2002 No 139 

• Coastal Management Act 2016 No 20 

• Energy and Utilities Administration Act 1987 No 103, Part 6A; section 40 (1A); and 
section 45 in so far as it relates to Part 6A and to section 40 (1A) 

• Filming Approval Act 2004 No 38 

• Forestry Restructuring and Nature Conservation Act 1995 No 50 

• Forestry Revocation and National Park Reservation Act 1996 No 131 

• Forestry Revocation and National Parks Reservation Act 1983 No 37 

• Forestry Revocation and National Parks Reservation Act 1984 No 85 

• Heritage Act 1977 No 136 

• Kosciuszko Wild Horse Heritage Act 2018 No 24 

• Local Government Act 1993 No 30, Part 2A of Chapter 6 

• Lord Howe Island Act 1953 No 39 

• Marine Estate Management Act 2014 No 72, jointly  

• National Park Estate (Land Transfers) Act 1998 No 163 

• National Park Estate (Lower Hunter Region Reservations) Act 2006 No 90 

• National Park Estate (Reservations) Act 2002 No 137 
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• National Park Estate (Reservations) Act 2003 No 24 

• National Park Estate (Reservations) Act 2005 No 84 

• National Park Estate (Reservations) Act 2018 No 57 

• National Park Estate (Riverina Red Gum Reservations) Act 2010 No 22 

• National Park Estate (South-Western Cypress Reservations) Act 2010 No 112 

• National Park Estate (Southern Region Reservations) Act 2000 No 103 

• National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 No 80 

• National Trust of Australia (New South Wales) Act 1990 No 92 

• Parramatta Park (Old Government House) Act 1967 No 33 

• Roads Act 1993 No 33, so far as it relates to Lord Howe Island, and parts jointly 

• Soil Conservation Act 1938 No 10, Parts 2A, 3 and 4, and sections 15 and 30A in so far 
as they relate to Parts 2A, 3 and 4, jointly  

• Wilderness Act 1987 No 196. 

 

The joint administration of the following Acts changed following the 2019 election: 

• Energy and Utilities Administration Act 1987 No 103 – now the entire Act 

• National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 No 80 (except Division 3 of Part 3 and Parts 6 and 
6A, jointly with the Special Minister of State, Minister for the Public Service and 
Employee Relations, Aboriginal Affairs, and the Arts) 

• Roads Act 1993 No 33, in so far as it relates to Lord Howe Island and section 252 (in so 
far as it relates to the functions of the Minister for Energy and Environment under the 
Act). 

As a result of administrative changes following the 2019 NSW state election, the following 
Acts ceased to be administered by OEH and the former DPE: 

• Heritage Act 1977 No 136 

• National Trust of Australia (New South Wales) Act 1990 No 92 

Repealed Acts 

Nil 

New and amending Acts 

• National Park Estate (Reservations) Act 2018 

New and amending Regulations 

• Biodiversity Conservation Legislation Amendment (Miscellaneous) Regulation 2018 

• Biodiversity Conservation (Savings and Transitional) Amendment (Threatened Species 
Conservation) Regulation 2019 

• Biodiversity Conservation (Savings and Transitional) Amendment (Upper Hunter 
Strategic Assessment Agreement) Regulation 2019 

• Biodiversity Conservation (Savings and Transitional) Further Amendment Regulation 
2018  

• National Parks and Wildlife Amendment (Penalty Notice Offences) Regulation 2019 
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Acts administered by other Environment and Heritage Portfolio 

Agencies  

• Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust Act 1983 No 145 

• Parramatta Park Trust Act 2001 No 17 

• Zoological Parks Board Act 1973 No 34 

• Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust Act 1980 No 19 

• Western Sydney Parklands Act 2006 No 92, jointly with the Minister for Planning 

New and amending Regulations  

• Parramatta Park Trust Amendment (Penalty Notice Offences) Regulation 2019 

• Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust Amendment (Penalty Notice Offences) 
Regulation 2019 

• Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust Amendment (Penalty Notice Offences) 
Regulation 2019 

• Western Sydney Parklands Amendment (Penalty Notice Offences) Regulation 2019 

Reports required under legislation 

Wilderness Act 1987 

The Wilderness Act 1987 provides the legislative framework for the nomination, assessment, 
identification and declaration of wilderness areas and its subsequent management. There 
are over two million hectares of declared wilderness in New South Wales, representing 
about 2.6% of the state and 30% of all our reserves. 

There were no wilderness additions in 2018–19. 

Following a carefully monitored two-year trial of horse riding in wilderness, plans of 
management for Kosciuszko, Mummel Gulf, Monga and Deua national parks were amended 
in February 2019 to support ongoing horse riding access in wilderness areas. 

A further trial of horse riding in wilderness in Curracabundi National Park is under 
consideration and public consultation occurred during exhibition of the draft plan of 
management for that park. A decision on whether to proceed with that trial will be made as 
part of the adoption of the plan of management. 

Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 

Section 14.3 of the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 requires the Environment Agency 
Head to establish programs for the collection, monitoring and assessment of information on 
biodiversity. Biodiversity encompasses the ‘variety of living animal and plant life from all 
sources and includes diversity within and between species and diversity of ecosystems’ as 
defined in the Act. 

Measuring biodiversity and ecological integrity in NSW: Method for the Biodiversity Indicator 
Program and Measuring biodiversity and ecological integrity in NSW: Method summary 
reports were published 28 May 2019 as part of the program. 

Prosecutions 

OEH prosecuted offences under parks, wildlife, threatened species, native vegetation, and 
Aboriginal and state heritage provisions. 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/measuring-biodiversity-and-ecological-integrity-in-nsw-method
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/measuring-biodiversity-and-ecological-integrity-in-nsw-method
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/-/media/OEH/Corporate-Site/Documents/Animals-and-plants/Biodiversity/measuring-biodiversity-and-ecological-integrity-in-nsw-method-summary-190133.pdf
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OEH completed 14 prosecutions in 2018 resulting in 13 convictions, one finding of guilt but 
no conviction recorded, and on two occasions, court orders for the entry into good behaviour 
bonds of 12 months in combination with other penalties. 

Details of prosecutions completed during 2018–19 are recorded below. 

Prosecutions completed under parks, wildlife, threatened species, Aboriginal and state 
heritage and related legislation 

Defendant Charge Result/penalty Court 

Boyle, Anthony Clear native vegetation $348,750 LEC 

  Plus costs  

Traikaero Pty Ltd 

Woods, Anthony 

Clear native vegetation $170,000 

$170,000 

LEC 

  Plus costs  

Swansbel (Pastoral) 
Pty Ltd 

Clear native vegetation $300,000 LEC 

    

  Plus costs  

Clarence Valley 
Council 

Harm Aboriginal object (scar 
tree) 

$300,000 to the Grafton 
Ngerrie LALC  

Publication order 

Ancillary orders 

LEC 

  Plus costs  

Reitano, Douglas Damage vegetation in Park 

Remove vegetation in Park 

$15,000 

 

$15,000 

Plus costs 

LEC 

Parslow, Karen Failure to provide driver 
details 

$750 

Plus costs 

Forbes Local 
Court 

Goretzki, Robert Park without valid pass in 
Park 

Section 10 

 

Gosford Local 
Court 

Glover, Daniel Drive off trails 

Damage vegetation in Park 

Damage vegetation in Park 

Damage object/place of 
cultural value 

 

$2000 

$1500 

$5000 

$5000 

Pay $10000 
compensation 

Campbelltown 
Local Court 

  Plus costs  

Pascoe, Adam Activity contrary to notice  

Hunt animal in Park 

Possess knife in Park 

Harm animal within nature 
reserve 

$350 

$350 

$350 

1-year bond 

 

Dubbo Local 
Court 
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Defendant Charge Result/penalty Court 

Bromley, Beau Drive off trails 

Hunt animal in Park 

Possess firearm in Park 

1-year bond 

1-year bond 

1-year bond 

Plus costs 

Dubbo Local 
Court 

Pringle, Dean Deposit, discharge/leave 
offal, filth 

Possess dog in Park with 
hunting collar 

Dog in nature reserve 

Fire in unauthorised place in 
Park 

Camp in Park 

Possess knife in Park 

 

$800 
 

$600 
 

$1500 

$900 
 

$450 

Section 10 

Plus costs 

Kurri Kurri Local 
Court 

Brown, Glenn Camp in Park $450 Kurri Kurri Local 
Court 

 Dog in nature reserve $1200  

 Fire in unauthorised place in 
Park 

Drive vehicle in Park with no 
number plate 

$900 
 

$600 
Plus costs 

 

Raniga, Pratima Park without valid pass in 
Park 

$100 Sutherland 
Local Court 

Hillier, Hamish Possess animal in Park 

Dog in Park with tracking 
equipment 

$1000 

$1000 
Plus costs 

Tumbarumba 
Local Court 

Notes: 

LEC = Land and Environment Court 

Section 10 = Under section 10 of the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act 1999, the Court, 
although finding the defendant guilty of the offence charged, did not record a conviction or 
impose a penalty. 

Bond = a good behaviour bond for the period specified in the bond. Bond can be called upon 
if further offences occur within the period of the bond. 

Unless otherwise stated, the dollar amount referred to in the ‘Result/penalty’ column is a 
fine. 

Summary of significant cases 

A summary of four significant prosecutions are outlined below. 

Harm to Aboriginal object – scar tree 

In December 2018, Clarence Valley Council was convicted in the Land and Environment 
Court of illegally harming an Aboriginal object in Grafton. In May 2016, the Council removed 
and destroyed a culturally modified scar tree protected under the National Parks and Wildlife 
Act and significant to Aboriginal people in Grafton and the Clarence Valley.  
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This is the second time that the Council had damaged the scar tree. In 2013 the Council 
lopped the crown off the tree, and OEH fined them $1500. 

Council pleaded guilty to illegally harming the scar tree and, following a restorative justice 
conference between the Council and members of the local Aboriginal community, was 
ordered to pay $300,000 to Grafton Ngerrie Local Aboriginal Land Council. The Land 
Council is to apply these funds towards the restoration and protection of, and education 
about, Aboriginal cultural heritage.  

Clarence Valley Council was also ordered to work with members of the local Aboriginal 
community to establish cultural training programs for its staff. To date, over 350 staff have 
undertaken the training. 

We are working with the Council to conduct a study of Aboriginal cultural heritage across 
Clarence Valley to help avoid future harm to significant sites. 

Unlawful clearing of native vegetation 

On 17 April 2019, the Land and Environment Court convicted Mr Anthony Boyle of clearing 
native vegetation contrary to the Native Vegetation Act 2003 on a farming property near 
Garah in the north-west of New South Wales. The clearing was carried out by contactors, 
who took instructions from Mr Boyle, illegally clearing approximately 500 hectares of native 
vegetation including endangered ecological communities, such as Coolibah Black Box 
Woodland, to allow cropping or prepare the areas for broad-scale cultivation. 

Mr Boyle pleaded guilty to the offence. He was fined $348,750 and was ordered to pay our 
legal costs. 

Damaging and removing vegetation in a national park 

Mr Douglas Reitano was charged with two offences for damage to vegetation and removal of 
vegetation from Murrumbidgee Valley National Park in breach of the National Parks and 
Wildlife Act 1974. 

On 11 December 2018, the Land and Environment Court found Mr Reitano guilty of each 
offence and found that the conduct caused significant environmental harm, was pre-
meditated and intentional, and was carried out for financial gain, i.e. sale of the wood which 
was damaged and removed from the Park.   

Mr Reitano had prior convictions for environmental offences. On 3 April 2019, Mr Reitano 
was fined $30,000 ($15,000 per offence) and ordered to pay our legal costs.   

Mr Reitano is now subject to an exclusion notice under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 
1974, prohibiting him from entering the Park for the time specified in the notice.  

Harm to Dharawal National Park and place of cultural value 

On 3 October 2018, Mr Daniel Glover was convicted in the Campbelltown Local Court of four 
offences, two under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 and two under the National 
Parks and Wildlife Regulation 2009. The offending occurred in Dharawal National Park. The 
offences under the Act were damaging rocks, soil, sand and stone on park and damaging a 
place of cultural value, being Minerva Pool located within the Park (sections 156A(1)(b) and 
(c)). The offences under the Regulation were for driving a vehicle in park not on a road and 
damaging park (clauses 6(1) and 18(1)(a)). 

NPWS consulted with the local Aboriginal community by way of the Tharawal Local 
Aboriginal Land Council Board regarding the damage to the culturally significant Minerva 
Pool. 

Mr Glover was fined $10,000 for the Act offences, plus $10,000 compensation to NPWS for 
the damage to park and $4,000 for the Regulation offences. Half of the total fine was paid as 
moiety to the prosecutor. Mr Glover was also ordered to pay the prosecutor’s costs. 
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Public interest disclosures  

Under section 31 of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994, each public authority is 
required to prepare an annual report on their obligations under the Act. Information on public 
interest disclosures for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 is in accordance with Clause 
4 of the Public Interest Disclosures Regulation 2011. 

The information below covers the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. 

Public interest disclosures 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 

Type of public interest disclosure Number 

1. Public interest disclosures made by public officials in performing their day-to-day 
functions 

0 

2. Public interest disclosures not covered by 1 that are made under a statutory or other 
legal obligation 

0 

All other public interest disclosures 2 

Number of public interest disclosures relating to possible or alleged:  

• corrupt conduct 2 

• maladministration 0 

• serious and substantial waste of public money 0 

• government information contraventions 0 

Total number of public interest disclosures received  2 

Total number of public interest disclosures finalised  4 

 

We have established an internal reporting policy which is consistent with the NSW 
Ombudsman’s model policy. We act to ensure that it meets our staff awareness 
responsibilities under section 6E(1)(b) of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 by having 
each of the following: 

• a governance awareness campaign that is focused on reporting wrongdoing 

• a dedicated page on our Ethics and Conduct intranet site 

• a Code of Ethics and Conduct eLearning module that includes a component on Public 
Interest Disclosures 

• training workshops by the NSW Ombudsman for new Senior Executives and the NSE 
Ombudsman undertook a presentation to our Executive. 

Our staff were additionally encouraged to undertake Independent Commission Against 
Corruption (ICAC) workshops and apply for ICAC scholarship opportunities, whilst ICAC 
undertook a presentation to our Executive to discuss corruption risks and trends. 

Privacy Management Plan 

Clause 6 of the Annual Reports (Departments) Regulation 2010 requires a statement of the 
action we took in complying with the requirements of the Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998 (PPIP Act) and statistical details of any reviews conducted by us or on 
our behalf under Part 5 of the PPIP Act.  

Our Privacy Management Plan (PMP) outlines how we comply with the principles of the 
PPIP Act and the Health Records and Information Privacy Act 2002. Specialist privacy 
officers provide advice and training to our staff.  

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/resources/about/oeh-privacy-management-plan-170267.pdf
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In the past 12 months, we received no requests under section 15 of the PPIP Act to amend 
personal information and one application for internal review. The request for internal review 
was not valid. The applicant was provided with information to assist them with the issue they 
raised.  

Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 obligations 

Under the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (GIPA Act), there are annual 
reporting obligations (sections 7(3), 21 and 125). There are further requirements under the 
Government Information (Public Access) Regulation 2009 (GIPA Regulation) in respect of 
some of the content for inclusion in the annual report.  

Review of proactive release program 

Under section 7(3) of the GIPA Act and clause 8(a) of the GIPA Regulation, agencies must 
review their program for the release of government information to identify the kinds of 
information that can be made publicly available. This review must be undertaken at least 
once every 12 months. 

Our program for the proactive release of information requires each Division to look at 
information that has been proactively released and the level of awareness of proactive 
release amongst staff who are authorised to proactively release information. The survey 
revealed a large and diverse range of information had been proactively released and that 
there was a high level of awareness of the ability to proactively release information. 

Examples of information proactively released include: 

• Home Energy Action Program evaluation final report  

• Evaluation of the Energy Saver Program final report 

• Fire Management Plans 

• Wild Horse Management Strategies  

• Water Trading 

• Commercial kangaroo management data and reports.  

Statistical information on access applications 

Under clause 8 of the GIPA Regulation, statistical information must be provided about the 
formal access applications we receive under section 9 of the GIPA Act during the last 
financial year.  

Number of access applications received – Clause 8(b) 

During the reporting period, we received a total of 116 applications (including withdrawn 
applications, but not invalid applications). Five applications were initially assessed as being 
invalid. Of those, three applications subsequently became valid and are included in the total 
number of applications received.  

Number of refused applications under Schedule 1 – Clause 7(c) 

During the reporting period, we refused a total of 11 applications either wholly or in part, 
because the information requested was information referred to in Schedule 1 of the GIPA 
Act. Of those applications, two were refused in full and nine were refused in part.  

Number of applications received/refused 

Number of access applications received – clause 7(b) 116 

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/home-energy-action-program-evaluation-final-report
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/evaluation-of-the-energy-saver-program-final-report
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/parks-reserves-and-protected-areas/fire/managing-fire/planning
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/animals-and-plants/pest-animals-and-weeds/pest-animals/wild-horses
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/water-for-the-environment/about-water-for-the-environment/understanding-water-trade
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/animals-and-plants/wildlife-management/kangaroo-management/kangaroo-population-monitoring-and-reporting/reports-and-research
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Number of refused applications for Schedule 1 information – clause 7(c)  11 

Statistical information about access applications – Clause 7(d) and Schedule 2 

Table A Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome 
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Media 1 2 0 4 1 1 0 0 

Members of Parliament  1 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 

Private Sector business  4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Not for profit organisations or 
community groups  

9 9 1 5 3 3 0 3 

Members of the public 
(application by legal 
representative  

15 12 2 7 2 1 0 7 

Members of the public (other)  14 7 0 3 1 1 0 3 

Table B Number of applications by type of application and outcome 
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Personal information applications  1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access applications (other than 
personal information applications) 

42 31 4 21 8 6 0 13 

Access applications that are partly 
personal information applications 
and partly other 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Table C Invalid applications 

Reason for invalidity Number of 
applications  

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 5 

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0 

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 

Total number of invalid applications received 5 

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 3 

Table D Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: 
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act 

 Number of times 
consideration used 

Overriding secrecy laws 0 

Cabinet information 4 

Executive Council information 0 

Contempt 1 

Legal professional privilege 7 

Excluded information 0 

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 

Transport safety 0 

Adoption 0 

Care and protection of children 0 

Ministerial code of conduct 1 

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 

Information about complaints to Judicial Commission 0 

Table E  Other public interest considerations against disclosure section 14 of the Act 

 Number of occasions 
when application not 

successful 

Responsible and effective government 5 

Law enforcement and security 1 

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 21 

Business interests of agencies and other persons 9 

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 3 

Secrecy provisions 0 

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0 
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Table F Timelines  

 Number of 
applications 

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 106 

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 12 

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 

Total 118 

Table G Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and 
outcome) 

 Decision varied Decision upheld Total 

Internal review 2 10 12 

Review by Information Commissioner 2 5 7 

Internal review following recommendation 
under section 93 of the Act  

1 1 2 

Review by NCAT 1 0 1 

Total 6 16 22 

Table H Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant) 

 Number of applications 
for review 

Applications by access applicants 13 

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access 
application relates (see section 54 of the Act)

 
 

11 

Table I Applications transferred to other agencies under Division 2 of Part 4 of the Act 
(by type of transfer) 

 Number of applications 
transferred 

Agency-initiated transfers 1 

Applicant -initiated transfers 4 

Consumer response information  

OEH continued its commitment to handling public feedback and complaints  courteously, 
efficiently and equitably and have a Complaint Management Policy and an Unreasonable 
Complainant Conduct Policy to provide guidance to staff in the management of complaints.  

OEH received fourteen allegations in 2018–19. These included allegations of unethical 
conduct, corrupt conduct and other matters referred by the Independent Commission 
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Against Corruption. Fourteen allegations were finalised during the year. In finalising these 
allegations, control weaknesses were addressed and management systems implemented. 

Overseas visits by employees 

Business-related overseas visits between 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 

Name of staff 
member 

Purpose of visit (summary) Destination 
City/country 

Dates of 
travel 

Dr Kate 
Wilson 

To participate in a review panel for the New 
Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation and 
Employment National Science Challenges  

New Zealand 26/07/2018–
29/07/2018 

Dennis Lee To present as Keynote Speaker at the Zero 
Energy Building Forum in South Korea 

South Korea 17/10/2018–
21/10/2018 

Dr Andrew 
Growcock 

Attend World Forum on Ecosystem Governance 
and led a training course about the IUCN Green 
List  

China 05/11/2018–
09/11/2018 

Tanya Charles To present at an ICOMOS World Heritage 
Conference Beijing China 

China 08/10/2018–
15/10/2018 

Carlos Flores Represent Australia at the International Energy 
Agency’s (IEA) Energy in Buildings and 
Communities (EBC) Programme  

New Zealand 20/11/2018–
26/11/2018 

Glenn Ross Verification of the OEH Standard Reference 
Photometer 

France 15/06/2019–
24/06/2019 

Joanne 
Wilson 

To attend the International Union for the 
Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Green List of 
Protected and Conserved Areas (Green List) 
Global Standards Committee meeting and the 
BIOPAMA management effectiveness of protected 
areas workshop. 

Italy 22/6/2019–
01/07/2019 

Angie Stringer To attend the World Heritage Committee Site 
Manager's Forum  

Azerbaijan 25/06/2019–
04/07/2019 

Carla Wilson International travel for Carla Wilson to receive an 
International Award at the International 
Conference on Climate Action 2019 

Germany 15/05/2019–
25/05/2019 

Michael 
Kinsela 

To attend the Coastal Sediments 2019 conference  Florida 27/05/2019–
31/05/2019 

Tim Smith To represent NSW at the annual meeting of the 
Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia and New 
Zealand committee meeting  

New Zealand 21/04/2019–
27/04/2019 

Juanita 
McCarthy 

To represent NSW at the annual meeting of the 
Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia and New 
Zealand committee meeting 

New Zealand 21/04/2019–
27/04/2019 

Glenda 
Chalker 

To represent NSW at the annual meeting of the 
Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia and New 
Zealand committee meeting 

New Zealand 21/04/2019–
27/04/2019 
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3. Human Resources 

OEH Senior Executives  

 2017-18   2018-19   

Band Female Male Total Female Male Total 

Band 4 Secretary 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Band 3 Deputy Secretary 0 1 1 0 1 1 

Band 2 Executive Director 3 2 5 4 3 7 

Band 1 Director 17 25 42 20 30 50 

Total 20 28 48 24 34 58 

Note: These are the Senior Executive stats for 30 June 2019. This data is based solely on 
senior executives in their substantive role and band level. 

Average remuneration of Senior Executives  

Band Range 

2017–18 ($) 

Average 
remuneration 

2017–18 ($) 

Range 

2018–9 ($) 

Average 
remuneration 

2018–19 ($) 

Band 4 Secretary 463,551–
535,550 

0  0 

Band 3 Deputy 
Secretary 

328,901–
463,550 

435,625 337,101 - 
475,150  

446,516 

Band 2 Executive 
Director 

261,451–
328,900 

301,812 268,001 - 
337,100  

307,809 

Band 1 Director 183,300–
261,450 

211,581 187,900 - 
268,000  

222,182 

4.09% of our employee-related expenditure in 2019 was related to Senior Executives as 
reported in our Annual Workforce Profile. 

Executive Officers at June 30 2019 

Name Position Qualifications  

Anthony Lean  Chief Executive Officer BA/LLB 

Robert Quirk Executive Director Park Operations BNatRes 

Dr Katherine Wilson Executive Director Communities & 
Greater Sydney Delivery Division 

BA(Hons)PhD 

Pauline McKenzie Executive Director Heritage BA LLB 

Dr Georgina Kelly Executive Director Science BSci(Hons) PhD 

 

Michelle Dumazel Executive Director Policy BA MA 

Andrew Nicholls Executive Director Strategy & 
Performance 

PSM JP BA(Hons) MMgt EMPA 

Atticus Fleming Executive Director Conservation & 
Regional Delivery Division 

LLB BComm 
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Staff profile by employment basis 

 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 

Level Men Women Men Women Men Women Men Women 

Permanent full 
time 

1242 660 1163 570 1356 744 1312 757 

Permanent part 
time 

40 210 38 225 32 198 34 193 

Temporary full 
time 

242 242 262 226 282 282 329 241 

Temporary part 
time 

18 88 23 73 27 81 25 73 

Contract – SES 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 11 

Contract – non 
SES 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Training positions 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 10 

Retained staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Casual 147 268 166 275 164 277 165 292 

Total 1689 1468 1652 1369 1861 1582 1921 1577 

Note: Does not include EPA, BCT, Zoological Parks Board of NSW (Taronga Conservation Society 
Australia), Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust, Botanic Gardens and Centennial Parklands (BGCP) or 
Western Sydney Parklands (WSP).  

Personnel services to statutory bodies  

Statutory Body Head count as at 
30 June 2017 

Head count as at 
30 June 2018 

Head count as at 
30 June 2019 

Botanic Gardens and Centennial 

Parklands (combined) 

360 341 327 

 

Centennial Park and Moore Park 
Trust 

N/A N/A N/A 

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain 
Trust* 

N/A N/A N/A 

Sydney Living Museums (previously 
known as Historic Houses Trust) 

251 339 200 

Parramatta Park Trust /Western 
Sydney Parklands 

24 22 25 

Zoological Parks Board of NSW 
(Taronga Conservation Society 
Australia) 

478 509 799 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 90 103 90 

Exceptional movements in remuneration  

A salary increase of 2.5% effective in the first full pay period of July 2019 was paid to clerical 
officers in accordance with the Crown Employees (Public Sector - Salaries 2017) Award. 
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Workplace diversity and community engagement  

Overall diversity 

OEH was committed to creating and supporting a diverse workforce and delivering programs 
identified in the Aboriginal Employment Plan, Multicultural Plan and Disability Inclusion 
Action Plan.  OEH supported numerous staff networks including an Aboriginal Network, 
Spokeswomen’s Program, Rainbow Connection and the Cluster Disability Employee 
Network. 

OEH representatives attended quarterly Planning and Environment Cluster Steering 
Committees to discuss progress against each of the plans and share current and planned 
initiatives. OEH worked with the Cluster Corporate Services Diversity Team to develop and 
deliver diversity programs, share educational opportunities and resources across the 
Cluster. 

Trends in representation of workforce diversity groups   

Workforce Diversity Group Benchmark 2017 2018 2019 

Women 50.0% 43.8% 42.8% 44.4% 

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People 3.3% 9.6% 9.7% 9.9% 

People whose First Language Spoken as a 
Child was not English 

23.2% 9.6% 6.7% 7.2% 

People with a Disability 5.6% 3.0% 2.5% 1.9% 

People with a Disability Requiring Work-
Related Adjustment 

N/A 0.9% 0.6% 0.4% 

Note 1: The benchmark of 50% for representation of women across the sector is intended to reflect 
the gender composition of the NSW community. 

Note 2: The NSW Public Sector Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2014–17 introduced an aspirational 
target of Aboriginal employment of 1.8% by 2021 in each of the sector’s salary bands. If the 
aspirational target of 1.8% is achieved in salary bands not currently at or above 1.8%, the cumulative 
representation of Aboriginal employees in the sector is expected to reach 3.3%. 

Note 3: A benchmark from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Census of Population and 
Housing has been included for People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English. The 
ABS Census does not provide information about first language but does provide information about 
country of birth. The benchmark of 23.2% is the percentage of the NSW general population born in a 
country where English is not the predominant language. 

Note 4: In December 2017, the NSW Government announced a target of doubling the representation 
of people with a disability in the NSW public sector form an estimated 2.7% to 5.6% by 2027. More 
information can be found at Jobs for people with disability: A plan for the NSW public sector .The 
benchmark for ‘People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment’ was not updated  

  

https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/inclusion/disability/jobs
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Trends in the distribution index for workforce diversity groups 

Workforce Diversity Group Benchmark 2017 2018 2019 

Women 100 109 112 111 

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People 100 74 74 73 

People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was 
not English 

100 111 112 112 

People with a Disability 100 105 100 102 

People with a Disability Requiring Work- Related 
Adjustment 

100 115 n.a. n.a. 

Note 1: A Distribution Index score of 100 indicates that the distribution of members of the Workforce 
Diversity group across salary bands is equivalent to that of the rest of the workforce. A score less than 
100 means that members of the Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at lower 
salary bands than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the 
score will be. In some cases, the index may be more than 100, indicating that members of the 
Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at higher salary bands than is the case for 
other staff. 

Note 2: The Distribution Index is not calculated when the number of employees in the Workforce 
Diversity Group is less than 20 or when the number of other employees is less than 20. 

Multicultural Engagement 

Over the past year OEH raised awareness of inclusion across its branches and aimed to 
embed inclusion in its activities. This has resulted in improved higher engagement scores in 
the People Matter Employment Survey. 

The annual Chief Executive Awards included a Culture and Diversity category for the first 
time in 2018, recognising staff who have 'made a major contribution to building an inclusive 
culture or acknowledging and promoting diversity within OEH or with external stakeholders'. 

In August 2018, the new Cluster Multicultural Plan 2018–2021 was launched. Staff from 
diverse backgrounds were consulted on the development of the Plan. The Plan provided a 
framework for building a culturally diverse workplace and ensuring our services and 
programs meet the needs of cultural groups in the communities. 

OEH celebrated Harmony Day was celebrated formally and informally, raising awareness of 
culturally and linguistically diverse communities and celebrating our diversity. 

OEH engaged with the Refugee Resettlement Program and as of June 2019 had two 
employees from refugee backgrounds working in the organisation. In line with public sector 
programs, NPWS used targeted recruitment activities focusing on people from refugee 
backgrounds as a way of creating an employment pathway into the public sector.  

The Home Energy Action team consulted with multicultural organisations to translate 
materials for their communities (Farsi, Simplified Chinese, Cantonese, Vietnamese, Arabic, 
Italian and Greek), including culturally appropriate imagery and photos. The 
energysaver.nsw.gov.au website content is available in these seven community language 
options. Public/visitor contact staff undertake training in intercultural communication skills 
and cultural capability. 

NPWS provided appropriate products and services (eg NPWS annual pass – concession 
products) and associated messaging for Service NSW's 'Cost of Living' campaign, targeting 
people of culturally and economically diverse communities across New South Wales. 

NPWS monitor website visitation statistics to look for increased visitation from visitors from 
non-English speaking backgrounds and develop options for multilingual service delivery. The 
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North Coast Branch implemented the NPWS sign design standards that ensure regulatory 
signs are useable by all, including those from CALD communities. These signs use symbols 
to ensure all visitors can understand the safety messages. 

All NPWS branches included the raising of diversity awareness for all management staff in 
the delivery of the One Team Cultural Priority Model. The One Team Model was launched in 
March 2019 as one of NPWS’ Culture Priorities and it focuses on their approach to working 
together as a cohesive and united team.           

The Culture Working Group (CWG) was established last year to provide advice on the 
delivery of the Culture Priorities, share feedback from branches and support leaders in the 
implementation of culture initiatives. The CWG is now leading a video storytelling initiative to 
collect and share perspectives from all corners of our network of staff, partners and 
volunteers. 

Science Division has a strong Cultural Science program that includes cross agency 
collaboration across the NSW Government. The purpose of the program is to give cultural 
practice a voice in landscape management and measure its benefits so a greater 
environmental management program may be promoted within New South Wales.  

OEH worked in partnership with Aboriginal communities to support Aboriginal cultural fire 
management to achieve healthy Country, healthy culture and healthy people. Cultural voices 
informed the Cultural Fire Management Position Statement.  

Science Division worked closely with the Narran Lake co-management committee to identify 
impacts of climate change on cultural values. For example, climate change may impact the 
long-term health of the lignum plant, which is an important resource for the cultural practice 
of weaving. Similarly, Science Division worked with the Worimi Conservation Lands Board to 
measure the status of their living culture though creation of new middens.  

The strong influence of culture is reflected in the co-development of an app to produce vital 
scientific information to help NSW scientists understand more about the threatened species, 
including the Mallee fowl. The app has had positive benefits for the local community as it 
reconnected them with their Cultural Knowledge and enabled them to be confident in their 
knowledge, expertise, and capacity to contribute to science and manage the land. 

NPWS worked with Multicultural NSW and local government to involve culturally diverse 
communities in the master planning for Kamay Botany Bay National Park. 

NPWS Park Programs Division, Visitor Experience Branch/Visitor Services Unit (VEB) is 
working with culturally diverse communities across Western Sydney as part of the Western 
Sydney Immersive Learning project, grant-funded by the Environmental Trust. Preliminary 
research for the project highlighted that limited fieldwork was being undertaken by teachers 
with their students in local and national parks and existing teacher resources were not 
consistently being differentiated for culturally and linguistically diverse learners (CALD), of 
which there are a significant number in this area. 

This new project involves the development of suite of inquiry-based learning resources to 
help teachers to build their capacity to provide meaningful and authentic environmental 
education experiences for their students in local and national parks in Western Sydney. 
Through these new learning experiences, Western Sydney students will connect with their 
local parks and be motivated to help protect and restore them to their former glory. 

The Heritage Near Me Team teamed up with local councils in Western Sydney to hold ‘West 
Fest’, a two-week festival held in multiple locations to highlight and celebrate the broad and 
significant cultural heritage of the people who live in Western Sydney. 

In September 2018, OEH partnered with DPI (as Marine Estate Management Authority 
agencies) to undertake a six-week public engagement process on the marine park proposal 
for the Hawkesbury Shelf marine bioregion. This engagement process specifically aimed to 
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cater for ‘hard to reach’ stakeholders such as Aboriginal people and Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CALD) community groups: 

• Fact sheets were translated into seven languages (Arabic, Korean, Chinese traditional, 
Chinese simplified, Vietnamese, Indonesian and Thai) and were available at each 
information booth, online, and distributed via Multicultural NSW, Local councils and 
hosted on the Marine Estate website. 

• Key multicultural networks were notified of the proposal, including Multicultural NSW, 
Asian Women at Work, the Community Migrant Resource Centre and the Lebanese 
Muslim Association. 

Information sessions were facilitated by multicultural networks alongside DPI staff. 
Attendees were provided with a fact sheet, site-based information and a simplified 
questionnaire and were supported in writing a submission in their language of choice on the 
Multicultural Submission Form which was uploaded in English on to SurveyMonkey by their 
multicultural representative network following the event. 

Disability and inclusion 

OEH reduced barriers for people with disability to be engaged and supported in the 
workplace to develop their careers within the organisation.  

Through the Cluster Disability Inclusion Action Plan, OEH focused on improving the delivery 
of our mainstream services by identifying and removing potential barriers to people with 
disability in the workplace and community. 

Staff living with disability, managers and carers were encouraged to join the Cluster 
Disability Employment Network (DEN). The DEN meet regularly to promote disability 
awareness in the workplace, participate in the Cluster Disability Inclusion Steering 
Committee and met with senior leaders to share their experiences in the workplace.  

Staff were invited to attend International Day of People with Disability celebration with a 
panel of guest speakers sharing their experiences of working with disability. People living 
with disability were invited to the NPWS accessible kayak launch in Moama to try out the 
newly completed equipment. 

R u OK? Day and October Mental Health Month were promoted with webinars and lunch and 
learn sessions, and resources were made available on intranets. All staff can complete the 
‘Working with Disability’ online training module via MyCareer. 

As part of preparing for the office relocation to Parramatta Square, Design for Dignity was 
engaged to provide recommendations on additional accessibility features in the Parramatta 
Square building design. 

NPWS has purchased four Hippocampe chairs and is exploring how to make them available 
to the public at no cost at Royal National Park (including Garie Surf Club) and Kamay Botany 
Bay National Park. Visitors with mobility restrictions can use these all-terrain chairs to 
access walking tracks that are not wheelchair-accessible.  

For NAIDOC week 2018, NPWS presented a free program for children on Goat Island. 
These cultural workshops explored Aboriginal art, music and dance. NPWS and Aspect 
Australia worked extensively to develop an autism specific session. Training and support 
were provided for staff and created a ‘Social Story’ as part of the program, which was 
distributed prior to the event. Site-specific signage was developed and the program was 
adapted to ensure transitions and experiences were inclusive. The session was promoted 
through Aspect Australia Schools in New South Wales and the NPWS Website. 

Our Climate Change Adaptation Team worked with PREPARE NSW for person-centred 
emergency preparedness and planning for people living with disability and chronic health 
conditions in the community. 
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The Climate Change and Sustainability branch changed course delivery from face to face to 
an online format which is more accessible for those with mobility restrictions. Online training 
courses include NABERS Assessor 101, NABERS Essentials, NABERS for Shopping 
Centres, Carbon Neutral, Indoor Environment (IE), Waste and Waste Platform Manager 
Tutorial. 

NPWS continue to ensure that all tours and visitor experiences curated and promoted 
specifically by the branch include information about accessibility in regard to mobility, fitness 
and degree of difficulty for tracks and trails. 

NPWS has reviewed key visitor sites along the Light to Light Walk for accessibility for people 
with restricted mobility, particularly for those sites close to car parks. Boyds Tower has been 
identified for improved accessibility. The track will be upgraded and a new viewing platform 
built, which will be suitable for the mobility impaired and wheelchair users. 

NPWS refurbished Trail Bay Kiosk and it has been made accessible by installation of new 
ramps to the café, single level deck construction and accessible toilets. Little Bay Shelter 
shed was renewed with ramp access. 

Aboriginal employment and development 

OEH was fortunate to have a large and skilled Aboriginal workforce. By implementing the 
strategies in the Aboriginal Employment Plan, OEH committed to ensuring that Aboriginal 
staff were supported to grow professionally within the organisation in a safe and culturally 
appropriate way. OEH promoted cultural understanding and influenced everyday behavior to 
enhance the quality of service and support to the Aboriginal community by building and 
maintaining better mutual relationships. 

Communities and Regional Development with Hunter Central Coast participated in the 
biennial Hunter Yakka day, a local initiative to promote employment opportunities and career 
paths to Year 6 to Year 11 Students.  

The HCC Hunter Valley Flood Mitigation Scheme team co-funded the Hunter Aboriginal 
Riverkeeper team (HART) project – which enabled training and employment programs 
engaging Aboriginal people to undertake environmental, heritage management and land 
conservation works. 

The Saving our Species (SoS) program, with Wingecarribee Shire Council and Red Room 
Poetry, presented the poetic and environmental learning project for young First Nations 
students on Gundungurra Country earlier in this Year of Indigenous Languages. 

Students from Aurora Southern Highlands Steiner School, Moss Vale High School, Bowral 
Public School and Berrima Public School met in March as part of Red Room’s Poetry in First 
Languages (PIFL) project in a three-day event.It brought Gundungurra Elder Aunty Sharon 
Halls and Gundungurra Language Custodian, Aunty Trish Levett together with (Gundungurra 
raised Gunai Woman) Kirli Saunders and environmentalist and Gumea Dharawal Custodian 
Jacob Morris to create poetry in language while learning about the environment, specifically 
through the Glossies in the Mist project. 

To celebrate the start of NAIDOC Week, the students’ poems in Gundungurra language 
were unveiled as part of a series of artworks and performed at Wingecaribee Shire Council’s 
flag raising ceremony, celebrating the significance of Country and the glossy black cockatoo 
to Gundungurra people. 

NPWS worked with local Aboriginal communities to share and improve land management 
skills of both Indigenous and non-Indigenous local communities within various land 
stewardship projects such as the Nimmie Caira. 
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OEH supported 16 Aboriginal staff from Metro and Regional areas to attend the Merit 
Assessment Training course to build their skills and maintain a list of appropriate Aboriginal 
people of both genders to sit on panels at all grades. 

NPWS continued to ensure that as part of the Performance Development and Feedback 
process, managers discussed career goals with all Aboriginal staff to learn more about their 
career aspirations and offer relevant opportunities for professional development. 

A Cultural Information and Communication Guide was published in December 2018 as a 
series of INSITE pages. The guide was developed to increase capability of staff in working 
with Aboriginal communities to practice their culture and celebrate their heritage.  

OEH celebrated NAIDOC Week in offices across the state, with Senior Executives leading 
events in Sydney and supporting local celebrations. 

Promoting and supporting the Aboriginal Network Executive (ANE) is done on an ongoing 
basis. The Chief Executive met with members quarterly, to discuss issues raised by them. 

The ANE gathering met in March and celebrated its 35th year. Long service certificates were 
presented to 16 members of staff with a combined total of over 400 of years’ service 
between them. 

The ANE is consulted regularly in relation to a wide range of issues such as Cultural 
Burning, Aboriginal Employment Plan, Aboriginal Cultural Safety Framework, the new 
Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act, the Reconciliation Action Plan and the Aboriginal Cultural 
Safety Framework. 

NPWS provided Aboriginal site awareness training to field based staff with site protection 
works completed on Worimi Conservation Lands. Staff worked together with local elders for 
the repatriation of human remains found on Brougton Island. Karuah LALC consulted as part 
of targeted tourism access review process. Taree Indigenous Development Enterprise 
contracted to complete regeneration works (externally funded). 

NPWS staff are involved with LALCs undertaking site survey work, repatriation work and 
liaising with site management. 

As part of the NPWS Greater Sydney branch Midden restoration project, Aboriginal Park 
Partnership (APP) funding provided opportunities for local Aboriginal community members to 
gain skills and experience working alongside NPWS staff as part of an eight-week program. 
APP funding supported cultural workshops, displays and performances for staff and visitors 
as part of the four Blak Markets events held on Bare Island each year.  

Training opportunities were provided to NPWS North Coast Branch staff in site identification 
and local cultural heritage awareness, with the local Aboriginal community often involved in 
participating or delivering this training. Aboriginal staff and community members were 
involved in leading non-Aboriginal staff in cultural burning on Country. NPWS is 
implementing Working on Country with Githabul people and engaging Bandjalang people 
with contractual maintenance programs in Bundjalung National Park.  

Aboriginal staff were actively involved in the filming of ABC's Australian Story, regarding the 
repatriation of Mungo and the ancestral remains and other documentaries about the area. 
The Aboriginal Heritage and Partnerships Team (AHPT) members are representatives on 
our and NPWS working groups to represent joint management and Aboriginal perspectives, 
which also supports their professional development. AHPT members also provide 
presentations at Branch meetings, NPWS Executive working groups and International 
Environmental Conferences relevant to joint management.    

NPWS Hunter Central Coast Branch (HCCB) recruited multiple identified positions within the 
branch. The Worimi Conservation Lands Part 4A joint management agreement includes 
significant Aboriginal employment outcomes, which has also included career progression 
within NPWS (within and outside HCCB) to non-identified positions.   
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Gender equality 

The Spokeswomen’s Program promoted gender equity in the workplace, provided training 
and events, and acted as a support network, voice and advocate for women’s issues. 

During 2018–19 the Spokeswomen’s Committee:  

• delivered a professional development event for regional based women at Coffs Harbour 
to train participants to promote themselves on social media, at networking events, via 
personal branding and mentoring 

• delivered training to 25 women via Springboard, a career and personal development 
program designed to enable women to have greater influence in their lives and achieve 
more of their potential. It is primarily aimed at women in non-management positions 

• delivered training to 40 women through the Women in Leadership training program. The 
program strengthened women’s leadership and management skills and helped 
individuals make a positive impact in their organisation and their life.  

• held their annual Spokeswomen Recognition Awards on International Women’s Day 
2019. The Awards included a keynote speech by Christine Nixon. The event was live-
streamed to regional offices throughout the State. 

OEH had 11 mentees and 12 mentors in the Cluster Women in Senior Leadership Mentoring 
program and 25 women participated in the Cluster Lean in Circles, a peer-to-peer learning, 
networking and professional development program. 

Six Female Field Officer Networks have been established in NPWS. Newly employed female 
field staff are connected with experienced female staff to provide them with internal contacts, 
guidance and support and to share work experiences.   

The NPWS fire and incident management branch ran a targeted campaign for female 
trainers/assessors in Sept 2018. As a result, female trainers/assessors numbers have 
increased from 19% to 28%. 

LGBTIQ+ inclusion 

We are part of the Rainbow Connection, which is an LGBTIQ+ network for staff across the 
former Planning and Environment Cluster. The network, launched in September 2017 with 
an initial group of 20 members, has now grown to 250 members.  

The network provided support, resources and advocacy for the LGBTIQ+ community across 
the agency, regardless of their role, location, gender or sexuality.  

Achievements for the 2018–19 financial year included: 

• the network leading and delivering the cluster’s first float entry into the Sydney Gay and 
Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade in March 2019, with a published ‘Reflections Report’ 
summarising the impact this event had on our LGBTIQ+.  Overall, the staff involved 
experienced an increased level of inclusion at work and felt supported by both 
colleagues and leadership. 

• policy review and updated job advertisements, including diversity statements on each 
job advert that welcomes applications from the LGBTIQ+ community 

• taking a lead role in advocating for greater LGBTIQ+ inclusion across the NSW Public 
Sector, including setting up and contributing to a cross-departmental LGBTIQ+ network. 

The Rainbow Connection continues to highlight issues faced by the LGBTIQ+ community 
through promoting days of importance, fundraising, networking events, regular newsletters 
and policy reviews. 
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Work health and safety  

OEH was committed to improving Work Health and Safety (WHS) and through the year 
targeted several areas aligned with the NSW Government Sector WHS Plan.  This included 
initiatives to improve employee health and well-being and WHS management systems and 
expansion of the former Cluster Corporate Services (CCS) WHS team to include a Strategic 
Business Partner and four WHS Advisors based in regional New South Wales dedicated to 
our operational needs. The overarching WHS team was expanded, providing centralised 
expertise and support for the programs run throughout the year. 

Key initiatives included: 

• greater promotion of the NSW Government sponsored Get Healthy at Work Program, 
with 502 staff participating (increasing from 145 last year) in confidential health checks 

• relaunching the influenza vaccination program to ensure equal and inclusive access to 
all staff, increasing participation from 700 to 1700 vaccinations this year 

• refreshing the EAP service provision with approximately 645 sessions being provided 
across the year 

• targeting overdue WHS investigations and reducing these from 79% to 23% of all 
incidents notified. 

Workers compensation claims and reports 

Number of incidents reported 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 FY19 Variance 

1143 934 1049 1169 120 11% 

Number of workers compensation claims 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 FY19 Variance 

181 130 144 144 0 0% 

Cost of workers compensation claims (Net incurred) 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 FY19 Variance 

$2.51million $1.45million $2.15million $1.87million ($280K) (13%) 

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR 12mma) 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 FY19 Variance 

38.1 43.7 36.7 22.6 (14.1) (38.4%) 

TRIFR 12mma = Total number of Medical Treatment, Restricted Work and Lost Time Injuries over the 
12month period/Total number of hours worked in the 12-month period x 1 million 

Industrial relations 

There were no new industrial relations policies or practices developed in the last 12 months. 
The Department continued to consult with the unions through its established consultative 
forums. There was no lost time as a result of any industrial disputes. 
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4. Funding and Expenditure 

Audit and risk statement from the Chief Executive  
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Audit and risk management  

Internal audit 

Internal audits leveraged a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, internal control and governance processes. The Director 
Audit, Risk and Ethics acted as Chief Audit Executive (CAE) and oversaw the internal audit 
function, with the role accountable to the Chief Executive and the Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC). A number of internal audits were completed during 2018–19 including 
review and assessment of:  

• Emergency Incident Management (Marine Wildlife) 

• Implementation of Gilligan Review Recommendations 

• Environmental Planning and Assessment Act (Parts 4 and 5) 

• Scientific Information, Data Quality and Governance 

• Information Technology Projects Implementation 

• RMS DRIVES24. 

A Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2018–2021 informed the selection of internal audit projects. 
The strategy and supporting annual internal audit plans are comprehensively reviewed each 
year to cater for changes in the operating environment and identify appropriate audits. 
Annual internal audit plans are endorsed by the ARC and approved by the Chief Executive. 

Internal audit reports are submitted to the ARC which provides advice and assurance to the 
Chief Executive by monitoring governance, risk and control issues affecting our 
conservation, heritage, and environmental protection functions, as well as financial, 
workplace safety and fraud and corruption controls. Requirements for conservation 
compliance under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 are also overseen by the ARC. 
The ARC meets a total of nine times per annum, comprising four quarterly meetings and five 
meetings dedicated to the financial statements and related assurance processes for OEH, 
the Environmental Trust and Corporation Sole. Staff from the Audit Office of New South 
Wales regularly attend meetings.  

Risk management  

During the year, OEH enhanced our Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework by 
embedding a structured and consistent process for managing risks across the agency. Key 
stakeholders, including the ARC, the Executive Leadership Group and operational areas 
were consulted throughout the year to develop the Enterprise Risk Management Policy and 
Procedures. Included in this work was extensive collaboration to enhance our risk criteria. 
We maintained a Governance and Risk Sub-Committee which received reports and 
presentations from the Audit and Risk Team and detailed presentations from each of our 
divisions on risk activities. 

To support the Framework, a Risk Champions Community of Practice was maintained and 
collaborated with operational areas to enhance divisional risk registers. During the reporting 
period, we maintained an Enterprise Governance Risk and Compliance (EGRC) software 
solution which provides the agency a single source of information for audit and risk 
monitoring and reporting.  

  



OEH Annual Report 2018–19 

132 

Attestation Statement (Cyber Security)  
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Consultants 

Consultancies of $50,000 or more – 2018–19 

Consultant Category Description of project work Cost ($) 

Dirt Art Pty Ltd 

 

Environmental 

 

Identify, prioritise and deliver a 
costed and sustainable network of 
mountain bike trails on the 
Illawarra Escarpment  

 

50,000  

 

Total – consultancies of $50,000 or more  1 50,000 

Consultancies of value less than $50,000 – 2018–19 

Consultant Category Description of project work Cost ($) 

LMW (Statutory 
Services) Pty Ltd 

Management 
Services 

Valuation advice (rental assessments) for 3 
properties 

1,200 

Total number of individual 
consultancies with a value less 
than $50,000 is: 

 1 1,200 

Sustainability 

OEH delivered the NSW Government Resource Efficiency Policy (GREP) through the former 
Cluster Corporate Services (CCS) Sustainability Program. The GREP contains actions, 
targets and minimum standards for resource efficiency in NSW government operations. CCS 
Sustainability delivered its fourth GREP report for OEH and EPA in 2018. The report 
included OEH’s resource consumption for 2017–18, which tracked progress towards the 
energy efficiency target and included the statement of compliance. The full OEH and EPA 
GREP report for 2018 is available online. 

OEH made significant progress in resource efficiency and sustainability in several areas 
during 2018–2019: 

• OEH/EPA surpassed the GREP interim target for implementing energy efficiency 
projects, with a 41% savings target reached since the baseline 2013. The upgrade at 
Lidcombe Laboratory, completed in 2018, represents the largest upgrade, including 
lighting and HVAC upgrades and a 170-kilowatt solar PV system installation, saving the 
site $123k per annum.  

• OEH exceeded the National Australian Built Environment Scheme (NABERS) GREP 
4.5-star minimum requirement at its CBD offices for another consecutive year, with 6 
stars at Goulburn Street CBD office, 5.5 stars at Valentine Avenue Parramatta, and 6 
stars at Hurstville with GreenPower.  

• Through an agreement with cleaning and waste contracts, the collection of waste data 
at 59 Goulburn Street has been provisioned for, with weighing scales installed in the 
basement. This has allowed for monthly reports on our recycling diversion rates to be 
generated.  

• Bins at the Goulburn Street office were upgraded to be more aesthetic, uniform, intuitive 
to use and incorporating Australian Standards colours. Soft plastics and organics 
streams were added to all levels that we occupied. Waste-to-landfill decreased from 
77% in March to 60% in June as a result of these initiatives. 
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• CCS Sustainability worked closely with Procurement NSW to incorporate data collection 
provisions within the new whole of government waste contract. Through data collected 
by waste contractors, we can more accurately and reliably report on the waste streams 
at all sites.  

• Staff were asked to provide feedback on their perceptions and aspirations of 
sustainability in their agency. Of the 421 survey respondents, 82% of staff indicated 
Environmental Sustainability was either ‘Very Important’ or ‘Extremely Important’ for 
their agency, with 94% indicating it was ‘Very Important’ or ‘Extremely Important’ to 
them personally.  

• CCS Sustainability took part in a climate risk exercise to determine and rate the current 
risk within the Cluster. This information has helped form the delivery strategy for climate 
change risk assessments throughout the cluster in partnership with Adapt NSW.  

Insurance 

OEH had insurance cover through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund, which uses QBE for 
workers’ compensation and Gallagher Bassett Services Pty Ltd for other risk areas. 

Areas of risk and related insurance costs 2017–18 

($’000) 

2018–19 

($’000) 

Workers compensation* 4,883 2,926 

Public liability 3,869 3,275 

Property** 10,500 10,077 

Motor vehicles 1,013 1,247 

Miscellaneous (fire-fighting fund)*** 17,164 18,977 

Miscellaneous (other) 74 65 

Total 37,503 36,567 

*2018–19 Workers compensation includes premium paid of $4,938,356 less hindsight adjustments of 
$2,012,682.  

** Includes additional insurance coverage obtained under the risk area ‘property’ for primary and secondary 
roads across national parks, as well as for the Hunter Valley Flood Mitigation. 

*** Includes additional premium paid – impact of Presumptive Legislation reforms of $1,340,343.  

OEH had insurance cover for all major assets and significant risks. This insurance is through 
the NSW Government self-insurance scheme (the Treasury Managed Fund) and includes 
full workers compensation, motor vehicle accident, property, liability and miscellaneous 
insurance cover. 

Premiums are based on claims history and reflect our risk management approach to 
managing claims. 
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Major capital works 2018–19 

Project  Cost to date 
($'000) 

Estimated  

completion  

Major new works   

Light to Light Great Walk  203  2021–22 

Thredbo Valley Track Extension 1,961  2019–20 

Murramarang South Coast Walk 193  2020–21 

Snowies Iconic Great Walk 2,941  2021–22 

Suicide prevention 388  2019–20 

Infrastructure investment in national parks to increase NSW 
tourism  

1,119  2024–25 

Commemorating the meeting of two cultures at Kamay Botany 
Bay National Park 

933  2019–20 

Major works-in-progress    

Adaptive reuse of short stay accommodation 601  2019–20 

Great Southern Nature Walk – Wattamolla visitor precinct 3,621  2018–19 

Minnamurra Rainforest Centre 3,431  2019–20 

National Parks digital strategy 3,141  2020–21 

National Parks and Wildlife Service light fire fleet upgrade 2,394  2018–19 

Replacement of aviation assets 8,383  2018–19 

Acquisition of satellite imagery 29,105  2027–28 

Biodiversity legislation, land Management and reforms 
implementation  

13,853  2018–19 

Fire management in national parks 42,882  2021–22 

Coastal science, capacity building and planning 3,279  2018–19 

Heritage Information Management System 4,972  2018–19 

Land purchases – funded by grants and donations 164,827  2028–29 

Royal Coast Track Improvement 7,575  2019–20 

Saving Our Species – on park threatened species 1,719  2020–21 

    

Total 297,518   

Land disposal  

In 2018–19, there was no land disposal of value greater than $5,000,000 that would have 
required disposal by way of public auction or tender. 
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Payment of accounts 

Quarterly aged analysis – Account values 

Quarter Current (i.e. 
within due 
date) 

Less than 30 
days overdue 

Between 30 
and 60 days 
overdue 

Between 61 
and 90 days 

Overdue 

More than 

90 days 

Overdue 

All suppliers 

September 40,551,882 2,491,535 1,620,266 127,504 85,475 

December 48,343,753 2,502,331 721,582 196,342 197,086 

March 43,105,228 7,949,355 1,955,635 692,702 528,678 

June 115,139,825 10,843,137 1,948,482 381,289 928,110 

Small business suppliers 

September 536,855 10,841 57 - - 

December 849,200 20,914 837 - 67 

March 2,183,372 59,992 11,469 80,781 1,990 

June 4,345,970 26,314 221,023 1,773 525 

Accounts due or paid within each quarter 

Measure Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Mar 2019 Jun 2019 

All Suppliers     

Number of accounts due for 
payment  

   15,359  18,795   18,187   26,458  

Number of accounts paid on time     14,198  17,692   14,812   24,276  

Actual percentage of accounts paid 
on time (based on number of 
accounts)  

92.4% 94.1% 81.4% 91.8% 

Dollar amount of accounts due for 
payment  

44,876,662  51,961,095  54,231,597 129,240,844  

Dollar amount of accounts paid on 
time  

40,551,882 48,343,753  43,105,228 115,139,825  

Actual percentage of accounts paid 
on time (based on $)  

90.4% 93.0% 79.5% 89.1% 

Number of payments for interest 
on overdue accounts  

- - - - 

Interest paid on overdue accounts  - - - - 
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Small business suppliers 

Measure Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Mar 2019 Jun 2019 

Number of accounts due for 
payment to small businesses  

269 403 499 715 

Number of accounts due to small 
businesses paid on time  

253 387 442 690 

Actual percentage of small 
business accounts paid on time 
(based on number of accounts)  

99.5% 96.0% 88.6% 96.5% 

Dollar amount of accounts due for 
payment to small businesses  

547,753 871,019 2,337,604 4,595,604 

Dollar amount of accounts due to 
small businesses paid on time  

536,855 849,200 2,183,372 4,345,970 

Actual percentage of small 
business accounts paid on time 
(based on $)  

98.0% 97.5% 93.4% 94.6% 

Number of payments to small 
business for interest on overdue 
accounts  

- - - - 

Interest paid to small businesses 
on overdue accounts  

- - - - 

Grants 

Organisation  Nature and purpose of grant   Amount  

Armidale & Region Aboriginal 
Cultural Centre & Keeping Place Inc 

Contribution towards the celebration and 
showcase of Aboriginal heritage.  

33,000 

Australian Wildlife Conservancy Contribution towards Saving our Species 
LiDAR project. 

85,100 

Australia's Wildlife Ark Inc. Contribution towards captive husbandry and 
conservation breeding of the brush-tailed rock 
wallaby. 

13,636 

Awabakal Local Aboriginal Land 
Council 

Contribution to repairs on the former 
Newcastle Post Office to stabilise and 
waterproof the building. 

50,902 

Baryulgil Square Local Aboriginal 
Land Council 

Contribution towards a project to understand 
the intangible values associated with the 
Baryulgil local cemetery and to identify the 
physical location of burials across the site.  

15,544 

Berrima Residents Association Contribution to develop community 
awareness and pride in the significant 
heritage values of the Berrima and Sutton 
Forest cultural landscape.  

70,250 

Big Scrub Landcare Contribution towards Saving our Species 
conservation co-funding scheme. 

73,900 

Blayney Uniting Church Contribution towards Blayney Uniting Church 
wall support and repair. 

5,000 
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Organisation  Nature and purpose of grant   Amount  

Broken Hill Historical Society Contribution to repair hail storm damage to 
the heritage listed Synagogue Hall. 

5,000 

Broken Hill Trades Hall Trust Contribution towards restoration of the 
Broken Hill Trades Hall roof. 

54,000 

Bundyi Aboriginal Cultural 
Knowledge Aboriginal Corporation 

Contribution towards Walu-win Ngurambang - 
Aboriginal cultural education. 

34,820 

Bush Heritage Australia Contribution towards Saving our Species co-
funding scheme for BHA Naree and 
Yantabulla Station project. 

101,595 

Bush Heritage Australia Contribution towards Saving our Species 
conservation co-funding scheme. 

165,845 

Camperdown Cemetery Trust Contribution towards Camperdown cemetery 
headstone restorations. 

10,931 

Carcoar Hospital Museum Contribution towards conservation and 
restoration works at the Carcoar Hospital 
Museum, including training in preventative 
maintenance and repair for local heritage 
owners. 

15,168 

Cathedral Church of Christ the King, 
Grafton 

Contribution towards water damage repairs. 67,112 

Clarence Town and District Progress 
Association Inc. 

Contribution towards Clarence Town court 
house building asset assessment report and 
museum collections management plan. 

16,000 

Coast Community Church Contribution toward construction of a platypus 
timber seat at Coast Christian School. 

5,000 

Conservation Volunteers Australia Contribution towards conservation of Emu 
Green Reserve in Emu Heights. 

3,000 

Fawna (NSW) Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Fawna (NSW) Inc. Contribution to redirect injured wildlife to 
specialist care groups within the community. 

5,300 

Foundation for National Parks & 
Wildlife 

Contribution to the trails for tails agreement 
under the Saving our Species Scheme-Alerts 
for lyrebird and marbled frogmouth 

90,000 

Foundation for National Parks & 
Wildlife 

Saving our Species contribution to K2 
Glideways- Quolls and Gliders 

75,000 

Foundation for National Parks & 
Wildlife 

Saving our Species contribution to Restoring 
Lanscape Connections for Threatened Nectar 
Lovers (woodland birds) 

43,275 

Foundation for National Parks & 
Wildlife 

Annual conservation contribution. 50,000 

Friends of the Koala Inc. Contribution towards wildlife carers group. 50,000 

Frogs Landcare Inc. Contribution toward the planting of native 
plants indigenous to the Goulburn wetlands 
area. 

5,000 

Glen Innes & District Historical 
Society  

Contribution towards repair, replacement and 
refurbishment of the museum building facade. 

38,280 
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Greening Australia Contribution to conservation project targeting 
super parrots. 

187,236 

Holy Trinity Anglican Church, Glen 
Innes 

Contribution towards a project to repair the 
roof of the Holy Trinity Church, and provide a 
full-day training workshop on site to provide 
skills to local heritage item owners/managers 
and tradespeople. 

22,500 

Kempsey Local Aboriginal Land 
Council 

Contribution towards extending the current 
conservation management plan for the former 
Kinchela Aboriginal Boy’s Training Home to 
cover management of the buildings and 
interiors and towards restoration works at the 
site. 

45,000 

Kiama Uniting Church  Contribution to assist in protecting and 
sharing the historic 1851 lecture hall in 
Kiama. 

70,292 

Kinchela Boys Home Aboriginal 
Corporation 

Contribution towards Kinchela Boys Home: 
Macleay Valley truth telling and healing 
project. 

45,000 

Koala Conservation Australia Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

30,000 

Koalas in Care Inc. Contribution to redirect injured wildlife to 
specialist care groups within the community. 

1,900 

Kyogle & District Historical Society Contribution to support the Society to review 
collections, develop interpretation and display 
options, and archiving solutions for new 
Kyogle History Museum. 

20,000 

Lachlan Valley Railway Society Co-
operative Limited 

Contribution to assist development of 
conservation management documents for the 
locomotive store building at Cowra 
locomotive depot. 

7,000 

Lithgow Small Arms Factory Contribution towards internal and external 
infrastructure works at the factory. 

100,000 

Mid North Coast Maritime Museum 
Inc. 

Contribution to develop a conservation 
management plan and carry out restoration of 
the Mid North Coast Maritime Museum group 
of sites. 

95,000 

Mingaan Wiradjuri Aboriginal 
Corporation 

Contribution to support Mingaan NAIDOC 
2019 celebrations 

500 

Mingaan Wiradjuri Aboriginal 
Corporation 

Contribution to protect and provide safe 
access to Maiyin Murragu Aboriginal Place. 

35,000 

Molonglo Conservation Group Contribution towards Saving our Species 
conservation co-funding scheme - pink tail 
legless lizard habitat in the Googong-Burra 
Region and developing monitoring, evaluation 
and reporting plans. 

195,000 

Mosman Parks & Bushland 
Association Inc. 

Contribution towards nesting boxes for native 
wildlife in and around Mosman bushland. 

3,173 
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Moulamein Community Development 
Inc. 

Contribution to the establishment of 
Moulamein heritage village hub. 

30,000 

Mount Wilson Study Centre Inc. Contribution towards structural repairs to 
conserve the historic buildings of the Old Mt 
Wilson School. 

90,909 

Mulgoa Progress Association Inc. Contribution towards conservation of Cox 
Cottage. 

5,000 

Mulgoa Valley Landcare Inc. Contribution towards completion of fauna 
crossing at Glenmore Park. 

5,000 

Muurrbay Aboriginal Language and 
Culture Cooperative Ltd 

Contribution to support the identification, 
conservation and ongoing management of a 
place of Aboriginal heritage significance in 
the Nambucca region. 

94,450 

Narrandera Christian Revival 
Crusade Inc. 

To support a project to improve energy 
efficiency for the Plaza Theatre by reducing 
energy loss through harvesting and storing 
surplus energy. 

12,918 

National Trust of Australia (NSW) Contribution towards maintenance of 
Riversdale, including internal painting and 
remedial works. 

23,934 

National Trust of Australia (NSW) Contribution towards monument repairs, site 
fencing, conservation management strategy, 
and plan to provide ongoing public access 
and interpretation of the historic Moyne Farm 
cemetery (c.1826) in Little Hartley. 

36,370 

National Trust of Australia (NSW) Contribution towards National Trust 
Cemeteries Conservation Advisory Service. 

36,349 

National Trust of Australia (NSW) Contribution towards Woodford Academy 
heritage interpretation strategy update. 

8,000 

Native Animal Rescue Group NSW 
Inc. 

Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Native Animal Trust Fund Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

7,000 

Native Animal Trust Fund Inc. Contribution to redirect injured wildlife to 
specialist care groups within the community. 

2,000 

Nature Conservation Council of NSW Contribution toward a conservation project 
targeting large forest owls within the 
Richmond Clarence lowlands.  

133,882 

Northern Tablelands Wildlife Carers 
Inc. 

Contribution towards koala rehabilitation 
support. 

2,000 

NSW Wildlife Council Contribution towards wildlife carers group. 25,000 

NSW Wildlife Information Rescue & 
Education Services Inc. 

Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

70,000 

Numeralla Wildlife Care Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Oatley Flora & Fauna Conservation 
Society Inc. 

Contribution towards purchase of native plant 
tubestock for revegetation in River Road 
Reserve Oatley, Moore Reserve Hurstville 

3,000 
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Grove and Bell Park Hurstville, and 
associated costs of collecting plants and 
preparing the ground. 

Oz Green-Global Rivers Education 
Network (Australia) Inc. 

Contribution towards co-ordination and 
communication for Riverwatch volunteers 

34,000 

Pioneer Museum & Historical Society 
Inc. 

Contribution towards restoration of blacksmith 
and stables complex of Jindera Pioneer 
Museum. 

49,862 

Port Macquarie Historical Society 
Inc. 

Contribution towards conservation 
management plan review and archaeological 
management plan. 

11,750 

Port Stephens Koala & Wildlife 
Preservation Society Limited 

Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

12,000 

Port Stephens Koala & Wildlife 
Preservation Society Limited 

Contribution towards Koala medical supplies 
and bush fire awareness training 

10,000 

Port Stephens Koala & Wildlife 
Preservation Society Limited 

Contribution towards vaccination of koala 
carers against Q-fever 

6,000 

Port Stephens Koala & Wildlife 
Preservation Society Limited 

Contribution to redirect injured wildlife to 
specialist care groups within the community 

2,300 

Science for Wildlife Ltd. Contribution towards research activities under 
the Blue Mountains koala project. 

24,550 

Shoalhaven Landcare Association 
Inc. 

Contribution towards provision of services for 
Shoalhaven fox control project 

5,000 

South Coast History Society Inc. Contribution to a project to epitomise and 
document aspects of the Bega Valley Shire's 
heritage. 

95,030 

St David's Uniting Church, Albury Contribution towards a regional and strategic 
approach care of Uniting Church heritage 
properties focused on traditional maintenance 
and repair for heritage listed buildings.  

39,817 

St George Community Housing, 
Hurstville 

Grant to support energy efficiency upgrades 
of Social Housing under the Home Energy 
Action program 

1,452,303 

St Johns Anglican Church, 
Newcastle 

Contribution towards repairs to the roof and 
guttering of the Church. 

34,590 

St Johns Anglican Church, 
Wilberforce 

Contribution towards St. John's Wilberforce 
and Macquarie Schoolhouse/Chapel Precinct 
conservation management plan. 

9,500 

St Matthews Anglican Church, 
Windsor 

Contribution to undertake conservation works 
in the St Matthews Church Precinct. 

43,595 

St Pauls Burwood Parish Contribution for roofing and stonework repairs 
to St Paul's Church, Burwood. 

28,786 

St Stephens Anglican Church, 
Newtown 

Contribution towards conservation of rare 
bells and urgent roof/rainwater head repair at 
St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Newtown.  

20,585 

St Stephens Presbyterian Church, 
Tenterfield 

Contribution to the Tenterfield Presbyterian 
Church revitalisation and community 
education project.  

50,000 
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Steam Tram and Railway 
Preservation Co-op Society Ltd 

Contribution to restoration and safety 
replacements on heritage listed Steam Tram 
Rolling Stock trailer cars 72B and 93B. 

2,377 

Sydney Metropolitan Wildlife 
Services Inc. 

Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,500 

Team Koala Inc. Funding for community education for Save 
the Koala Month and Threatened Species 
Day. 

3,000 

The Gully Traditional Owners Inc. Contribution to develop a plan of 
management for The Gully Aboriginal Place. 

5,000 

The Millthorpe Village Committee 
Incorporated 

Contribution towards conservation and 
restoration works at the Millthorpe School of 
Arts, and training in preventative 
maintenance and repair for local heritage 
owners. 

10,227 

The Oaks Historical Society Inc Contribution towards development of an 
interpretation plan. 

5,000 

Trustee of Church Property for the 
Diocese of Newcastle 

Contribution towards the conservation and 
reconstruction of St Augustine’s Anglican 
Church, Mereweather.  

42,973 

Trustees of the Roman Catholic 
Church for the Diocese of Bathurst 

Contributions to restoration of timber flooring, 
upgrade of lighting and development of an 
interpretation plan at Cathedral of Saint 
Michael & Saint John, Bathurst. 

104,000 

Tweed Valley Wildlife Carers Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Uniting Church in Australia Contribution towards regional and strategic 
approach care of Uniting Church heritage 
properties focused on traditional maintenance 
and repair for heritage listed buildings.  

84,660 

Uniting Church in Australia Contribution towards specialist restoration of 
eight painted/lead glass and timber frame 
windows in the St Andrew's Uniting Church, 
Richmond. 

50,000 

Warren Macquarie Local Aboriginal 
Land Council Inc. 

Contribution towards Beemunnel Reserve 
Heritage Trail Stage 2. 

60,577 

Wauchope Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry Inc. 

To support a project that will enhance the 
awareness and appeal of history and heritage 
along the Wauchope Riverside Walk. 

93,064 

Wildcare Queanbeyan Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Wildcare Queanbeyan Inc. Annual contribution for the care of Australian 
native wildlife. 

2,000 

Wildlife Aid Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 

Wildlife Carers Network Central West 
Inc. 

Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,000 
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Wildlife Rescue South Coast Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

1,500 

WINC (Wildlife in Need of Care) Inc. Contribution towards purchase of koala 
rescue equipment. 

3,000 

WINC (Wildlife in Need of Care) Inc. Contribution to redirect injured wildlife to 
specialist care groups within the community. 

3,500 

Woolpack Inn Museum Holbrook Inc. Contribution towards roof conservation works 
and education of local professionals in 
conservation 

60,635 

Worimi Local Aboriginal Land 
Council 

Contribution towards interpretative signage 
and audio at Soldiers Point Aboriginal Place. 

51,128 

  

Total of schedule 

                   
5,146,880  
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